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NOTICE OF APPLICATION 

 

To the Nekaneet Appeal Body 

 

By: 

Jordi Fourhorns, the Applicant 

 

vs. 

(No Respondent) 

 

The Applicant hereby elects to have this application heard by John Hill, Nekaneet 

Appeal Body, alone pursuant to Article 19.11 of the Nekaneet Governance Act 

 

TAKE NOTICE that the above Applicant applies to the Nekaneet Appeal Body 

pursuant to the Nekaneet Governance Act and the Nekaneet Constitution, including but 

not limited to Article 19.01 of the Nekaneet Governance Act and Article 8.08 of the 

Nekaneet Constitution, for the following relief in respect of the March 25, 2020, 

election of Nekaneet First Nation: 

1. An Order requiring the Chief Electoral Officer (“CEO”) to accept the 

nomination of Jordi Fourhorns for the position of Councillor; 

2. An Order requiring the CEO to place the name of Jordi Fourhorns on the ballot 

for the position of Councillor; 

3. An Order requiring the CEO to publicize widely and in any manner, the 

forgoing Orders of the Nekaneet Appeal Body;  

4. A declaration that notwithstanding the forgoing, an appeal may be made 

pursuant to Article 5.04 of the Nekaneet Governance Act in relation to the 

eligibility of Jordi Fourhorns; and 

5. Costs.  
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FURTHER TAKE NOTICE that the grounds upon which this application is brought 

are as follows:  

Jurisdiction 

6. Pursuant to the Nekaneet Governance Act and the Nekaneet Constitution, 

including but not limited to Article 19.01 of the Nekaneet Governance Act and 

Article 8.08 of the Nekaneet Constitution, the Nekaneet Appeal Body has 

jurisdiction to hear and resolve, amongst other things, any conflict or dispute 

respecting the CEO’s violation of the Nekaneet Governance Act and/or the 

Nekaneet Constitution.  

7. The jurisdiction of the Nekaneet Appeal Body includes, but is not limited to, 

determining and providing a remedy in respect of the CEO’s failure to comply 

with the nomination procedure contained in Article 6.03 of the Nekaneet 

Governance Act, the CEO’s failure to correctly interpret and apply Article 5.03 

of the Nekaneet Governance Act to determine whether the Applicant is indebted 

to Nekaneet First Nation and therefore ineligible to be a candidate for the 

position of Councillor, the CEO’s refusal to receive or consider the Applicant’s 

request for review pursuant to Article 5.03 of the Nekaneet Governance Act, 

and other violations implicated by the within application.  

 

This application is properly constituted with a single applicant and no 

respondents 

8. With respect, the CEO is not a proper respondent to this proceeding. An 

administrative decision maker is only permitted to participated in a review or 

appeal of their decision to the extent that the decision is alleged to be ultra vires 

the jurisdiction of the decision maker. Although the CEO wrongfully declined 



3 

 

to receive or consider the Applicant’s request for review, that is a different issue 

and as such the CEO is not a proper respondent in this application. Bambrick, 

Re, [1992] N.J. No. 323, at paragraphs 42-51 [Tab 7] (cited in Brewer v. Fraser 

Milner Casgrain LLP, 2008 ABCA 160, at paragraph 32): 

51      Thus, including from the highest judicial authority, it is clear that, 

in principle, the role of an administrative tribunal on the hearing of an 

appeal or judicial review of its own decision should be limited to 

questions of jurisdiction in the strict sense, coupled with (presumably 

where necessary) an explanation of the record which was before the 

tribunal itself. Even where the governing statute expressly grants a right 

to the tribunal to be heard on appeal or review, the courts have 

interpreted that right as being equally so restricted, except in the face of 

clear language expanding the role. [Emphasis Added] 

 

9. See also Dairy Producers Co-operative Ltd. v. Saskatchewan (Human Rights 

Commission), [1993] S.J. No. 682 (Court of Queen's Bench), at paragraph 15 

[Tab 8]: 

15      I conclude that the role of the respondent Commission in the 

hearing respecting the judicial review of its conduct, is limited to 

making representations relating to the issue of its jurisdiction. 

[Emphasis Added]  

 

10. Of particular note, the step that immediately preceded this application is the 

CEO’s refusal to receive or consider the Applicant’s request for review 

pursuant to Article 5.03 of the Nekaneet Governance Act: 

5.03 Within ten (10) days after the Nomination Meeting, an Elector who 

has been denied candidacy by the Chief Electoral Officer on the basis 

that such Elector is ineligible to be a Candidate may request a review 

by the Chief Electoral Officer with such request made by letter setting 

out the details of the challenge and on receipt of such request, the Chief 

Electoral Officer shall make inquiries and render a prompt decision and 

should the challenged Candidate not be cooperative and provide 

information necessary to make an informed decision on the matter as 

requested by the Chief Electoral Officer, the subject Electoral shall be 

denied the application for reasons of lack of co-operation. 

 

11. The request for review process contained in Article 5.03 of the Nekaneet 
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Governance Act is not adversarial. The only person who participates in the 

process is the Applicant in submitting the request for review, the CEO in 

receiving and considering same, and any persons that respond to inquiries of 

the CEO. There is no “respondent” in that process, and Article 5.04 of the 

Nekaneet Governance Act contemplates that even if the CEO determines the 

Applicant to be eligible and permits them to be a candidate, the eligibility of 

the candidate may nevertheless be challenged as of right by any elector 

subsequent to the election. As such, it is respectfully submitted that this 

application is properly constituted with a single applicant and no respondents.  

 

The merits of this application 

12. With respect, the CEO contravened the Nekaneet Governance Act. In particular, 

the CEO contravened the Nekaneet Governance Act by failing to comply with 

the nomination procedure contained therein. The CEO employed a 

private/without notice process when she received a challenge to the eligibility 

of the Applicant prior to the nomination meeting, and determined the Applicant 

ineligible prior to even receiving the nomination of the Applicant and without 

asking for a response from the Applicant. Rather, subsequent to receiving 

nominations the CEO was required to open the floor for public challenges to 

nominations based on alleged ineligibility pursuant to Article 6.03(k) of the 

Nekaneet Governance Act. The CEO also failed to comply with the balance of 

the nomination procedure in Article 6.03, including but not limited to her failure 

to document the challenge, ask for a response from the Applicant, document 

that response, and then make inquiries and render a decision with reasons.  
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13. In addition to the CEO failing to comply with the process respecting nomination 

contained in Article 6.03 of the Nekaneet Governance Act, the CEO breached 

the principles of natural justice, including the right to know the case to be met, 

and the right to be heard, in hearing and deciding that the Applicant was 

ineligible to run for the position of Councillor. 

14. If the Applicant had known the case to be met, and an opportunity to be heard, 

he would have provided relevant evidence to the CEO which would have 

affected her decision. 

15. Moreover, the CEO refused to receive or consider the Applicant’s request for 

review. Pursuant to Article 5.03 of the Nekaneet Governance Act, at 5:57 pm 

on February 27, 2020, the Applicant served a request for review upon the CEO 

and Deputy Electoral Officer in respect of the CEO’s decision to deny the 

nomination of the Applicant. The request for review was served by text message 

photos of the letter upon each of the CEO and Deputy Electoral Officer. It was 

thereafter served by personal service of a paper copy to the Deputy Electoral 

Officer at 7:17 pm on February 27, 2020. The said request for review identified 

relevant evidence and provided submissions to the CEO in relation to the 

CEO’s failure to comply with the nomination procedure contained in the 

Nekaneet Governance Act, and the false allegation that the Applicant is 

indebted to Nekaneet First Nation and thereby ineligible pursuant to Article 

5.02(c). In addition, the Applicant requested that the CEO provide reasons as 

to her decision to refuse the nomination of the Applicant. 
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16. At 6:06 pm on February 27, 2020, the Applicant and his nominator Linda Oakes 

phoned the CEO to confirm her receipt of the request for review. The CEO 

confirmed her receipt of the request for review, however she refused to accept 

the request for review. The CEO then indicated that she had forwarded the 

request for review to the current Chief Alvin Francis, the Chief Financial 

Officer, and the Nekaneet Appeal Body. When asked upon what basis the CEO 

determined that the Applicant was not eligible to be nominated, the CEO 

indicated that “his name is on the land lease” and that prior to the nomination 

meeting that she “knew already two weren’t going to be accepted”. The CEO 

refused to identify those two persons. The Applicant then requested a decision 

in writing with reasons, however the CEO replied that “I wasn’t accepting his 

nomination” and “I’m not going against anything”. The Applicant renewed his 

request for a decision in writing, however the CEO replied that “My decision 

was final yesterday, and I’m not going against it…I just have to go with the 

information they provide me.” The Applicant then requested to know whether 

that information was limited to the letter dated February 1, 2020, provided to 

him during the nomination meeting, to which the CEO replied “What other 

information are they going to provide me? I sat down with them, that’s not word 

of mouth, I got information.” The Applicant then indicated that he was just 

following the procedure in Nekaneet Governance Act, however the CEO 

indicated that “After I left the reserve yesterday, I’m not accepting other 

nominations.” The Applicant then renewed his request as to whether the letter 

dated February 1, 2020, is the only letter that the CEO received, to which the 

CEO replied “how much information am I to receive…letter I showed you 
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yesterday, plus two other letters.” The Applicant then requested a copy of those 

two other letters, to which the CEO replied “I’m not giving anyone information 

I’ve received.” The Applicant then requested that the CEO advise of the specific 

amount of the alleged debt, to which the CEO replied “I don’t know, I never 

asked specific, monetary amounts.” The Applicant finally asked “as of what 

date?”, to which the CEO replied “as of yesterday morning.” That was the end 

of the call with the CEO. 

17. At 6:32 pm on February 27, 2020, the CEO phoned the Applicant and his 

nominator Linda Oakes. The CEO asked Linda Oakes “You sent me that 

information on your phone?”, which was a reference to the service of the 

request for review which had been served by text message photos of the letter 

upon the CEO. In response, Linda Oakes confirmed that she sent the request 

for review, which enclosed the nomination form that Linda Oakes signed as 

nominator on behalf of the Applicant. The CEO then asked Linda Oakes “Do 

you know how many people you nominated?”, and thereafter asserted that the 

nomination of Linda Oakes was “null and void” because a nominator may only 

nominate one candidate for Chief and three candidates for Councillor. The CEO 

asserted that Linda Oakes had purported to nominate two candidates for Chief, 

and that the nomination form enclosed within the request for review upon which 

Linda Oakes purported to nominate the Applicant for Chief was null and void. 

Linda Oakes then drew the CEO’s attention to the fact that she had nominated 

the Applicant for the position of Councillor, rather than Chief. The CEO then 

asked “What’s today? Today’s the 27th. You can’t – your indebted to the band.” 
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The CEO then indicated that she got off the phone with the Deputy Electoral 

Officer, Chief Alvin Francis, and a lawyer. The CEO also indicated that she 

had talked to the Chief Financial Officer. The CEO again asserted that the 

Applicant was indebted to Nekaneet First Nation. The Applicant requested that 

the CEO advise as to how much it was alleged that he owed Nekaneet First 

Nation, to which the CEO replied that “…I don’t want to know how much you 

owe. I don’t want to know how much they owe.” The CEO then said that Chief 

Alvin Francis, the Chief Financial Officer, and a lawyer “…told me not to 

accept anything. They all got copies because I forwarded it. …Nothing is going 

to be done about it. I can’t sign that paper.” The Applicant then told the CEO 

“I want my request for review to proceed”, to which the CEO responded, “Its 

not going to be done.” That was the end of the call with the CEO.  

18. At 8:03 pm, the CEO sent the following text message to Linda Oakes: “I am 

filing a report with the RCMP tomorrow as to harassment which I fear that both 

of you will endanger myself or my deputy electoral officer. I'm filing a report 

with my lawyer as to grounds of obstruction in the election act to Jordi 

Fourhorns and Linda Oakes. I am also filing a report with INAC as to 

obstruction to the CEOs duties as to trying to force me to accept a nomination 

after the nomination meeting is over and you do not qualify as an elector 

eligible to be a candidate because of being indebted to Nekaneet First Nation” 

19. As a result of the CEO refusing to accept the nomination of the Applicant, 

electors of the Nekaneet First Nation wrongfully do not know the Applicant is 

an eligible candidate. Moreover, the CEO’s characterization of the Applicant’s 

request for review pursuant to Article 5.03 of the Nekaneet Governance Act as 
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criminal harassment casts an unfounded and inappropriate aspersion upon the 

Applicant in his capacity as an eligible candidate for the position of Councillor. 

The only possible way to attempt to repair the damage inflicted by the conduct 

of the CEO is to require her to publicize widely the Order of the Nekaneet 

Appeal Body granting this Application. A similar order was made in Myiow v. 

Mohawk Council of Kahnawake, 2009 FC 690 (order following paragraph 27) 

[Tab 9]. 

20. In addition to the forgoing, the CEO contravened the Nekaneet Governance Act 

by incorrectly determining that the Applicant was indebted to Nekaneet First 

Nation pursuant to Article 5.02(c) of Nekaneet Governance Act and therefore 

ineligible to be a candidate for the position of Councillor: 

5.02 An Elector to be eligible to be a candidate for the position of Chief 

or Councillor is required to meet all of the following eligibility criteria: 

… 

(c) Is not indebted to Nekaneet or an Empowered Entity with 

such indebtedness proven by such debt being disclosed in the 

audited financial statements of Nekaneet or an Empowered 

Entity or by a written statement from the senior financial officer 

of Nekaneet or some other reasonable form of written proof of 

indebtedness, which indebtedness cannot otherwise be shown 

by the debtor as having been paid in full, and such debt is one 

that has been outstanding for more than ninety (90) Days 

prior to the Nomination Meeting; 

… [Emphasis Added] 

 

21. The Applicant attended to the February 26, 2020, nomination meeting in 

respect of the March 25, 2020, election of Nekaneet First Nation. The Applicant 

was eligible to be nominated to the position of Councillor of Nekaneet First 

Nation, and the Applicant and his nominators duly complied with all 
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requirements to cause the Applicant to become nominated to the position of 

Councillor in respect of the election. However, the CEO refused to accept the 

Applicant’s nomination for the position of Councillor.  

22. Contrary to Article 5.02(c) of Nekaneet Governance Act, the most recent 

“audited financial statements of Nekaneet” do not identify a debt owed by the 

Applicant, nor do they refer to the Applicant in any manner. Moreover, there is 

no “written statement from the senior financial officer of Nekaneet” evidencing 

alleged indebtedness by the Applicant. In particular, on February 27, 2020, the 

Senior Financial Officer of Nekaneet First Nation advised the Applicant that 

she did not write the February 1, 2020, letter upon which the CEO relied om 

refusing to accept the Applicant’s nomination for the position of Councillor.  

23. In addition, the Applicant is not indebted to Nekaneet First Nation as vaguely 

alleged in the purported February 1, 2020, letter of the “committee”, which 

appears to be the sole basis upon which the CEO refused to accept the 

nomination of the Applicant. No quantum of debt or date of alleged 

indebtedness is identified in relation to the Applicant. Moreover, the Applicant 

is not a lease holder or entitled to any lands on Nekaneet First Nation. 

24. Rather, the Applicant’s late father Glen Oakes was entitled to lands on 

Nekaneet First Nation. Glen Oakes passed away on March 11, 2018, upon 

which entitlement to the lands passed to the Applicant’s mother, Elaine Oakes. 

While land payments were not required by either Glen Oakes or subsequently 

Elaine Oakes and therefore no indebtedness could arise therefrom by either of 

Glen Oakes or Elaine Oakes, voluntary payments were made by Glen Oakes 

between 1995 and his passing, and by Elaine Oakes in March and November, 
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2018. By accepting the voluntary payments of Elaine Oakes in March and 

November, 2018, Nekaneet First Nation acknowledged that the lands passed to 

Elaine Oakes and not the Applicant or anyone else. Consequently, no 

indebtedness could arise therefrom in respect of the Applicant. Rather, at best 

indebtedness could only arise in relation to Elaine Oakes. 

25. Voluntary payment was not made by Elaine Oakes in respect of the lands for 

2019, as Nekaneet First Nation failed to replace the furnace to her house on 

reserve as required for habitation thereof. Elaine Oakes directly paid for the 

replacement of the said furnace, which cost ($7,000) was greater than the 

otherwise voluntary payment that would have been made to Nekaneet First 

Nation (2019 totalling $6,800) and was therefore setoff there against. 

26. The foregoing is confirmed by the conduct of the 2011 election and subsequent 

events. Prior to the 2011 election of Nekaneet First Nation, the then Chief and 

Council inappropriately sought to exclude several potential candidates on the 

basis of alleged indebtedness similar to the current attempt to exclude the 

Applicant and others in respect of the 2020 election. Prior to the 2011 election, 

the Chief and Council alleged indebtedness in respect of alleged lease payments 

in relation to the lands identical to those now in dispute with respect to the 

Applicant. However, the entirely of that alleged indebtedness in respect of all 

of the lands presently in dispute was allocated in the audited financial 

statements of Nekaneet First Nation to the late former Chief Glen Oakes. In 

particular, none of the alleged indebtedness was allocated to the Applicant. The 

Applicant ran for Chief in the 2011 election instead of his father, the late former 

Chief Glen Oakes. The Applicant was elected Chief in 2011-2014, and again in 



12 

 

2014-2017. The Applicant narrowly lost the most recent 2017 election for Chief 

by merely 11 votes.  

27. Following the Applicant’s entry into office in 2011, the accountants of 

Nekaneet First Nation (Chalupiak & Associates) and legal counsel both 

confirmed the inappropriateness and invalidity of the alleged debts in respect 

of the late former Chief Glen Oakes. Chief and Council (including the 

Applicant) reversed those allegations and alleged debts and eliminated same by 

Band Council Resolution.  

28. While the February 1, 2020, letter alleges that a debt has arisen in relation to 

several people pursuant to the “Nekaneet Lands and Resources Management 

Act. 2014” (Alleged Lands Act), Nekaneet First Nation has not enacted the 

Alleged Lands Act as confirmed by its absence from both the First Nations 

Gazette (http://www.fng.ca/) [Tab 10] and the official website of Nekaneet 

First Nation (http://nekaneet.com/). Moreover, the Alleged Lands Act cannot 

be considered valid or operative: Nekaneet First Nation is absent from both 

Schedules 1 and 2 of the First Nations Land Management Act (https://laws-

lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/F-11.8/) [Tab 11]. Of particular note, the Applicant 

was Chief in 2014 when the Alleged Lands Act was sought to be enacted. While 

a referendum was conducted, when the Alleged Lands Act was submitted to the 

Government of Canada the Applicant was advised by its representative, Colleen 

Thomas, that the Alleged Lands Act was not valid and not recognized by the 

Government of Canada. Therefore, no debt may arise pursuant to the Alleged 

Lands Act as it has not been enacted nor has it been in force at any point in 

time. 

http://www.fng.ca/
http://nekaneet.com/
https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/F-11.8/
https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/F-11.8/
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29. Even if the Alleged Lands Act had been in force, the letter dated February 1, 

2020, incorrectly suggests that a “public meeting” was held and that “All users 

were aware to pay their share of the 15% yearly.” However, while the letter 

suggests that the “committee has  been working on a land user agreement that 

will follow in conjunction with [the Alleged Lands Act]”, it fails to suggest that 

such a land user agreement has been enacted or entered into. Rather, it stipulates 

that such an agreement “will follow”, and is stated in the future tense. If an 

agreement as not been concluded, clearly a debt cannot arise 

30. Importantly, a debt does not arise unless and until a lawful and legitimate 

demand including at a minimum a demand that identifies the alleged quantum 

of the debt demanded. For an example in the context of costs not yet quantified, 

see Cowessess First Nation no. 73 v. Pelletier, 2017 FC 692, at paragraphs 64-

68. At no time prior to hearing a rumour the night before the nomination 

meeting did anyone suggest that the Applicant was indebted to Nekaneet First 

Nation, make a demand, identify the quantum thereof, or suggest that the 

Applicant would be ineligible to participate in the election.  

31.  Moreover, the first and only time any documentation was received in respect 

of the alleged indebtedness of the Applicant was at the nomination meeting 

when the Applicant’s nomination was being submitted. As noted above, that 

purported letter of February 1, 2020, from “committee” to “Nekaneet Land 

Maintainers/Leasers”, is vague and inaccurate. No quantum of debt or date of 

alleged indebtedness is identified in relation to the Applicant. Moreover, the 

Applicant is not a lease holder or entitled to any lands on Nekaneet First Nation. 

Consequently, no debt can arise.  
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32. In addition, ineligibility does not automatically follow the existence of a debt. 

Rather, ineligibility pursuant to Article 5.02(c) of Nekaneet Governance Act 

only follows if the alleged debtor has failed to pay that debt for at least the 

entire period of 90 days preceding the nomination meeting. The underlying 

rationale of Article 5.02(c) of Nekaneet Governance Act is not to exclude 

debtors from participating in governance. Rather, it is to exclude debtors that 

deliberately evade the payment of their lawful debts over a protracted period of 

time. The letter does not evidence a specific debt having “been outstanding for 

more than ninety (90) Days prior to the Nomination Meeting”, a condition 

precedent to ineligibility pursuant to 5.02(c) of Nekaneet Governance Act. With 

respect, the debtor cannot in any meaningful sense be alleged to be a deliberate 

debtor over a protracted period when the debt was rumoured the night before 

the nomination meeting, and first alleged at the nomination meeting. 

33. Even though the Applicant is not a lease holder or entitled to any lands on 

Nekaneet First Nation, since 1995 he has been permitted by the late (former) 

Chief Glen Oakes and then Elaine Oakes to utilize a portion of their lands. Even 

though the Applicant is not entitled to these lands and has no obligation, he has 

always made voluntary contributions to the late (former) Chief Glen Oakes and 

then Elaine Oakes in an amount equal to or greater than the proportionate 

amount of the voluntary payments made by the late (former) Chief Glen Oakes 

and then Elaine Oakes. Moreover, as noted above, in 2011 the debt in respect 

of the lands was alleged against the late (former) Chief Glen Oakes, rather than 

the Applicant who was eligible and successfully ran for Chief in 2011-2014, 

and again in 2014-2017. If the Applicant was not indebted in 2011 in identical 
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circumstances except that Elaine Oakes is now entitled to the lands rather than 

the late (former) Chief Glen Oakes, it cannot be alleged that the Applicant is 

now indebted.  

34. Finally, no ballots have yet been printed. There are no mail in ballots, and there 

is only one poll on reserve for the election. During the last election there were 

approximately 400 ballots, all of which were printed on ordinary letter paper 

approximately 4 days prior to the last election. A similar practice is anticipated 

in respect of the current election. It is therefore possible for the Applicant to be 

included on the ballot as a candidate, and there is no prejudice associated 

therewith. 

35. It is respectfully submitted that the Applicant’s eligibility should not be 

conclusively determined in circumstances where the conduct of the CEO has 

prevented the public consideration of eligibility at the nomination meeting 

through opening the floor to public challenges to eligibility as required pursuant 

to Article 6.03(k) of the Nekaneet Governance Act. Rather, the Applicant 

should be permitted to participate as a candidate for Councillor in the election, 

without prejudice to the ordinary appeal mechanism in Article 5.04 of the 

Nekaneet Governance Act that permits an elector to challenge the eligibility of 

the Applicant subsequent to the election in the (anticipated) event that the 

Applicant is again democratically selected by the Membership of the Nekaneet 

First Nation. 
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FURTHER TAKE NOTICE that the documents to be relied upon in support of the 

within Application are as follows: (all of these documents may be downloaded at 

https://phillipsco.ca/jordi-fourhorns-application-to-the-nekaneet-appeal-body/) 

1. Nekaneet Governance Act; 

2. Nekaneet Constitution; 

3. Affidavit of Jordi Fourhorns sworn March 6, 2020, and testimony in support 

thereof; 

A. Exhibit “A” is a Band Council Resolution dated February 2, 

2020; 

B. Exhibit “B”: My  Nomination Form; 

C. Exhibit “C”: My Criminal Record Check; 

D. Exhibit “D”: February 1, 2020, letter from “committee” to 

“Nekaneet Land Maintainers/Leasers” (authenticity and 

transmittal disputed);  

E. Exhibit “E”: February 26, 2020, picture of CEO’s listing of 

candidates for Councillor; 

F. Exhibit “F”: March 31, 2019, Nekaneet First Nation 

Consolidated Financial Statements; 

G. Exhibit “G”: February 27, 2020, letter from Mervin C. Phillips to 

CEO (Request for Review); 

H. Exhibit “H”: February 27, 2020, text messages serving my 

Request for Review upon the CEO and Deputy Electoral Officers; 

I. Exhibit “I”: February 27, 2020, memorandum of two calls 

between Jordi Fourhorns, Linda Oakes, and CEO (solicitor client 

https://phillipsco.ca/jordi-fourhorns-application-to-the-nekaneet-appeal-body/
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notes between calls with CEO redacted);  

J. Exhibit “J”: March 4, 2020, letter from Mervin C. Phillips to 

Nekaneet First Nation, and emails following same; and 

K. Exhibit “K”: First Nations Gazette (http://www.fng.ca/) listing 

respecting Nekaneet First Nation. 

4. Testimony of Linda Oakes (nominator 1); 

5. Testimony of Jean Jerome (nominator 2);  

6. Testimony of Elaine Oakes; 

7. Bambrick, Re, [1992] N.J. No. 323, at paragraphs 42-51; 

8. Dairy Producers Co-operative Ltd. v. Saskatchewan (Human Rights 

Commission), [1993] S.J. No. 682 (Court of Queen's Bench), at paragraph 15; 

9. Myiow v. Mohawk Council of Kahnawake, 2009 FC 690 (order following 

paragraph 27); 

10. Schedules 1 and 2 of the First Nations Land Management Act (https://laws-

lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/F-11.8/); and 

11. Cowessess First Nation no. 73 v. Pelletier, 2017 FC 692, at paragraphs 64-68. 

  

http://www.fng.ca/
https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/F-11.8/
https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/F-11.8/
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TO: John Hill (single member of the Nekaneet Appeal Body pursuant to Article 

19.11 of the Nekaneet Governance Act) 

 492 Hoffer Drive 

 Nekaneet Reserve 160A 

 Regina, Saskatchewan S4N 7A1  

 Email: john@johnhilllaw.com 

 Phone: (306) 537-7990 

   

TO:  Alena Louison, Chief Electoral Officer / Marilyn Louison, Deputy Electoral 

Officer (not respondents to this Application) 

 PO Box 87 

 Cowessess First Nation, Saskatchewan 

 S0G 5L0 

 via text message: (306) 519-5504  

   

 1045 Atkinson Street 

 Regina, Saskatchewan 

 S4N 3V2 

 via hand delivery 

 via text message: (306) 351-8569 

mailto:john@johnhilllaw.com
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DRAFT ORDER 
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Nekaneet Appeal Body 

 

By: 

Jordi Fourhorns, the Applicant 

 

vs. 

(No Respondent) 

 

 

 

ORDER 

 

Order made this ___ day of March, 2020. 

Before John Hill, Nekaneet Appeal Body, alone pursuant to Article 19.11 of the 

Nekaneet Governance Act. 

Upon receipt and review of the Application of Jordi Fourhorns dated March 6, 2020, 

and the supporting documents filed therewith, and upon hearing the Applicant and his 

counsel, the Nekaneet Appeal Body hereby grants the application and orders the 

following: 

1. The Chief Electoral Officer shall accept the nomination of Jordi Fourhorns for 

the position of Councillor in respect of the March 25, 2020, election of 

Nekaneet First Nation; 

2. The Chief Electoral Officer shall place the name of Jordi Fourhorns on the 

ballot for the position of Councillor; 

3. The Chief Electoral Officer shall publicize widely and in any manner this Order 

of the Nekaneet Appeal Body;  



3 

 

4. Notwithstanding the forgoing, an appeal may be made pursuant to Article 5.04 

of the Nekaneet Governance Act in relation to the eligibility of Jordi Fourhorns; 

and 

5. The deposit of $1,000 shall be immediately returned to the Applicant. Costs 

shall be reserved for consideration subsequent to the March 25, 2020, election. 

 

 

ISSUED at Regina, Saskatchewan, this ___ day of March, 2020.  

 

Nekaneet Appeal Body 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Per: John Hill  
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NOTICE OF APPLICATION 

 

To the Nekaneet Appeal Body 

 

By: 

Jordi Fourhorns, the Applicant 

 

vs. 

(No Respondent) 

 

AFFIDAVIT OF JORDI FOURHORNS 

 

 I, Jordi Fourhorns, of Nekaneet First Nation, am the Applicant in this 

proceeding and as such I have personal knowledge of the facts deposed to herein 

except where stated to be on information and believe, and where so stated I do verily 

be same to be true, MAKE OATH AND SAY THAT: 

1. Marked and attached hereto are the following exhibits upon which I rely in 

respect of my application: 

a. Exhibit “A” is a Band Council Resolution dated February 2, 

2020; 

b. Exhibit “B”: My Nomination Form; 

c. Exhibit “C”: My Criminal Record Check; 

d. Exhibit “D”: February 1, 2020, letter from “committee” to 

“Nekaneet Land Maintainers/Leasers” (authenticity and 

transmittal disputed);  

e. Exhibit “E”: February 26, 2020, picture of CEO’s listing of 

candidates for Councillor; 

f. Exhibit “F”: March 31, 2019, Nekaneet First Nation 

Consolidated Financial Statements; 
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g. Exhibit “G”: February 27, 2020, letter from Mervin C. Phillips 

to CEO (Request for Review); 

h. Exhibit “H”: February 27, 2020, text messages serving my 

Request for Review upon the CEO and Deputy Electoral 

Officers; 

i. Exhibit “I”: February 27, 2020, memorandum of two calls 

between Jordi Fourhorns, Linda Oakes, and CEO (solicitor 

client notes between calls with CEO redacted);  

j. Exhibit “J”: March 4, 2020, letter from Mervin C. Phillips to 

Nekaneet First Nation, and emails following same; and 

k. Exhibit “K”: First Nations Gazette (http://www.fng.ca/) listing 

respecting Nekaneet First Nation. 

Procedural History 

2. On February 2, 2020, a Band Council Resolution was passed respecting the 

forthcoming election: Exhibit “A”. In particular, Alena Louison was appointed Chief 

Electoral Officer (“CEO”), and the nomination meeting was scheduled for February 

26, 2020.  

3. I attended the nomination meeting on February 26, 2020, with my nominators, 

Linda Oakes and Jean Jerome. However, while the CEO was required to open the 

floor for public challenges to nominations based on alleged ineligibility pursuant to 

Article 6.03(k) of the Nekaneet Governance Act, the CEO failed to comply with that 

nomination procedure contained in the Nekaneet Governance Act. The CEO 

employed a private/without notice process when she received a challenge to my 

eligibility prior to the nomination meeting on February 26, 2020, and determined that 

http://www.fng.ca/


3 

 

I was ineligible prior to even receiving my nomination and without asking for a 

response from me.  

4. The CEO also failed to comply with the balance of the nomination procedure in 

Article 6.03, including but not limited to her failure to document the challenge to my 

eligibility, ask for a response from me, document my response, and then make 

inquiries and render a decision with reasons.  

5. As indicated herein, had I known that a challenge was being made to my 

eligibility and had an opportunity to respond and be heard, I would have provided 

relevant evidence to the CEO which would have affected her decision. 

6. Moreover, the CEO refused to receive or consider my request for review, copy 

of which is Exhibit “G”. Pursuant to Article 5.03 of the Nekaneet Governance Act, at 

5:57 pm on February 27, 2020, I caused a request for review to be served upon the 

CEO and Deputy Electoral Officer in respect of the CEO’s decision to deny the 

nomination of myself. The request for review was served by text message photos of 

the letter upon each of the CEO and Deputy Electoral Officer: Exhibit “H”. It was 

thereafter served by personal service of a paper copy upon the Deputy Electoral 

Officer at 1045 Atkinson Street, Regina, at 7:17 pm on February 27, 2020. The said 

request for review identified relevant evidence and provided submissions to the CEO 

in relation to the CEO’s failure to comply with the nomination procedure contained in 

the Nekaneet Governance Act, and the false allegation that I was indebted to Nekaneet 

First Nation and thereby ineligible pursuant to Article 5.02(c). In addition, the I 

requested that the CEO provide reasons as to her decision to refuse the nomination of 

myself. 
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7. At 6:06 pm on February 27, 2020, my nominator Linda Oakes and I phoned the 

CEO to confirm her receipt of the request for review. Both Linda Oakes and I 

participated in that call and the subsequent call on February 27, 2020, identified 

herein, and therefore references herein to “we” are references to both of us. While my 

lawyer was present, he did not speak with the CEO. However, he took the 

memorandum which is Exhibit “I” (solicitor client notes between calls with CEO 

redacted).  

8. The CEO confirmed her receipt of my request for review, however she refused 

to accept the request for review. The CEO then indicated that she had forwarded the 

request for review to the current Chief Alvin Francis, the Chief Financial Officer, and 

the Nekaneet Appeal Body. When we asked upon what basis the CEO determined that 

I was not eligible to be nominated, the CEO indicated that “his name is on the land 

lease” and that prior to the nomination meeting that she “knew already two weren’t 

going to be accepted”. The CEO refused to identify those two persons. We then 

requested a decision in writing with reasons, however the CEO replied that “I wasn’t 

accepting his nomination” and “I’m not going against anything”. We then renewed 

our request for a decision in writing, however the CEO replied that “My decision was 

final yesterday, and I’m not going against it…I just have to go with the information 

they provide me.” We then requested to know whether that information was limited to 

the letter dated February 1, 2020 (Exhibit “D”), provided to me during the 

nomination meeting, to which the CEO replied “What other information are they 

going to provide me? I sat down with them, that’s not word of mouth, I got 

information.” We then indicated that we were just following the procedure in 

Nekaneet Governance Act, however the CEO indicated that “After I left the reserve 
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yesterday, I’m not accepting other nominations.” We then renewed our request as to 

whether the letter dated February 1, 2020, is the only letter that the CEO received, to 

which the CEO replied “how much information am I to receive…letter I showed you 

yesterday, plus two other letters.” We then requested a copy of those two other letters, 

to which the CEO replied “I’m not giving anyone information I’ve received.” We 

then requested that the CEO advise of the specific amount of the alleged debt, to 

which the CEO replied “I don’t know, I never asked specific, monetary amounts.” We 

finally asked “as of what date?”, to which the CEO replied “as of yesterday morning.” 

That was the end of the call with the CEO. 

9. At 6:32 pm on February 27, 2020, the CEO phoned my nominator Linda Oakes 

and I (we had used the phone of Linda Oakes for the first call, as my phone was 

almost out of battery). The CEO asked Linda Oakes “You sent me that information on 

your phone?”, which was a reference to the service of the request for review which 

had been served by text message photos of the letter upon the CEO: Exhibit “G”. In 

response, Linda Oakes confirmed that she sent the request for review, which enclosed 

the nomination form that Linda Oakes signed as nominator on behalf of myself: 

Exhibit “B”. The CEO then asked Linda Oakes “Do you know how many people you 

nominated?”, and thereafter asserted that the nomination of Linda Oakes was “null 

and void” because a nominator may only nominate one candidate for Chief and three 

candidates for Councillor. The CEO asserted that Linda Oakes had purported to 

nominate two candidates for Chief, and that the nomination form enclosed within the 

request for review upon which Linda Oakes purported to nominate me for Chief was 

null and void. Linda Oakes then drew the CEO’s attention to the fact that she had 

nominated me for the position of Councillor, rather then Chief. The CEO then asked 
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“What’s today? Today’s the 27th. You can’t – your indebted to the band.” The CEO 

then indicated that she got off the phone with the Deputy Electoral Officer, Chief 

Alvin Francis, and a lawyer. The CEO also indicated that she had talked to the Chief 

Financial Officer. The CEO again asserted that I was indebted to Nekaneet First 

Nation. I requested that the CEO advise as to how much it was alleged that I owed 

Nekaneet First Nation, to which the CEO replied that “…I don’t want to know how 

much you owe. I don’t want to know how much they owe.” The CEO then said that 

Chief Alvin Francis, the Chief Financial Officer, and a lawyer “…told me not to 

accept anything. They all got copies because I forwarded it. …Nothing is going to be 

done about it. I can’t sign that paper.” I then told the CEO “I want my request for 

review to proceed”, to which the CEO responded, “Its not going to be done.” That 

was the end of the call with the CEO.  

10. At 8:03 pm, the CEO sent the following text message to Linda Oakes: “I am 

filing a report with the RCMP tomorrow as to harassment which I fear that both of 

you will endanger myself or my deputy electoral officer. I'm filing a report with my 

lawyer as to grounds of obstruction in the election act to Jordi Fourhorns and Linda 

Oakes. I am also filing a report with INAC as to obstruction to the CEOs duties as to 

trying to force me to accept a nomination after the nomination meeting is over and 

you do not qualify as an elector eligible to be a candidate because of being indebted to 

Nekaneet First Nation” 

11. On March 4, 2020, my lawyer sent a letter to the Band Office requesting the 

names and contact information for the Nekaneet Appeal Body, upon which an email 

was received identifying same. I have been advised by my lawyer that no reply was 
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received to his subsequent email, all of which communications are contained in 

Exhibit “J”.  

12. As a result of the CEO refusing to accept my nomination, electors of the 

Nekaneet First Nation wrongfully do not know that I am an eligible candidate. Rather, 

they are only aware of the candidates for Councillor listed by the CEO at the 

nomination meeting: Exhibit “E”. Moreover, the CEO’s characterization of my 

request for review pursuant to Article 5.03 of the Nekaneet Governance Act as 

criminal harassment casts an unfounded and inappropriate aspersion upon me in my 

capacity as an eligible candidate for the position of Councillor. The only possible way 

to attempt to repair the damage inflicted by the conduct of the CEO is to require her 

to publicize widely the Order of the Nekaneet Appeal Body granting this Application.  

 

I am not indebted to Nekaneet First Nation  

13. In addition to the forgoing, the CEO contravened the Nekaneet Governance Act 

by incorrectly determining that I am indebted to Nekaneet First Nation pursuant to 

Article 5.02(c) of Nekaneet Governance Act and therefore ineligible to be a candidate 

for the position of Councillor: 

5.02 An Elector to be eligible to be a candidate for the position of 

Chief or Councillor is required to meet all of the following eligibility 

criteria: 

… 

(c) Is not indebted to Nekaneet or an Empowered Entity with 

such indebtedness proven by such debt being disclosed in 

the audited financial statements of Nekaneet or an 

Empowered Entity or by a written statement from the senior 

financial officer of Nekaneet or some other reasonable form of 

written proof of indebtedness, which indebtedness cannot 

otherwise be shown by the debtor as having been paid in full, 

and such debt is one that has been outstanding for more 

than ninety (90) Days prior to the Nomination Meeting; 

… [Emphasis Added] 
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14. I attended to the February 26, 2020, nomination meeting in respect of the March 

25, 2020, election of Nekaneet First Nation. I was eligible to be nominated to the 

position of Councillor of Nekaneet First Nation, and my nominators and I duly 

complied with all requirements to cause me to become nominated to the position of 

Councillor in respect of the election. However, the CEO refused to accept me for the 

position of Councillor.  

15. The most recent “audited financial statements of Nekaneet” are Exhibit “F”. 

They do not identify an alleged debt owed by me, nor do they refer to me. Moreover, 

there is no “written statement from the senior financial officer of Nekaneet” 

evidencing alleged indebtedness by me. In particular, on February 27, 2020, the 

Senior Financial Officer of Nekaneet First Nation advised me that she did not write 

the February 1, 2020, letter upon which the CEO relied om refusing to accept me 

nomination for the position of Councillor, which is Exhibit “D”.  

16. In addition, I am not indebted to Nekaneet First Nation as vaguely alleged in the 

purported February 1, 2020, letter of the “committee”, which appears to be the sole 

basis upon which the CEO refused to accept my nomination. No quantum of debt or 

date of alleged indebtedness is identified in relation to me. Moreover, I am not a lease 

holder or entitled to any lands on Nekaneet First Nation. 

17. Rather, my late father Glen Oakes was entitled to lands on Nekaneet First 

Nation. Glen Oakes passed away on March 11, 2018, upon which entitlement to the 

lands passed to my mother, Elaine Oakes. While land payments were not required by 

either Glen Oakes or subsequently Elaine Oakes and therefore no indebtedness could 

arise therefrom by either of Glen Oakes or Elaine Oakes, I was advised by Glen 



9 

 

Oakes that he made voluntary payments between 1995 and prior to his passing, and I 

am advised by Elaine Oakes that she made voluntary payments in March and 

November, 2018.  

18. I am advised by Elaine Oakes that voluntary payment was not made by her in 

respect of the lands for 2019, as Nekaneet First Nation failed to replace the furnace to 

her house on reserve as required for habitation thereof. Elaine Oakes directly paid for 

the replacement of the said furnace, which cost ($7,000) was greater than the 

otherwise voluntary payment that would have been made to Nekaneet First Nation 

(2019 totalling $6,800) and was therefore setoff there against. 

19. Moreover, prior to the 2011 election of Nekaneet First Nation, the then Chief 

and Council inappropriately sought to exclude several potential candidates on the 

basis of alleged indebtedness similar to the current attempt to exclude myself and 

others in respect of the 2020 election. Prior to the 2011 election, the Chief and 

Council alleged indebtedness in respect of alleged lease payments in relation to the 

lands identical to those now in dispute with respect to myself. However, the entirely 

of that alleged indebtedness in respect of all of the lands presently in dispute was 

allocated in the audited financial statements of Nekaneet First Nation to the late 

former Chief Glen Oakes, who is my father. In particular, none of the alleged 

indebtedness was allocated to me. I ran for Chief in the 2011 election instead of my 

father, the late former Chief Glen Oakes. I was elected Chief in 2011-2014, and again 

in 2014-2017. I narrowly lost the most recent 2017 election for Chief by merely 11 

votes.  

20. Following my entry into office in 2011, the accountants of Nekaneet First 

Nation (Chalupiak & Associates) and legal counsel both confirmed the 
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inappropriateness and invalidity of the alleged debts in respect of the late former 

Chief Glen Oakes. Chief and Council (including myself) reversed those allegations 

and alleged debts and eliminated same by Band Council Resolution.  

21. While the February 1, 2020, letter alleges that a debt has arisen in relation to 

several people pursuant to the “Nekaneet Lands and Resources Management Act. 

2014” (Alleged Lands Act), Nekaneet First Nation has not enacted the Alleged Lands 

Act as confirmed by its absence from both the First Nations Gazette (Exhibit “K”) 

and the official website of Nekaneet First Nation (http://nekaneet.com/). Moreover, I 

have been advised by my counsel that Nekaneet First Nation is absent from both 

Schedules 1 and 2 of the First Nations Land Management Act.  

22. Of particular note, I was Chief in 2014 when the Alleged Lands Act was sought 

to be enacted. While a referendum was conducted, when the Alleged Lands Act was 

submitted to the Government of Canada I was advised by its representative, Colleen 

Thomas, that the Alleged Lands Act was not valid and not recognized by the 

Government of Canada. Therefore, no debt may arise pursuant to the Alleged Lands 

Act as it has not been enacted nor has it been in force at any point in time. 

23. Even if the Alleged Lands Act had been in force, the letter dated February 1, 

2020 (Exhibit “D”), incorrectly suggests that a “public meeting” was held and that 

“All users were aware to pay their share of the 15% yearly.” However, while the letter 

suggests that the “committee has  been working on a land user agreement that will 

follow in conjunction with [the Alleged Lands Act]”, it fails to suggest that such a 

land user agreement has been enacted or entered into. Rather, it stipulates that such an 

agreement “will follow”, and is stated in the future tense. If an agreement as not been 

concluded, clearly a debt cannot arise 

http://nekaneet.com/
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24. Importantly, at no time prior to hearing a rumour the night before the 

nomination meeting did anyone suggest that I was indebted to Nekaneet First Nation, 

make a demand, identify the quantum thereof, or suggest that I would be ineligible to 

participate in the election.  

25. Moreover, I dispute the February 1, 2020, letter, which is Exhibit “D” – it was 

not sent to me, and I have been advised by other persons identified thereupon that it 

was not sent to them either. Rather, the first and only time Exhibit “D” or any 

documentation was received by me in respect of the alleged indebtedness of myself 

was at the nomination meeting when my nomination was being submitted. As noted 

above, that purported letter of February 1, 2020, from “committee” to “Nekaneet 

Land Maintainers/Leasers”, is vague and inaccurate. No quantum of debt or date of 

alleged indebtedness is identified in relation to myself. Moreover, I am not a lease 

holder or entitled to any lands on Nekaneet First Nation. Consequently, no debt can 

arise.  

26. Even though I am not a lease holder or entitled to any lands on Nekaneet First 

Nation, since 1995 I have been permitted by my father, the late (former) Chief Glen 

Oakes, and my mother, Elaine Oakes, to utilize a portion of their lands. Even though I 

am not entitled to those lands and have no obligation, I have always made voluntary 

contributions to my late father prior to his passing, and then my mother thereafter, in 

an amount equal to or greater than the proportionate amount of the voluntary 

payments made by my father and then my mother. Moreover, as noted above, in 2011 

the debt in respect of the lands was alleged against my father, the late (former) Chief 

Glen Oakes, rather than me. I was eligible and successfully ran for Chief in 2011-

2014, and again in 2014-2017. If I was not indebted in 2011 in identical 
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Nekaneet First Nation
Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

March 31, 2019

To the Members of Nekaneet First Nation:

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Nekaneet First Nation are the responsibility of
management and have been approved by the Chief and Council.

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial
statements, including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting
principles and methods and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective
judgment is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements,
management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records are
properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of consolidated financial statements.

Chief and Council is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of its financial reporting
responsibilities and for approving the consolidated financial statements. Chief and Council fulfils these
responsibilities by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing relevant
matters with management and external auditors.

Chalupiak & Associates CPA Professional Corporation, an independent firm of Chartered Professional
Accountants, is appointed by Chief and Council to audit the consolidated financial statements and report
directly to the Members; their report follows. The external auditors have full and free access to, and meet
periodically and separately with, both Chief and Council and management to discuss their audit findings.

On behalf of Nekaneet First Nation:

____________________
Nekaneet First Nation Date
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signature on file November 21, 2019



Independent Auditors' Report

To the Members of
Nekaneet First Nation

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nekaneet First Nation, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2019, and the consolidated statements of
operations, accumulated surplus, change in net debt and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the First Nation as at March 31, 2019, and the results of its consolidated
operations, its changes in its consolidated net debt, and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated  Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the First Nation in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Other Matter 

Canadian public sector accounting standards require the disclosure and ratification of budget information for
comparison to the First Nation's actual revenue and expenses. The consolidated budgeted revenue, expenses
and surplus have been partially reported in these financial statements. This has no effect no effect on reporting
actual revenue, expenses and surplus.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated  Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the First
Nation's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the First Nation or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the First Nation's financial reporting process.

2



Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated  Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the First Nation's internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the First Nation's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the First Nation to cease to continue as
a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Regina, Saskatchewan
November 21, 2019 Chartered Professional Accountants
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Nekaneet First Nation
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2019

2019 2018

Financial Assets

Cash (Note 3) $ 153,361 $ 186,041
Restricted cash - capital projects (Note 3) 68,607 8,192
Restricted cash - CMHC reserves (Note 3) 112,925 185,096
Trust funds held by federal government (Note 4) 51,403 203,607
Accounts receivable (Notes 5 and 6) 513,782 416,375
Due from New Horizon First Nations Administration (Note 7) 200,160 239,094
Portfolio investment (Note 8) 60,000 60,000

1,160,238 1,298,405

Liabilities

Accounts payable (Notes 9 and 10) 601,074 525,356

Deferred revenue - unexpended funds - ISC (Note 11) 31,954 300,500

Deferred revenue - unexpended funds - Health Canada (Note 12) 31,269 91,382

Deferred revenue (Note 13) 237,100 40,914

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 14) 388,889 406,549

Current portion of CMHC mortgages (Note 15) 75,755 58,812

Long-term debt (Note 14) 3,324,950 3,955,933

CMHC mortgages (Note 15) 714,431 418,069

Reserve for losses in related business entity (Note 16) 1,299,816 1,299,816

6,705,238 7,097,331

Net debt (5,545,000) (5,798,926)

Non-financial Assets

Capital assets (Note 17) 7,976,494 8,410,371

Prepaid expenses (Note 18) 1,493 1,134

7,977,987 8,411,505

Accumulated Surplus (Note 19) $ 2,432,987 $ 2,612,579

Approved on behalf of the Nekaneet First Nation:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

4

signature on file

signature on file



Nekaneet First Nation
Consolidated Statement of Operations

For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue  

Indigenous Services Canada - grant $ 232,032 $ 232,032 $ 232,267
Indigenous Services Canada - fixed 858,855 858,855 830,948
Indigenous Services Canada - set 27,608 32,607 34,506
Indigenous Services Canada - flexible 404,111 404,111 631,970
ISC - prior period revenue (recovery) - (18,500) -
ISC - current year receivable (payable) - (6,194) (3,894)
Health Canada 309,760 309,760 253,313
Health Canada - prior period revenue (recovery) - - (61,366)
CMHC - subsidy - 69,025 53,468
CMHC - RRAP - 26,470 23,999
CMHC - HIIFNIY - 7,290 -
CMHC - other - 69,685 29,800
Funds held in trust by Federal Government - 82,090 170,915
FHQ Tribal Council - 349,936 223,007
FHQ Developments Ltd - - 15,000
First Nation GST - 444,792 379,199
First Nations Trust - 167,592 165,416
Specific Claims Settlement Trust - 332,927 348,117
Keseechiwan Holdings - monetary benefit agreement - 55,377 -
Living Sky Community Development Corporation - 23,727 -
Government of Saskatchewan - Tax Rebate - 74,614 65,780
Rental Income - 25,045 60,098
Interest revenue - 1,894 1,884
Other revenue - 379,705 51,076
Administration fees - 83,491 80,842
Unexpended funds transferred - prior year - 298,614 103,003
Deferred revenue - prior - 40,914 244,631
Deferred revenue - current - (237,100) (40,914)
Unexpended funds - prior period adjustment (Note 22) - 99,676 -
Write down of old payables - 76,813 -

1,832,366 4,285,248 3,893,065

Expenses

Community Development (Schedule 1) - 834,619 552,084
Economic Development (Schedule 2) - 59,258 42,400
Education (Schedule 3) - 584,219 555,128
Indian Government Support (Schedule 4) - 537,769 540,623
Social Development (Schedule 5) - 237,417 315,523
Indian Registration (Schedule 6) - 5,305 5,000
Governance and Institutions of Government (Schedule 7) - 132,227 -
Health Services (Schedule 8) - 333,324 253,736
CMHC Operations (Schedule 9) - 155,547 119,735
Band Programs (Schedule 10) - 1,043,929 776,398
Amortization (Schedule 11) - 478,004 481,324

- 4,401,618 3,641,951

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

5



Nekaneet First Nation
Consolidated Statement of Operations

For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Current surplus (deficit) before unexpended funds 1,832,366 (116,370) 251,114

Unexpended funds

Unexpended funds transferred to deferred revenue - (63,223) (391,882)

Current surplus (deficit) $ 1,832,366 $ (179,593) $ (140,768)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Nekaneet First Nation
Consolidated Statement of Accumulated Surplus

For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2018

Surplus at beginning of year $ 2,612,579 $ 2,753,347

Current deficit (179,593) (140,768)

Surplus at end of year $ 2,432,986 $ 2,612,579

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

7



Nekaneet First Nation
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Debt

For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Current surplus (deficit) $ 1,832,366 $ (179,593) $ (140,768)

Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (44,126) (89,223)
Amortization of tangible capital assets - 478,004 481,324

- 433,878 392,101

Acquisition of prepaid asset - (1,493) (1,134)
Use of prepaid asset - 1,134 17,906

- (359) 16,772

Increase in net financial assets 1,832,366 253,926 268,105

Net debt at beginning of year (5,798,926) (5,798,926) (6,067,031)

Net debt at end of year $ (3,966,560) $ (5,545,000) $ (5,798,926)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Nekaneet First Nation
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2018

Cash flows from
Operating activities

Current surplus (deficit) $ (179,593) $ (140,768)
Items not affecting cash

Amortization 478,004 481,324

298,411 340,556

Change in non-cash operating working capital

Accounts receivable (97,407) 471,340
Prepaid expenses (359) 16,772
Accounts payable 75,716 (100,853)
Deferred revenue - unexpended funds - ISC (268,546) 272,252
Deferred revenue - unexpended funds - Health Canada (60,113) 16,627
Deferred revenue 196,186 (203,717)
Trust funds held by federal government 152,204 144,622

296,092 957,599

Capital activities

Capital asset purchases (44,126) (89,224)

Financing activities

Due from New Horizon First Nations Administration 38,934 34,529
Long term debt - proceeds - 57,467
Long term debt - repaid (648,642) (482,681)
CMHC mortgage - proceeds 379,881 -
CMHC mortgages - repaid (66,576) (94,103)

(296,403) (484,788)

Investing activities

Loss (gain) on investments - 22,562
Restricted cash - CMHC reserves 72,172 (100,653)

72,172 (78,091)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 27,735 305,496

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 194,233 (111,263)

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 221,968 $ 194,233

Represented by

Cash $ 153,361 $ 186,041
Restricted cash - capital projects 68,607 8,192

$ 221,968 $ 194,233

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

9



Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

1. General

Nekaneet First Nation is a First Nation subject to the provisions of the Indian Act. These financial
statements include Nekaneet First Nation government and all related entities which are accountable to
the First Nation and are either owned or controlled by the First Nation. 

2. Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards
for governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

(a) Reporting entity

Nekaneet First Nation reporting entity includes the Nekaneet First Nation government and all related
entities that are controlled by the First Nation.

(b) Principles of consolidation

All controlled entities are fully consolidated on a line-by-line basis except for the commercial
enterprises which meet the definition of government business enterprise, which are included in the
consolidated statements on a modified equity basis. Inter-organizational balances and transactions
are eliminated upon consolidation.

Under the modified equity method of accounting, only Nekaneet First Nation's investment in the
government business enterprise and the enterprise's net income and other changes in equity are
recorded. No adjustment is made for accounting policies of the enterprise that are different from those
of Nekaneet First Nation.

Organizations accounted for on a modified equity basis include:
New Horizon First Nations Administration Inc.

(c) Asset classification

Assets are classified as either financial or non-financial. Financial assets are assets that could be
used to discharge existing liabilities or to finance future operations. Non-financial assets are acquired,
constructed or developed assets that do not provide resources to discharge existing liabilities but are
employed to deliver government services, may be consumed in normal operations and are not for
resale. Non-financial assets include tangible assets, prepaid expenses and inventory of supplies.

(d) Net debt or net financial assets

The financial statements are presented so as to highlight net debt as the measurement of financial
position. The net debt or net financial asset is determined by financial assets less liabilities. Net debt
or net financial assets, is comprised of two components, non-financial assets and accumulated
surplus.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, balances with banks net of bank overdrafts and
term deposits having a maturity of three months or less at acquisition which are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments.
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

2. Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies, continued

(f) Liability for contaminated sites

A liability for remediation of a contaminated site is recognized at the best estimate of the amounts
required to remediate the contaminated site when contamination exceeding an environmental
standard exists, the First Nation is either directly responsible or accepts responsibility, it is expected
that future economic benefits will be given up, and a reasonable estimate of the amount is
determinable. The best estimate of the liability includes all costs directly attributable to remediation
activities and is reduced by expected net recoveries based on information available at March 31,
2019.

At each financial reporting date, the First Nation reviews the carrying amount of the liability. Any
revisions required to the amount previously recognized is accounted for in the period revisions are
made. The First Nation continues to recognize the liability until it’s settled or otherwise extinguished.
Disbursements made to settle the liability are deducted from the reported liability when they are
made.

(g) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the
acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost
includes overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset.

Leases that transfer substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership to the lessee are recorded as
capital leases. Accordingly, at the inception of the leases, the tangible capital asset and related lease
obligations are recorded at an amount equal to the present value of future lease payments discounted
at the lower of the interest rate inherent in the lease contracts and Nekaneet First Nation's
incremental cost of borrowing.

Amortization is provided for on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each asset
beginning in the year the asset is put into service. 

Buildings 25 years Straight line
Automotive equipment 4 years Straight line
Computer equipment 3 years Straight line
Furniture and equipment 5 years Straight line
Infrastructure 40 years Straight line
CMHC houses 40 years Straight line
Band Housing 25 years Straight line

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute to
Nekaneet First Nation's ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future economic
benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their net book value. The net write-
downs are accounted for as expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.

Contributed capital assets are recorded into revenues at their fair value on the date of donation,
except in circumstances where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, in which case they are
recognized at nominal value. Transfers of capital assets from related parties are recorded at carrying
value.

Certain assets which have historical or cultural value, including works of art, historical documents and
historical and cultural artifacts are not recognized as tangible capital assets in these statements.
Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available to be put into service.
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

2. Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies, continued

(h) Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are recorded at cost. Portfolio investments are written down where there has
been a loss in value that is other than a temporary decline.

(i) Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(j) Segments

The First Nation conducts its business through reportable segments.  These operating segments are
established by senior management to facilitate the achievement of the First Nation's long-term
objectives, aid in resource allocation decisions, and to assess operational performance.  

For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts that are directly
attributed to the segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis.  Therefore, certain
allocation methodologies are employed in the preparation of segmented financial information.

(k) Internal charges and transfers

The central administration office provides services to other program areas. To recognize the cost of
these services a corresponding revenue and expense is recorded and referred to as "Administration
fees."

(l) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recorded in the period specified in the funding agreements entered into with government
agencies and other organizations. Funds received in advance of making the related expenses are
reflected as deferred revenue in the year of receipt and classified as such in the financial statements.
Any funding received pursuant to an agreement that does not have a provision for the deferral of
unexpended funds is reported as a repayment of revenue. 

(m) Expense recognition

Expenses are accounted for in the period the goods or services are acquired and a liability is incurred
or transfers are due.

(n) Comparative figures

Prior years' comparative amounts have been reclassified, where necessary, to conform to the current
year's presentation.

12



Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

3. Cash and cash equivalents

Under the terms of an agreement with Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, Nekaneet First Nation
must set aside funds annually for the repair, maintenance and replacement of worn out assets. These
funds are to be held in a separate bank account and invested only in accounts or instruments insured by
the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation or as otherwise approved by the Canada Mortgage and
Housing Corporation with any interest earned to be credited as revenue to the Replacement and Subsidy
Fund.

Cash received to complete capital projects is held in separate bank accounts or guaranteed investment
certificates.

Funds held in trust are held by the federal government in trust for the First Nation.

2019 2018

Unrestricted cash (Bank indebtedness)

Operations $ 153,361 $ 186,041

Restricted cash - capital projects

Lagoon project 68,607 8,192

Restricted cash - CMHC reserves

Replacement reserve 32,925 105,096

Replacement reserve term deposits 80,000 80,000

112,925 185,096

Restricted cash - trust funds held by federal government

Capital 38,564 38,564

Revenue 12,839 165,043

51,403 203,607

$ 386,296 $ 582,936

The First Nation has a line of credit with Peace Hills Trust (PHT) of $50,000 bearing interest at prime plus
2%, any amounts in excess of $50,000 bear interest at 24%; on March 31, 2019 PHT accounts were
overdrawn $nil (2018 - $nil) and there were outstanding cheques issued in excess of deposits totaling $nil
(2018 - $nil).

The First Nation does not have any approved overdraft protection with the Bank of Montreal (BMO), any
amounts overdrawn bear interest at 21%; on March 31, 2019 BMO accounts were overdrawn $nil (2018 -
$nil) and there were outstanding cheques issued in excess of deposits totaling $nil (2018 - $nil).
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

4. Trust funds held by federal government

2019
Revenue

2019
Capital

2019
Total

2018
Total

Surplus, beginning of year $ 165,043 $ 38,564 $ 203,607 $ 348,405
Withdrawals (193,300) - (193,300) (280,080)
Lease revenue 37,470 - 37,470 128,427
Interest earnings 3,626 - 3,626 6,855

Surplus, end of year $ 12,839 $ 38,564 $ 51,403 $ 203,607

5. Accounts receivable

2019 2018

Due from members

Advances $ 69,508 $ 64,586

Due from others

File Hills Qu'Appelle Tribal Council 30,532 41,487

New Horizon First Nation Administration - funds held in trust 344,759 303,765

Bank of Montreal - dormant account 7,849 7,849

GST 10,385 12,285

Other 76,354 5,917

469,879 371,303

Due from government and other government organizations

Indigenous Services Canada (ISC) 3,015 71

CMHC - subsidy 7,076 4,463

CMHC - other - 15,560

First Nation GST 33,331 29,419

43,422 49,513

582,809 485,402
Allowance for doubtful accounts (69,027) (69,027)

$ 513,782 $ 416,375
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

6. ISC - accounts receivable

2019 2018

BEB $ 3,015 $ -
Institutional Care - 71

$ 3,015 $ 71

7. Due from New Horizon First Nations Administration Inc.

Transactions with related parties are in the normal course of business and are for fair consideration that is
mutually agreed upon by the related parties. Amounts payable and receivable bear no interest and have
no fixed terms of repayment.

8. Portfolio investments

2019 2018

Keseechiwan Holdings LP (8.3% interest) $ 60,000 $ 60,000

9. Accounts payable

2019 2018

Due to members

Accrued payroll $ 20,317 $ 28,398

Due to others

Trade payables 530,172 429,211

Group insurance 1,367 -

531,539 429,211

Due to government and other government organizations

Indigenous Services Canada (ISC) 9,209 3,965

Health Canada 35,797 61,366

CRA payroll deductions 4,212 2,416

49,218 67,747

$ 601,074 $ 525,356
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

10. ISC - accounts payable

2019 2018

Band Employee Benefits - Statutory $ - $ 3,965
Institutional Care 9,209 -

$ 9,209 $ 3,965

11. Deferred revenue - unexpended funds  - ISC

Indigenous Services Canada (ISC) funding agreements stipulate the terms and conditions that apply to
situations where revenue received exceeds expenditures. Depending on the funding arrangement the
unexpended funds may be retained by the recipient, repaid to ISC, deferred to the following year, or
transferred to another ISC program area. Any funding arrangements that have a provision that allows the
recipient to retain the excess funds are recorded as surpluses. All other excess funds are recorded as a
liability and classified as "Deferred revenue - unexpended funds - ISC" on the financial statements.

2019 2018

Recycle Waste Project $ - $ 9,734
Skills Link - 9,398
Immediate Needs - renos & additions - 246,534
P & ID - 18,500
Home Care 2,744 5,889
Student transportation 1,778 1,726
Special Needs 1,057 8,719
Basic Needs 26,375 -

$ 31,954 $ 300,500
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

12. Deferred revenue - unexpended funds - Health Canada

FNIHB funding agreements stipulate the terms and conditions that apply to situations where revenue
received exceeds expenditures. Depending on the funding arrangement the unexpended funds may be
retained by the recipient, repaid to FNIHB, deferred to the following year, or transferred to another FNIHB
program area. Any funding arrangements that have a provision that allows the recipient to retain the
excess funds are recorded as surpluses. All other excess funds are recorded as a liability and classified
as "Deferred revenue - unexpended funds - Health Canada" on the financial statements.

2019 2018

Brighter Futures $ - $ 14,792
Solvent Abuse 4,743 10,260
Prenatal Nutrition 4,622 7,854
Support Services - 3,394
NNADAP 6,331 33,584
Health Management 12,707 15,879
Research and engagement - 4,096
Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder 1,812 1,523
Mental Health 1,054 -

$ 31,269 $ 91,382

13. Deferred revenue

March 31,
2018

Funding
received,

2019

Revenue
recognized,

2019
March 31,

2019

Federal government

   Water Treatment Plant $ 3,921 $ 100,000 $ (39,585) $ 64,336

Other

   Specific Claims settlement trust 36,993 332,965 (244,067) 125,891
   FHQ - Daycare - 106,982 (88,818) 18,164
   FHQ - Aboriginal Head Start - 151,911 (123,202) 28,709

36,993 591,858 (456,087) 172,764

$ 40,914 $ 691,858 $ (495,672) $ 237,100
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

14. Long-term debt

2019 2018

Peace Hills Trust #28 Consolidate loans #25, 26 and 27 bearing
interest at 7.00% per annum, repayable in monthly blended
payments of $20,000 and quarterly principle payments of $27,016,
due on demand. The loan is secured by GSA, ISC, FNT & FNGST.
The loan matures on October 1, 2019. $ 1,615,007 $ 1,841,806

Peace Hills Trust #29 - Vehicle purchases
Term loan bearing interest at 7.00% per annum, repayable in
monthly blended payments of $1,200, and one principle payment of
$30,000 in June 2018. The loan is secured by GSA, ISC, FNT &
FNGST. The loan matures on April 1, 2022. 8,037 50,000

BMO - Construction of 14 new housing units
Demand loan non-revolving bearing interest at prime plus 2.00%, 
repayable in monthly interest payments and annual principle
payments of $137,500 amortized over 20 years. Final payment due
March 30, 2036. 2,090,795 2,470,676

3,713,839 4,362,482
Current portion 388,889 406,549

$ 3,324,950 $ 3,955,933

Principal portion of long-term debt due within the next five years:

2020 $ 388,889
2021 398,444
2022 417,307
2023 437,535
2024 and thereafter 2,071,664

$ 3,713,839

2019 2018

Interest expense for the year on long-term debt $ 251,794 $ 282,433
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

15. CMHC mortgages

Phase
number

Maturity
date

Interest
rate

Monthly
payment 2019 2018

Scotia 6 01-Jan-22 4.79% $ 665 $ 21,252 $ 27,499
Scotia 8 01-May-18 3.49% 647 - 2,958
Scotia 9 01-Jan-20 4.79% 676 6,095 13,095
CMHC 10 01-Sep-20 0.94% 1,107 76,399 88,899
CMHC 11 01-Jun-23 2.50% 1,390 123,156 136,721
CMHC 12 01-Oct-20 1.04% 1,477 192,065 207,709
CMHC 13 01-Oct-23 2.68% 2,563 371,219 -

790,186 476,881
Less current portion 75,755 58,812

Total $ 714,431 $ 418,069
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

16. Reserve for losses in related business entity

Commercial enterprises are those organizations that meet the definition of government business
enterprises as described by the Public Sector Accounting Board. Government business enterprises have
the power to contract in their own name, have the financial and operating authority to carry on a business,
sell goods and services to customers outside the First Nation government as their principal activity, and
that can, in the normal course of their operations, maintain operations and meet liabilities from revenues
received from outside the First Nation government.

2019 2018

New Horizon First Nation Administration Inc. $ (1,299,816) $ (1,299,816)

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

Cash $ 10,435 $ -
Accounts receivable 10,194 9,838
Fixed assets 206,888 199,313

Total assets $ 227,517 $ 209,151

Bank indebtedness $ - $ 3,459
Accounts payable 64,921 75,704
Tenant deposits 12,594 12,594
Due to Ottawa Trust Fund 344,759 303,765
Due to related party 207,095 260,379
Long-term debt 897,964 853,066

Total liabilities 1,527,333 1,508,967

Contributed surplus 260,596 260,596
Deficit (1,560,412) (1,560,412)

Total equity (1,299,816) (1,299,816)

Total liabilities and equity $ 227,517 $ 209,151

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

Revenue $ 245,635 $ 213,109

Expenses 204,641 200,214
Debt servicing 40,994 35,457

Total expenses 245,635 235,671

Net income (loss) $ - $ (22,562)
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

17. Tangible capital assets

Cost Additions
Accumulated
amortization

2019
Net book

value

Land $ 1,377,971 $ - $ - $ 1,377,971
Buildings 6,544,719 - 4,987,509 1,557,210
Automotive equipment 403,639 41,491 378,907 66,223
Computer equipment 4,012 - 2,674 1,338
Furniture and equipment 516,080 2,636 506,888 11,828
Infrastructure 2,051,727 - 315,398 1,736,329
CMHC houses 2,379,378 - 1,764,630 614,748
Band Housing 2,837,877 - 227,030 2,610,847

$ 16,115,403 $ 44,127 $ 8,183,036 $ 7,976,494

Cost Additions
Accumulated
amortization

2018
Net book

value

Land $ 1,377,971 $ - $ - $ 1,377,971
Buildings 6,544,719 - 4,765,051 1,779,668
Automotive equipment 333,427 70,212 330,481 73,158
Computer equipment - 4,012 1,337 2,675
Furniture and equipment 501,080 15,000 484,141 31,939
Infrastructure 2,051,727 - 263,958 1,787,769
CMHC houses 2,379,378 - 1,746,549 632,829
Band Housing 2,837,877 - 113,515 2,724,362

$ 16,026,179 $ 89,224 $ 7,705,032 $ 8,410,371

18. Prepaid expenses

2019 2018

Insurance $ 1,493 $ 1,134
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

19. Accumulated surplus

2019 2018

Restricted

Invested in tangible capital assets $ 4,987,825 $ 5,351,188
Funds held in trust by federal government 51,403 203,607
CMHC reserves 460,042 449,956
Equity in related entity (955,084) (996,051)

4,544,186 5,008,700

Unrestricted

Operating deficit (2,111,199) (2,396,121)

$ 2,432,987 $ 2,612,579

20. Indigenous Services Canada (ISC) reconciliation

2019 2018

Total per ISC confirmation $ 1,527,605 $ 1,729,691

Receivable (payable) previous year

   P&ID - Leadership & Fin Mgt Capacity Dev (18,500) -

Current year receivable (payable)

   Band Employee Benefits 3,015 (3,965)
   Institutional Care (9,209) 71

$ 1,502,911 $ 1,725,797
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

21. Government Transfers

2019

Operating Capital Total

Federal government transfers

Indigenous Services Canada (ISC) $ 1,253,730 $ 249,181 $ 1,502,911
Health Canada 309,760 - 309,760
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 146,000 26,470 172,470
First Nation GST 444,792 - 444,792

Total 2,154,282 275,651 2,429,933
Provincial government transfers 74,614 - 74,614

$ 2,228,896 $ 275,651 $ 2,504,547

2018

Operating Capital Total

Federal government transfers

Indigenous Services Canada (ISC) $ 1,348,516 $ 377,281 $ 1,725,797
Health Canada 191,947 - 191,947
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 83,268 23,999 107,267
First Nation GST 379,199 - 379,199

Total 2,002,930 401,280 2,404,210
Provincial government transfers 65,780 - 65,780

$ 2,068,710 $ 401,280 $ 2,469,990

23



Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

22. Unexpended funds - prior period

Funding agreements with Indigenous Services Canada and Health Canada stipulate that unexpended
funds in some programs can be carried forward and spent in the next fiscal year. In some instances First
Nations and / or funding agencies may revise the amount of unexpended funds when expenses are
resubmitted in a program or when the funding agency completes a review of the program. When there is
a variance from the prior year audited schedules any necessary adjustments are recorded in the current
year as either "Unexpended funds - unrecorded prior period" or as "Unexpended funds - prior period
adjustment".

2019 2018

Unexpended funds - unrecorded prior period

   Basic Needs $ 6,408 $ -

Unexpended funds - prior period adjustment

   Special Needs (6,159) -
   Home Care (2,135) -
   Brighter Futures (14,792) -
   Solvent Abuse (10,260) -
   Pre Natal (7,854) -
   NNADAP (33,584) -
   FASD (1,523) -
   Health Research & Engagement (4,096) -
   Health Planning & Management (15,879) -

$ (89,874) $ -

23. CMHC housing restricted funds

It is a requirement of the CMHC operating agreements that subsidy surplus, operating and replacement
reserves be established and monies be set aside in separate bank accounts. On March 31, 2019 the
reserve accounts were under-funded by $347,117 (2018 - $264,860). The amount required to be set
aside was $460,042 (2018 - $449,956) and the amount in the reserve bank account was $112,925 (2018
- $185,096). (The reserve amount of $460,042 is not reported separately on these financial statements,
but is included in equity). 
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Nekaneet First Nation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2019

24. Employee benefit obligations

Vacation and overtime
The vacation and overtime liability is comprised of the vacation and overtime that employees are deferring
to future years. Employees have either earned the benefits or are entitled to these benefits within the next
budgetary year.

Post-employment benefits
Nekaneet First Nation does not provide extended health, dental and life insurance benefits to retirees and
their surviving spouses and therefore has no obligations with regards to post employment benefits.

Pension plan
Nekaneet First Nation provides a defined contribution plan for eligible members of its staff. Members are
required to contribute 5% of their salary and Nekaneet First Nation contributes a matching portion.
Nekaneet First Nation does not have any other obligations with regards to the pension plan as at March
31, 2019.

25. Contractual Obligations

The nature of Nekaneet First Nation's activities can result in some multi-year contracts whereby it will be
obligated to make future payments when the goods or services are received. There are no significant
contractual obligations.

26. Contingent liabilities

Nekaneet First Nation has entered into contribution agreements with various federal government
departments. Funding received under these contribution agreements is subject to repayment if the First
Nation fails to comply with the terms and conditions of the agreements.

In addition, in the normal course of its operations, Nekaneet First Nation becomes involved in legal
actions. Some of these potential liabilities may become actual liabilities when one or more future events
occur or fail to occur. To the extent that the future event is likely to occur, and a reasonable estimate of
the loss can be made, an estimated liability is accrued and an expense recorded on Nekaneet First
Nation's financial statements.

The First Nation is contingently liable for a loan of New Horizon First Nation Administration Inc. with
Peace Hills Trust. As of December 31, 2018 there was an outstanding balance of $894,150 (2017 -
$845,970).

27. Related party transactions

Transactions with related parties are in the normal course of business and are for fair consideration that is
mutually agreed upon by the related parties. 
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28. Trusts under administration

Nekaneet First Nation acts as a trustee for a number of third parties, holding assets and administering
them on their behalf. These assets held in trust are not included on the statement of financial position as
assets of Nekaneet First Nation. Amounts held in trust at the year-end are the following:

2019 2018

Nekaneet Treaty Benefits Claims Trust $ 10,142,810 $ 10,879,248

$ 10,142,810 $ 10,879,248

29. Economic dependence

Nekaneet First Nation receives a major portion of its revenue pursuant to funding agreements with
Indigenous Services Canada and Health Canada.

30. Subsequent events

There are no subsequent events to report.

31. Budgeted figures

Budget figures for revenue from Indigenous Services Canada and Health Canada were provided by
Nekaneet First Nation and have been included in these financial statements for comparative purposes,
however budgets were not provided for expenses. 

Five year work plans were completed for Health Canada programming and budgets in other program
areas were reviewed subsequent to year end. 

32. Expenses by object

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Administration $ - $ 91,656 $ 72,841
Amortization - 478,004 481,324
Assistance - 215,867 254,322
Bad debts (recovery) - (9,531) 5,211
Christmas program - 8,903 12,335
Consultants and contractors - 518,145 258,818
Cultural programs - 164,265 55,566
Donations - 500 -
Elders - 13,470 550
Equipment - 63,091 74,262
Child Nutrition - 18,723 21,395
Fire safety - 5,500 -
First Nations Trust - - 12,800
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32. Expenses by object, continued

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Fuel - 29,080 23,079
Funeral assistance - 4,050 18,198
Governance - 26,289 21,770
Graduation, awards, prizes - 4,600 6,500
Home to work transition - - 2,661
Honorariums - 273,150 282,025
Insurance - 73,595 55,016
Interest and bank charges - 7,376 15,663
Janitorial - 750 4,571
Loan payments - - 365
Long-term debt - CMHC mortgage interest - 13,207 6,688
Long-term debt - interest - 251,794 282,433
Loss (gain) on investments - - 22,562
Per capita distribution - 177,252 146,663
Professional fees - 222,053 109,383
Program expenses - 62,348 39,527
Property taxes - 15,000 21,285
Registration fees - 8,512 4,189
Rent - equipment - 19,882 7,968
Rent - office - 4,200 1,750
Repairs and maintenance - 159,572 152,250
Septic pump outs - 1,858 12,670
Student allowance - 161,593 158,454
Student transportation - 6,565 4,920
Supplies - 167,971 55,560
Support for parents - - 2,260
Taxes - 14,485 -
Telephone - 18,297 18,719
Training - 39,991 39,775
Travel - medical transportation - 28,624 14,977
Travel, meetings, per diems - 178,088 108,528
Tuition - 107,106 85,226
Utilities - 54,715 67,540
Wages and benefits - 738,740 688,576
Unexpended funds - unrecorded in prior
period (Note 22) - 6,408 -
Transfer to capital assets - (44,126) (89,224)

$ - $ 4,401,618 $ 3,641,951
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33. Segmented information

As previously discussed in note 2 (j) the First Nation conducts its business through reportable segments
as follows:

1) Indigenous Services Canada (ISC)
Claims and Indian Government: 
Costs associated with the negotiation, settlement and implementation of specific claims and
comprehensive land claim agreements as well as special claims and self-government agreements.

Community Development: 
Costs to acquire, construct, operate and maintain basic community facilities and services such as
water and sewage, roads, electrification, schools, community buildings and fire protection.  Also
costs associated with ensuring that these facilities and community services meet recognized
standards and are comparable to the services provided to nearby communities by provincial and
municipal governments.

Economic Development: 
Costs associated with economic development planning, proposal development, and planning and
implementation of ongoing activities and one-time projects.  Also costs to pursue economic
objectives in areas such as the employment of community members, the development of community-
owned and community member businesses, the development of land and resources under
community control, access to economic opportunities on land and resources beyond community
control, investment promotion, and research and advocacy.

Education: 
Costs to support First Nation and Inuit communities in expressing, preserving, developing and
promoting their cultural heritage, through the establishment and operation of First Nation and Inuit
cultural education centres and programs.  Costs to provide eligible students living on reserve and
eligible Inuit with elementary/secondary education programs and services including instructional
services in federal, provincial, band-operated schools, or a private/independent school (recognized
by the province in which the school is located as an elementary/secondary institution), and student
support services such as transportation, accommodation, guidance and counselling services.  Costs
associated with ISC's First Nations and Inuit Youth Employment Strategy to develop and enhance
essential employability skills, such as communication, problem solving, and working with others,
expose youth to a variety of career options, and promote the benefits of education as being key to
labor market participation.  Also, costs to support eligible First Nation and Inuit students to access
education opportunities at the post-secondary level and supports the development and delivery of
college and university level courses for First Nation and Inuit students, and research and
development on First Nation and Inuit education. Costs for the provision of special education
services and programs and costs to provide internet access, information technology equipment,
technical support and training to students and school staff.

Indian Government Support: 
Costs to support the further development of competent, stable, legitimate, and accountable
community governments by strengthening First Nations and Inuit governance and by funding
initiatives which address needs in the areas of professional and institutional development at the local
level and at the level of emerging regional and national organizations.  Also, costs to enable tribal
councils to provide advisory services such as financial management, band government, economic
development, community planning, technical services to the member First Nations and to defray the
costs of administering programs on behalf of member communities and to provide funding for
equivalent advisory services to large First Nations which are not affiliated with a tribal council.
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33. Segmented information, continued

Land Management: 
Costs associated to the administration of land transactions on designated and non-designated lands
under sections 53 and 60 of the Indian Act.

Social Development: 
First Nations people, like other Canadian citizens, are responsible for managing their own affairs and
maintaining themselves to the extent that their resources permit.  Some individuals and families are
unable to provide for themselves and their dependents.  Situations therefore exist in which
assistance must be available to community members in need. Income Assistance is one type of
income supplement available to eligible persons.  Other income supports include Old Age Security,
Child Tax Benefits, etc.

Registration & Membership: 
Costs associated with the maintenance of the membership list of the First Nation including new
registrations. The registration clerk maintains a record of everyone who is registered as an Indian
under the Indian Act.

Governance and Institutions of Government:
Costs associated with Governance and Institution of Government activities.

2) Health Programs (FNIHB)
Health Canada provides funding for costs associated with the development of safe and healthy
communities in the following areas:

Children and Youth; Mental Health and Addictions; Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention;
Communicable Disease Control; Environmental Health and Research Component; Primary Care;
Non-Insured Health Benefits; Health Governance and Infrastructure; Capital; Treatment Centres;
Aboriginal Health Transition Fund; Headquarter projects.

3) Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC)
Non-Profit On-Reserve Housing Program (Section 95); Residential Rehabilitation Assistance
Program (RRAP); Home Adaptations for Seniors' Independence Program (HASI); Shelter
Enhancement Program; Housing Internship Initiative for First Nations and Inuit Youth

4) Band programs
Other programs that vary based on own source revenue.  These could include First Nations Trust,
Tribal Council, CDC, Band Trust Funds and other business ventures.  These outside revenue
sources are used to fund programs such as recreational or cultural activities for the benefit of
membership that are not funded by government agencies.
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Schedule #1

Nekaneet First Nation
Community Development

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue  

Indigenous Services Canada - fixed $ 172,797 $ 172,797 $ 188,122
Indigenous Services Canada - flexible 197,281 197,281 377,281
FHQ Tribal Council - 9,900 9,900
Unexpended funds transferred - prior year - 256,268 28,248
Deferred revenue - prior - 3,921 3,819
Deferred revenue - current - (64,336) (3,921)
Rental Income - 8,938 15,368

370,078 584,769 618,817

Expenses  

Consultants and contractors - 281,035 91,389
Equipment - - 38,212
Fuel - 19,055 7,571
Honorariums - 100 -
Insurance - 46,001 51,364
Interest and bank charges - 1,302 1,016
Janitorial - 300 721
Loan payments - - 365
Long-term debt - payments (principle & interest) - 510,468 407,788
Long-term debt - principle repayment - (379,881) (274,520)
Registration fees - - 175
Rent - equipment - 16,099 1,904
Repairs and maintenance - 113,378 101,560
Septic pump outs - 1,858 12,250
Supplies - 102,764 2,183
Telephone - 3,577 6,122
Training - 1,057 3,372
Travel, meetings, per diems - 8,458 8,599
Utilities - 50,191 62,173
Wages and benefits - 58,857 68,051
Transfer to capital assets - - (38,212)

- 834,619 552,083

Current surplus (deficit) before unexpended funds 370,078 (249,850) 66,734

Unexpended funds

Unexpended funds transferred to deferred revenue - - (256,268)

Current deficit before transfers 370,078 (249,850) (189,534)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Schedule #1, continued

Nekaneet First Nation
Community Development

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Transfers

Transfer - Band Programs - 127,000 370,735
Transfer - Amortization - (412,666) (413,916)

Current deficit $ 370,078 $ (535,516) $ (232,715)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Schedule #2

Nekaneet First Nation
Economic Development
Schedule of Operations

For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue  

Indigenous Services Canada - fixed $ 32,000 $ 32,000 $ 42,400
FHQ Tribal Council - 33,369 33,369

32,000 65,369 75,769

Expenses  

Consultants and contractors - 42,750 42,400
Professional fees - 12,339 -
Travel, meetings, per diems - 4,169 -

- 59,258 42,400

Current surplus $ 32,000 $ 6,111 $ 33,369

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Schedule #3

Nekaneet First Nation
Education

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue  

Indigenous Services Canada - fixed $ 488,927 $ 488,927 $ 534,536
Indigenous Services Canada - set - 5,000 -
Unexpended funds transferred - prior year - 11,124 -

488,927 505,051 534,536

Expenses  

Administration - 17,267 33,651
Child Nutrition - 18,723 21,395
Consultants and contractors - 9,655 1,300
Cultural programs - 6,067 -
Elders - 200 300
Fuel - 8,025 15,112
Graduation, awards, prizes - 4,600 6,500
Insurance - 862 414
Long-term debt - payments (principle & interest) - 20,000 30,000
Long-term debt - principle repayment - (19,535) (28,284)
Professional fees - 8,000 -
Program expenses - - 850
Registration fees - 3,468 2,876
Rent - equipment - - 322
Repairs and maintenance - 7,257 1,010
Student allowance - 161,593 158,454
Student transportation - 6,565 4,920
Supplies - 8,373 7,828
Training - 2,005 1,440
Travel, meetings, per diems - 4,688 3,306
Tuition - 106,486 77,492
Wages and benefits - 209,921 216,243

- 584,220 555,129

Current deficit before unexpended funds 488,927 (79,169) (20,593)

Unexpended funds

Unexpended funds transferred to deferred revenue - (1,778) (11,124)

Current deficit before transfers 488,927 (80,947) (31,717)

Transfers

Transfer - Band Programs - 14,000 60,000
Transfer - Amortization - (20,500) (20,500)

Current surplus (deficit) $ 488,927 $ (87,447) $ 7,783

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Schedule #4

Nekaneet First Nation
Indian Government Support

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue  

Indigenous Services Canada - grant $ 232,032 $ 232,032 $ 232,267
Indigenous Services Canada - fixed 1,441 1,441 3,632
Indigenous Services Canada - set 2,254 2,254 6,219
ISC - current year receivable (payable) - 3,015 (3,965)
Other revenue - 2,184 -

235,727 240,926 238,153

Expenses  

Consultants and contractors - 22,540 40,934
Elders - 100 -
Fuel - 1,550 110
Honorariums - 271,450 274,400
Insurance - 3,165 434
Interest and bank charges - 941 2,806
Professional fees - 100,639 86,654
Registration fees - 1,252 500
Rent - equipment - 783 1,992
Repairs and maintenance - 6,726 2,749
Supplies - 1,239 3,112
Telephone - 5,181 4,327
Training - - 550
Travel, meetings, per diems - 48,097 66,792
Wages and benefits - 74,106 58,012
Transfer to capital assets - - (2,749)

- 537,769 540,623

Current deficit before transfers 235,727 (296,843) (302,470)

Transfers

Transfer - Band programs - - 108,796
Transfer - Amortization - (7,963) (20,406)

Current deficit $ 235,727 $ (304,806) $ (214,080)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Schedule #5

Nekaneet First Nation
Social Development

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue  

Indigenous Services Canada - fixed $ 27,255 $ 27,255 $ 38,758
Indigenous Services Canada - set 25,354 25,353 13,287
Indigenous Services Canada - flexible 206,830 206,830 254,689
ISC - current year receivable (payable) - (9,208) 71
Unexpended funds transferred - prior year - 12,722 -

259,439 262,952 306,805

Expenses  

Administration - - 3,948
Assistance - 130,128 205,964
Consultants and contractors - 2,440 650
Cultural programs - - 2,000
Fuel - 400 -
Home to work transition - - 2,661
Interest and bank charges - 237 480
Professional fees - 4,188 -
Program expenses - 25,964 15,670
Registration fees - 701 -
Supplies - 11,380 3,829
Support for parents - - 2,260
Telephone - 190 -
Training - 12,229 16,131
Travel, meetings, per diems - 3,678 1,467
Tuition - - 5,034
Wages and benefits - 45,882 55,428

- 237,417 315,522

Current surplus (deficit) before unexpended funds 259,439 25,535 (8,717)

Unexpended funds

Unexpended funds transferred to deferred revenue - (30,176) (14,608)

Current deficit $ 259,439 $ (4,641) $ (23,325)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Schedule #6

Nekaneet First Nation
Indian Registration

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue  

Indigenous Services Canada - fixed $ 5,000 $ 5,000 $ 5,000

Expenses  

Supplies - 198 139
Travel, meetings, per diems - 890 332
Wages and benefits - 4,217 4,529

- 5,305 5,000

Current deficit $ 5,000 $ (305) $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Schedule #7

Nekaneet First Nation
Governance and Institutions of Government

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue  

Indigenous Services Canada - fixed $ 131,435 $ 131,435 $ 18,500
Indigenous Services Canada - set - - 15,000
ISC - prior period revenue (recovery) - (18,500) -
Other revenue - 2,114 -
Unexpended funds transferred - prior year - 18,500 -

131,435 133,549 33,500

Expenses  

Administration - 2,000 -
Consultants and contractors - 1,200 15,000
Cultural programs - 2,220 -
Equipment - 21,100 -
Professional fees - 70,840 -
Repairs and maintenance - 763 -
Supplies - 300 -
Travel, meetings, per diems - 19,088 -
Wages and benefits - 17,352 -
Transfer to capital assets - (2,636) (15,000)

- 132,227 -

Current surplus before unexpended funds 131,435 1,322 33,500

Unexpended funds

Unexpended funds transferred to deferred revenue - - (18,500)

Current surplus $ 131,435 $ 1,322 $ 15,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Schedule #8

Nekaneet First Nation
Health Services

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue  

Health Canada $ 309,760 $ 309,760 $ 253,313
Health Canada - prior period revenue (recovery) - - (61,366)
Unexpended funds transferred - prior year - - 74,755
Administration fees - 27,604 -

309,760 337,364 266,702

Expenses  

Administration - 27,604 22,871
Consultants and contractors - 53,355 19,132
Cultural programs - 33,075 15,874
Elders - 1,350 -
Equipment - 500 -
Honorariums - 1,600 6,925
Insurance - 245 -
Janitorial - 250 450
Professional fees - 787 8,200
Program expenses - 10,934 9,919
Registration fees - 242 -
Repairs and maintenance - 2,583 2,316
Supplies - 15,380 12,187
Telephone - 6,533 7,856
Training - 9,000 16,619
Travel - medical transportation - 28,624 14,977
Travel, meetings, per diems - 26,415 13,315
Utilities - 4,525 3,864
Wages and benefits - 110,323 99,230

- 333,325 253,735

Current surplus before unexpended funds 309,760 4,039 12,967

Unexpended funds

Unexpended funds transferred to deferred revenue - (31,269) (91,382)

Current deficit $ 309,760 $ (27,230) $ (78,415)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

38



Schedule #9

Nekaneet First Nation
CMHC Operations

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue  

CMHC - subsidy $ - $ 69,025 $ 53,468
CMHC - RRAP - 26,470 23,999
CMHC - HIIFNIY - 7,290 -
CMHC - other - 69,685 29,800
Interest revenue - 1,854 1,865
Rental Income - 12,908 44,730

- 187,232 153,862

Expenses  

Consultants and contractors - 30,917 -
Equipment - - 4,050
Insurance - 21,840 1,900
Interest and bank charges - 147 618
Long-term debt - CMHC mortgage interest - 13,207 6,688
Professional fees - 1,360 7,000
Repairs and maintenance - 11,101 17,802
Septic pump outs - - 420
Supplies - 13,254 21,500
Travel, meetings, per diems - 2,083 1,437
Wages and benefits - 61,638 58,320

- 155,547 119,735

Current surplus before transfers - 31,685 34,127

Transfers

Transfer - Amortization - (18,081) (18,081)

Current surplus $ - $ 13,604 $ 16,046

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Schedule #10

Nekaneet First Nation
Band Programs

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue  

Funds held in trust by Federal Government $ - $ 82,090 $ 170,915
FHQ Tribal Council - 306,667 179,738
First Nation GST - 444,792 379,199
First Nations Trust - 167,592 165,416
Specific Claims Settlement Trust - 332,927 348,117
Living Sky Community Development Corporation - 23,727 -
Government of Saskatchewan - Tax Rebate - 74,614 65,780
FHQ Developments Ltd - - 15,000
Keseechiwan Holdings - monetary benefit agreement - 55,377 -
Rental Income - 3,200 -
Interest revenue - 37 18
Other revenue - 375,408 51,076
Administration fees - 55,887 80,842
Deferred revenue - prior - 36,993 240,812
Deferred revenue - current - (172,764) (36,993)
Unexpended funds - prior period adjustment (Note 22) - 99,676 -
Write down of old payables - 76,813 -

- 1,963,036 1,659,920

Expenses  

Administration - 44,785 12,371
Assistance - 85,739 48,358
Bad debts (recovery) - (9,531) 5,211
Christmas program - 8,903 12,335
Consultants and contractors - 74,253 48,013
Cultural programs - 122,903 37,692
Donations - 500 -
Elders - 11,820 250
Equipment - 41,491 32,000
Fire safety - 5,500 -
First Nations Trust - - 12,800
Fuel - 50 285
Funeral assistance - 4,050 18,198
Governance - 26,289 21,770
Honorariums - - 700
Insurance - 1,482 904
Interest and bank charges - 4,750 10,740
Janitorial - 200 3,400
Long-term debt - interest - 120,743 147,449
Loss (gain) on investments - - 22,562
Per capita distribution - 177,252 146,663
Professional fees - 23,900 7,529
Program expenses - 25,450 13,088

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Schedule #10, continued

Nekaneet First Nation
Band Programs

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Property taxes - 15,000 21,285
Registration fees - 2,849 638
Rent - equipment - 3,000 3,750
Rent - office - 4,200 1,750
Repairs and maintenance - 17,763 26,814
Supplies - 15,085 4,782
Taxes - 14,485 -
Telephone - 2,816 415
Training - 15,699 1,664
Travel, meetings, per diems - 60,522 13,279
Tuition - 620 2,700
Utilities - - 1,503
Wages and benefits - 156,444 128,763
Transfer to capital assets - (41,491) (33,263)
Unexpended funds - unrecorded in prior period (Note 22) - 6,408 -

- 1,043,929 776,398

Current surplus before transfers - 919,107 883,522

Transfers

Transfer - Indian Government Support - - (108,796)
Transfer - Community Development - (127,000) (370,735)
Transfer - Education - (14,000) (60,000)
Transfer - Amortization - (18,794) (8,421)

Current surplus $ - $ 759,313 $ 335,570

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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Schedule #11

Nekaneet First Nation
Amortization

Schedule of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2019

2019 2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue $ - $ - $ -

Expenses  

Public Works - 412,666 413,916
Education - 20,500 20,500
Band Support - 7,963 20,406
CMHC Operations - 18,081 18,081
Band Programs - 18,794 8,421

- 478,004 481,324

Current deficit before transfers - (478,004) (481,324)

Transfers

Transfer - Programs - 478,004 481,324

Current surplus $ - $ - $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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From: MervinPhillips
Sent: March 4, 2020 4:06 PM
To: Selena Taypotat
Subject: RE: Nekaneet Appeal Body

Selena, 

Please forward a copy of the Band Council Resolution appointing the Nekaneet Appeal Body. 

Yours truly, 
Mervin C. Phillips 

Phillips & Co. 
Legal Professional Corporation
Barristers & Solicitors
2100 Scarth Street, Regina, Sask. S4P 2H6
Tel: #1 (306) 569-0811
Fax: #1 (306) 565-3434

This e-mail may contain confidential information which may be protected by legal privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, please immediately notify us by 
reply e-mail or by telephone (collect if necessary), delete this e-mail and destroy any copies.

From: Selena Taypotat <sel_taypotat@hotmail.com> 
Sent: March 4, 2020 3:53 PM 
To: MervinPhillips <MervinPhillips@phillipsco.ca> 
Subject: Fw: Nekaneet Appeal Body 

Mervin, 

As per your faxed letter dated March 4/2020; here are the following appeal body names and contact information. 

Crystal R. Eninew (email: crystal@eninewlaw.ca; phone 306-764-2144) 

John Hill (email: john@johnhilllaw.com; phone 306-537-7990) 

Lisa Abbott (email: Lisa@abbottlaw.ca; phone 306-651-5858)  

Regards, 

Selena Taypotat 
Band Manager 
Nekaneet First Nation 
1-306-662-3660 (w)
1-306-662-0870 (c)
1-306-662-4160 (f)
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1992 CarswellNfld 167 
Newfoundland Supreme Court, Trial Division 

Bambrick, Re 

1992 CarswellNfld 167, [1992] N.J. No. 323, 101 Nfld. & P.E.I.R. 181, 10 Admin. L.R. (2d) 112, 321 A.P.R. 181, 37 
A.C.W.S. (3d) 582 

Re The Workers’ Compensation Act, S.N. 1983, c. 48 as amended and decision of 
Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal 

Re JAMES J. BAMBRICK 

Puddester J. 

Heard: October 25 and 29, 1990 
Judgment: September 30, 1992 

Docket: Doc. St. J. 2097/90 

 

Counsel: David G.L. Buffett, for James J. Bambrick. 

Brian Casey, for Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal. 

Glen Roebothan and Susan Nickerson-Graham, for Workers’ Compensation Commission. 

Subject: Public; Civil Practice and Procedure 

 

Headnote 

 

Administrative Law --- Practice and procedure 

Practice and procedure — Standing — Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal — Tribunal not being person with “an 

interest” under s. 21.9(4) of Workers’ Compensation Act — Tribunal having residual discretion in such procedural matters 

but confined by common law principles of natural justice to appearing for purposes of explaining record or where called as 

witness by tribunal or party to appeal — The Workers’ Compensation Act, 1983, S.N. 1983, c. 48, s. 21.9(4). 

A worker appealed to the Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal (the “tribunal”) from a decision of the Workers’ 

Compensation Commission (the “commission”). In a preliminary ruling, the tribunal held that the commission was entitled to 

be present and to participate in the proceedings as an interested party. 

The worker appealed from this ruling, and the hearing of the appeal to the tribunal was adjourned pending the determination 

of that appeal. 

Held: 

The appeal was allowed and the ruling of the tribunal was set aside. 

In terms of s. 21.9(4) of The Workers’ Compensation Act (Nfld.), the commission is not “a person with an interest in the 

proceeding before the Appeal Tribunal” and was therefore not entitled as of right to be a party to the appeal. 

By virtue of s. 3(3) of The Interpretation Act (Nfld.) rules for the construction of statutes not inconsistent with the provisions 

of the Act itself were expressly preserved. One of those common law rules of construction is that statutory provisions are to 

be interpreted as not derogating from the general law, except where such an intention is manifest. While this principle of 

interpretation has to be read in the light of the court’s obligation under s. 17 of The Interpretation Act to treat all legislation as 

remedial and to give it “such fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation as best ensures the attainment” of its 

“objects” “according to its true intent, meaning and spirit”, nevertheless, existing common law is relevant in the discerning of 

legislative objectives. 
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In this regard, the common law position is that adjudicative tribunals such as the commission have no claim to be parties to 

appeals or judicial review applications to the courts from their decisions except where an issue as to their jurisdiction is raised 

or for the purposes of explaining the record of their proceedings. 

As far as the decisions of the commission on questions of jurisdiction were subject to direct appeal to the court, there seemed 

little place for the principal exceptional situation to come into play in this statutory context. In addition, there was no 

suggestion that the commission’s claim to party status could be justified on the basis of an allegation of jurisdictional error or 

a need to explain the record. Indeed, the role of explaining the record was one that could be undertaken as a witness rather 

than as a party. 

There was no basis for interpreting s. 21.9(4) as including the commission in the category of those with “an interest”. In 

particular, s. 21.9(6)’s creation of an obligation on the tribunal to notify the commission and “any person who appeared 

before it” of its decision on an appeal is supportive of an interpretation that s. 21.9(4) does not embrace the commission as  a 

person with an interest entitled to appear before the tribunal. Viewed from a functional perspective, there was no reason to 

interpret the commission as a person having “an interest” in terms of s. 21.9(4). 

The ability of the commission’s board of directors to issue directives on matters of policy and interpretation before the 

tribunal decided an appeal and to review a tribunal decision from these standpoints after a decision has been rendered did not 

lead to the conclusion that the commission had “an interest” and was entitled to be heard on all appeals. Rather, these 

provisions could be seen as a comprehensive legislative scheme with respect to the relationship between the commission and 

the tribunal, a fact underscored by the undesirability of the commission’s board of directors acting as a review authority over 

decisions of the tribunal in which the commission had participated as a party. 

The fact that the commission’s actions in future cases might be affected by decisions of the tribunal placed the commission in 

no different position from other tribunals the decisions of which were subject to reversal on appeal. Moreover, the status of 

the commission as the trustee of the funds out of which workers’ compensation was paid, while differentiating the 

commission from many other tribunals, did not in itself constitute a sufficient interest. The commission’s financial interest 

was in fact given ample recognition by the directive and review powers that the statute conferred on it with respect to appeals 

to the tribunal. 

Finally, while there might be some limited scope for commission participation in tribunal proceedings with respect to issues 

of jurisdiction and explanation of its record, what need or entitlement there was to such participation did not involve the 

categorization of the commission as having “an interest”. Those interests were ones that could be represented in an amicus 

curiae, intervenor, or witness capacity. 

The fact that the legislature conferred on the tribunal the power to make rules of procedure and evidence subject to approval 

by the Lieutenant Governor in Council did not preclude the existence of a general residual discretion with respect to 

procedural matters. Nonetheless, any such procedures, unless mandated by statute or properly promulgated subordinate 

legislation, had to comply with the basic principles of natural justice and fairness. 

In this regard, the basic premise of the common law was opposed to the commission having standing or a right of audience 

with respect to appeals from its own decisions. This premise was not undercut in this context by virtue of the fact that there 

might not be an advocate of the employer’s position or a representative of the public interest before the tribunal. In such 

matters, in the absence of any specific recognition of the need for such representatives or public advocacy role, the Office of 

the Attorney General had the capacity to fulfil that function and it was not one that could be carried out by the commission. 

In that capacity, the Office of the Attorney General was also in a position to present further relevant evidence not otherwise 

known to the tribunal or likely to be presented by the parties. 

Indeed, it was difficult to concede how this “balancing” role was one that could be played by the commission in anything 

other than an adversarial capacity, a status that the commission itself had disavowed. Moreover, such a role was one that was 

not consistent with the notion of someone appearing in a matter as amicus curiae. While explanation by the commission of its 

record came within this concept, there was a contradiction involved in the situation of the commission acting as amicus 

curiae to adduce further evidence in support of its own decision. Indeed, even as a participant in relation to jurisdictional 

questions, the status of the commission was more in the nature of an intervenor than that of amicus curiae. 

To the extent that the commission has the limited role of explaining its record and of giving evidence when called by the 
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tribunal or a party, it was advisable, given the supervisorial role of the board of directors, that in general those functions be 

fulfilled by the commission’s subordinate staff and not members of the board of directors. However, individual circumstances 

could dictate otherwise and so a definite limitation could not be impressed on the commission’s discretion in relation to such 

matters. 

Appeal from preliminary ruling of Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal as to participatory entitlements of Workers’ 

Compensation Commission in appeal from its own decision. 

 

Puddester J.: 

 

1      This proceeding, and another one heard at the same time raising identical issues, come before the Court by way of 

appeal from a preliminary ruling of the Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal (the “Tribunal”). 

 

2      James J. Bambrick appealed to the Tribunal from a decision of the Workers’ Compensation Commission (the 

“Commission”) respecting his entitlement to benefit under The Workers’ Compensation Act, 1983, S.N. 1983, c. 48 and 

regulations made thereunder (the “Act”). 

 

3      Upon the convening of the appeal hearing before the Tribunal, the Commission was present and represented by an 

officer of the Commission and by counsel. The appellant objected to the Commission having any status or role at the appeal 

proceeding. The Tribunal ruled that the Commission was entitled to be present and to participate in the proceedings as an 

interested party. The appellant then requested an adjournment of the proceedings in order to consult counsel and if so 

advised, to take an appeal from the Tribunal’s preliminary ruling. The Tribunal allowed that application, and adjourned the 

proceedings before it pending the outcome of such appeal, if taken. 

 

4      The decision now, in this Court, is thus concerned with the appeal of the preliminary ruling of the Tribunal. 

 

Preliminary Matters 

 

1. Existence of Two Proceedings 

 

5      Following the Tribunal’s adjournment of the hearing of Mr. Bambrick’s appeal, and on the same day, an identical 

situation arose at a session of the Tribunal convened to hear an appeal brought by another worker, James J. Murphy. There as 

well, Mr. Murphy objected to participation by the Commission, and the Tribunal overruled the objection. That proceeding 

was likewise then adjourned to allow Mr. Murphy to take advice and also to bring an appeal to this Court. This was in fact 

done, and the matter bears Court number 1990 St. J. No. 2098. 

 

6      Both proceedings in this Court have since been dealt with together. Particularly, with the consent of all parties, the two 

matters were argued at the same time. However, while the relevant facts and issues before the Court in both proceedings are 

identical, the matters are not consolidated under the Rules of Court. Therefore, it is appropriatethat separate reasons for 

judgment be filed in each proceeding. I shall provide detailed reasons for my decision now, in this first-numbered proceeding 

involving Mr. Bambrick’s appeal; the decision to be filed in matter No. 2098 will incorporate by reference the reasons set out 

here. 

 

2. Timing of the Appeal 

 

7      As noted, the matters now brought before the Court involve the appeal of a preliminary ruling made by the Tribunal. No 

issue was raised by any party as to the propriety of so proceeding, as opposed to awaiting the final decision or ruling of the 

Tribunal on the merits of Mr. Bambrick’s appeal, and bringing to the Court any appeal then considered appropriate. 

 

8      As will be mentioned again below, both the Tribunal and the Commission confirm the anticipated benefit generally to 
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be derived from the decision of the Court in this matter, and from any express or implied guidance associated with it. While 

presumably such benefit could equally arise on disposition of an appeal brought following a final decision of the Tribunal, in 

the absence of any suggested improprietyin dealing with the matter now, the Court proceeds on that basis. 

 

3. Parties Before the Court 

 

9      The appellant, Mr. Bambrick, was represented before the Court by his counsel. The Commission, and the Tribunal, were 

also separately represented, and heard in argument, through counsel. Since the essence of the appeal before the Court 

concerns the entitlement of the Commission to be heard on an appeal before the Tribunal, it is ironic that this same issue is 

one which, in theory, could be said to arise in turn with respect to the right of the Tribunal itself to be heard in this Court. 

 

10      However, the propriety, or otherwise, of such appearance by the Tribunal was not raised by any of the participants. 

Indeed, in light of the nature of the written and oral submissions made, it must be taken that for purposes of the disposition of 

these particular appeals, all participants accepted the propriety of, and consented to, the participation of each of the other 

parties, including the Tribunal. Therefore the Court is not called upon to rule on the entitlement of the Tribunal to be heard 

here. Limited to this particular proceeding, the Court proceeds on the basis that the Tribunal is properly before it. 

 

11      In addition to the authority of the Court under its own, separate jurisdiction (statutory and otherwise), by s. 25 of The 

Workers’ Compensation Act itself, the Court is expressly given the power 

... to direct that any person interested, or, where there is a class of persons interested, any one or more persons as 

representatives of such class, shall be notified of the hearing and such persons are entitled to be heard. 

Under this provision the Court ordered that notice of this proceeding be given to certain employer and employee “umbrella” 

organizations, and as well to the Attorney General for the Province. Although this was done, they did not appear or 

participate before the Court. 

 

Issues 

 

12      In identifying the issues, it assists to set out the basis of the appeal as contained in the Notice of Appeal filed by the 

appellant, together with the remedy sought from the Court. The Notice of Appeal specifies the grounds of appeal as follows: 

1. That the Worker’s [sic] Compensation Appeals Tribunal erred in law and/or on a question of jurisdiction when it 

determined that the Commission had standing before it and/or were a person or party interested and thereby were 

permitted to be represented at and to participate in the Appeal. 

2. That the Worker’s Compensation Appeals Tribunal ruling as it did, misinterpreted the provisions of the Worker’s 

Compensation Act generally, and in particular, Section 21.9(4) of the said Act and its ruling is contrary to the provisions 

of the Act and the scheme of the legislation.  

3. That the Workers’ Compensation Appeals Tribunal in ruling as it did has compromised the integrity of and the 

impartiality of proceedings before it and of proceedings before the Commission. 

The relief requested is set out in the following words: 

... the Appellant will ask that the Order, decision or ruling of the Worker’s [sic] Compensation Appeals Tribunal be 

reversed and request an Order or declaration to the effect that the Worker’s Compensation Commission does not have 

standing at an appeal of the Worker’s Compensation Appeals Tribunal from its own decision and an Order or 

declaration to the effect that the said Commission is not a party or person interested for the purposes of the hearing and 

is not thereby entitled to be heard at the hearing and is not an appropriateparty at or participant in the hearing for the 

foregoing reasons as well as for the reason that natural justice is thereby compromised. 

 

13      The essence of the matter before the Court is whether the Tribunal erred in deciding that the Commission could appear 
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and participate before the Tribunal in any respect as, or on a basis equivalent to, a “party”. From the Notice of Appeal, the 

written briefs, and the arguments of the participants before the Court, this question is approachedfrom two perspectives. 

 

14      Firstly, did the Tribunal err in law in holding that the Commission was an “interested” person within the meaning of 

the Act, and thus, by the Act itself, a person authorized to participate in the hearing before the Tribunal? 

 

15      The second perspective is whether, even if the Tribunal did err in interpreting the legislation, or the law generally, as 

creating the Commission an “interested” person, nevertheless did the Tribunal otherwise have the authority to grant 

“standing” to the Commission as, or on a basis equivalent to, a “party”? (As will be mentioned again later, on this second 

aspect the parties are agreed that the question before the Court is whether, in principle, the Tribunal may grant standing to the 

Commission as a party. For purposes of this appeal the parties agree that the Court is not concerned with whether, if such 

authorityexisted, it was properly exercised in the particular circumstances of this case.) 

 

16      Before turning to the facts and the law, there are two other points concerning the issues which can most usefully be set 

out here, and which need to be kept in mind in considering what follows. 

 

17      Firstly, the parties have expressly restricted the scope of their submissions to circumstances of “participation” by the 

Commission before the Tribunal. The Court is not here called on to decide whether the Commission may otherwise “attend” 

before the Tribunal, as a spectator so to speak, but taking no role, evidentiary or otherwise, before that body. 

 

18      Secondly, before the Court the parties have sometimes referred to the “standing” of the Commission. However, this 

has not been restricted to the formal concept of “locus standi” in the sense of the right to challenge, by way of appeal or 

otherwise, the decision of a lower tribunal. Indeed, in the case of the Commission’s role on a hearing before the Tribunal it is 

meaningless to contemplate the Commission impugning its own proceedings or disposition as the lower tribunal in the 

process. Rather, the question before the Court here is as to the ability of the Commission in law to “be heard” before the 

superior tribunal. 

 

19      As to this, and again as will be mentioned later, all three participants before the Court appear to concede that it is not 

appropriate for the Commission to be “heard” on an unrestricted basis, in the full sense of a “party”, before the Tribunal. 

Thus, while the appellant submits that the Commission should not participate at all, both the Commission and the Tribunal 

agree that there should be some limitation on the Commission’s participation when compared to that of a person traditionally 

considered to be a “party” in the full sense, such as, for example, the appellant Mr. Bambrick himself. 

 

Relevant Facts 

 

20      The few facts directly relevant to the disposition of this appeal are not in dispute. They can be concisely set out in the 

language of the affidavit filed in this proceeding by the Commission’s Executive Director of Policy and Special Services. The 

affidavit says in part: 

3. THAT on March 17, 1988, the Board of Directors [of the Commission] issued the following Directive: 

That the Commission be represented and participate, not as advocate but as witness, at proceedings of the Appeals 

Tribunal with the intent to ensure, that the Tribunal receives a full account of the commission’s interpretations of 

the case, the Commission’s policies, and of the Act pertaining to the case under appeal. 

4. THAT on April 27, 1988, the Board of Directors moved that the Board Directive of March 17, 1988 be rescinded due 

to concerns that implementation of the Directive instructing Commission representatives to appear at all Tribunal 

Hearings would result in the creation of an adversarial situation which is foreign to and inconsistent with 

Newfoundland’s system of compensation which had been in effect since 1951. 

5. THAT the Workers’ Compensation Commission has, in practice, always been available to provide information to the 

Tribunal on matters of law and/or policy at the request of Panel Members. 



Bambrick, Re, 1992 CarswellNfld 167  

1992 CarswellNfld 167, [1992] N.J. No. 323, 101 Nfld. & P.E.I.R. 181... 

 

 Copyright © Thomson Reuters Canada Limited or its licensors (excluding individual court documents). All rights reserved. 6 

 

6. THAT the present Tribunal, whose Members assumed office on or about June 16, 1989, has taken the position, as set 

out in the Tribunal’s Third Annual Report dated 1989, that the Commission is a party to an appeal under the legislation 

and it is my opinion that the Tribunal wants to have Commission representatives at Tribunal Hearings. The relevant 

portions of the Annual Report are attached as Exhibit “C” to this my affidavit. 

7. THAT the Board of Directors, in an effort to respond to the need of the Tribunal to have members of the Commission 

present at hearings, passed the following motion on May 2, 1990: 

The preference is that the Commission be represented at Tribunal Hearings. This will be carried out with the 

understanding that this is subject to practical considerations and to the issues and policies under review. 

8. THAT on May 10, 1990, the Commission advised the Tribunal of the Board’s motion by letter stating: 

The Board of Directors has directed that the Commission attend Tribunal Hearings insofar as it is practical to do so. 

Attendance will be on an amicus curiae basis for the primary purpose of providing any information or clarification 

that the Hearing Panel may request. 

The Commission will neither advocate for nor against the worker or employer and will not assume the role of 

defending its decision. 

 

21      That portion of the Tribunal’s Annual Report referred to in paragraph 6 of the Affidavit is as follows: 

Lack of Employer Participation 

It is notable that in all but very few cases neither the employer nor the Workers’ Compensation Commission is 

represented. This is undoubtedlydue to the fact that employers often incorrectly perceive that the Workers’ 

Compensation Commission is representing their interests at the hearing. It has been recommended by the Workers’ 

Compensation Act Review Committee that an employer/worker advocacysystem might be an appropriate system for 

hearings particularly where the employer or the Workers’ Compensation Commission is not represented. 

The Commission has declined to appear at hearings to defend their decisions, taking the position, that they would lose 

their impartial character if they did. The Tribunal usually is presented with appellants arguing one side of a case. It does 

not, generally speaking, have the benefit of hearing counter arguments. It must be understood the decisions are made in 

the vast majority of cases after hearings without the participation of either the employer or the Workers’ Compensation 

Commission. 

It should be realized that the Tribunal does not have the resources to be as investigatory as the Ontario Tribunal with its 

immense legal, investigative and administrative staff and that while it must analyze critically the arguments that are 

being put forth the Tribunal cannot set itself up as an advocate with respect to the arguments being put forth. It must also 

be noted that Ontario has a worker/employer advocacy system and there may be no need for the Workers’ Compensation 

Board of Ontario to have representatives at Tribunal appeal hearing [sic]. This is not the case in the Province of 

Newfoundland. The Tribunal takes the position that both the employer and the Commission is [sic] party to an appeal 

under the legislation. Both are notified of the time and location of hearings and are provided with copies of the Notice of 

Appeal and any other documentation registered with the Tribunal. The onus or responsibility rests with the Commission 

and the employers to decide if they plan to participate in the hearing. This is probably why it is more important under 

the Newfoundland system that there be an employer or Commission representative at appeal hearings in the absence of 

an employer/worker advocacy system. 

 

The Tribunal’s Ruling 

 

22      The ruling issued by the Tribunal, and which is at the centre of this appeal, is in two parts. In oral reasons at the 
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hearing, the Tribunal, through the Chairperson of the panel constituted to hear Mr. Bambrick’s appeal, ruled in the following 

words: 

Okay. Mr. Saunders, I would have to state that we have been advised by the Commission of late that they will be 

sending a representative to our Hearings, as Ms. Nickerson-Graham states, not in an adversarial role — not to take a role 

adverse to the Claimant, by any means, but they’re present to make clarifications, in ... in some instances, and for no 

other purpose; and the Tribunal accepts that. 

. . . . . 

Mr. Saunders, the Panel has had an opportunity to discuss your concerns; and and have agreed that Sections Five and 

Six of the Regulations — Section Five, specifically — states that, “Where a person wishes to appeal a decision of the 

Commission to the Appeal Tribunal, a written Notice of Appeal shall be served upon the Commission, the Appeal 

Tribunal, and any other person interested in the decision.” The ... the Panel’s conclusion from that, Mr. Saunders, is that 

the Commission is an interested party, that they ... they have a right to be present, they have a right to be represented, 

and consequently, they’re notified of every Hearing that ... that takes place. Now, that they’ve chosen in the past not to 

attend all Hearings has been entirely their decision, but they ... they have been welcome. 

 

23      On the same day, the Tribunal confirmed this ruling by a letter addressed to Mr. Bambrick’s spokesperson and 

representative. The relevant portion of that letter is contained in the 3rd paragraph, which states as follows: 

We have taken this matter under advisement and it is the opinion of the Panel that the Workers’ Compensation 

Commission is an interested party, as defined under the Workers’ Compensation Act, and, therefore, has a legal 

standing, under the Workers’ Compensation Act, to be present or represented at Appeal Tribunal Hearings. 

 

Relevant Legislation 

 

24      In considering the applicable legislation, it is necessary to consider The Workers’ Compensation Act as a whole. In 

doing so, there are a number of parts of that statute, as brought to the attention of the Court on this application, which can in 

particular be looked to for an understanding of the framework in which the Tribunal operates, and as well of the statutory role 

of the Commission. 

 

25      Dealing firstly with the role of the Tribunal under the scheme of the Act, from the materials filed by the parties here 

the following provisions appear relevant: 

21.(1) There shall be an Appeal Tribunal known as the Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal ... 

. . . . . 

21.4(1) Notwithstanding the power of the Commission to reconsider a matter, where the Commission has made a final 

determination respecting a matter and all the procedures established by the Commission and this Act respecting a 

rehearing of the matter have been exhausted, the Appeal Tribunal may hear and has exclusive jurisdiction to dispose of 

all appeals from actions or decisions of the Commission respecting: 

(a) an injured worker’s or dependent’s entitlement to compensation benefits; 

(b) an injured worker’s entitlement to rehabilitation services and benefits; 

(c) provision of medical care; 

(d) an employer’s assessments; 

(e) assignment of an employer to a particular class or group; 

(f) an employer’s merit or demerit rating. 

(2) Subject to sections 21.7 and 22, an order or decision of the Appeal Tribunal is final and conclusive and is not open to 
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question or review in a court of law and no proceedings by or before the Appeal Tribunal shall be restrained by 

injunction, prohibition or other process or proceedings in a court of law or be removable by certiorari or otherwise into a 

court of law. 

(3) The Appeal Tribunal may for cause reconsider a matter that has been dealt with by it and may rescind, alter or amend 

a decision or order previously made by it. 

(4) The decisions of the Appeal Tribunal shall be upon the real merits and justice of the case and it is not bound to 

follow strict legal precedent. 

. . . . . 

21.7(1) Where a matter to be decided by the Appeal Tribunal requires an interpretation of policy and general law prior to 

a decision being rendered, the Board of Directors shall review and determine the issue or interpretation of the policy and 

general law and the Tribunal shall consider the matter in light of the interpretation or determination of the Board of 

Directors. 

(2) Where the Board of Directors conducts a review, it shall either hold a hearing and afford the parties likely to be 

affected by its determination an opportunity to make oral and written submissions or it shall permit the parties likely to 

be affected by its determination to make written submissions, as the Board of Directors may direct. 

(3) The Board of Directors shall give its determination and direction, if any, under this section in writing together with 

its reasons therefor. 

(4) Where the Tribunal makes a decision which in the opinion of the Commission is not consistent with established 

policy or the intent of this Act, the Board of Directors shall direct a review and determination as set out in subsections 

(1) to (3). 

(5) Pending its determination, the Board of Directors, with respect to the decision that is the subject-matter of the 

review, may stay the enforcement or execution of the order made under the decision or may vacate the order if it has 

been implemented. 

21.8(1) The Appeal Tribunal may, subject to approval of the Lieutenant-Governor in Council, in relation to hearings 

prescribe rules of procedure and evidence and may from time to time order the type and nature of information to be 

provided by a person to the Appeal Tribunal prior to or during a hearing and that person shall so provide the information 

to the Appeal Tribunal. 

(2) Notwithstanding rules prescribed under subsection (1), the Appeal Tribunal or panel may receive or accept such 

evidence and infor mation on oath or affirmation, affidavit or otherwise as it deems proper, whether or not that evidence 

or information is admissible as evidence in a court of law. 

(3) For the purposes of any hearing an Appeal Tribunal, and each member thereof, has all the powers that are or may be 

conferred on a Commissioner under The Public Inquiries Act, and an Appeal Tribunal is deemed to be an “investigating 

body” for the purpose of The Evidence (Public Investigations) Act, and there shall be full right to examine and 

cross-examine all witnesses called and to adduce evidence in response and reply, and, without limiting the generality of 

the foregoing, the provisions of section 3 of The Public Inquiries Act shall apply to all such witnesses. 

. . . . . 

21.9(2) Subject to the regulations, the Appeal Tribunal shall 

(a) notify the person appealing a decision of the Commission of the time and place of the hearing by the Appeal 

Tribunal; 

(b) hear the appeal; and 

(c) upon the conclusion of the hearing, confirm, vary or set aside the finding or decision of the Commission. 

(3) For the purpose of making an appeal to the Appeal Tribunal a person may appear before the Appeal Tribunal on his 

or her own behalf or be represented by counsel or an agent and may accompany and appear with the counsel or agent 



Bambrick, Re, 1992 CarswellNfld 167  

1992 CarswellNfld 167, [1992] N.J. No. 323, 101 Nfld. & P.E.I.R. 181... 

 

 Copyright © Thomson Reuters Canada Limited or its licensors (excluding individual court documents). All rights reserved. 9 

 

before the Appeal Tribunal. 

(4) Where a person other than a person appealing has an interest in a matter before the Appeal Tribunal, that person has 

the right to appear before the Appeal Tribunal either personally or as represented by counsel or an agent and shall after 

indicating in writing to the Appeal Tribunal of an intention to appear be notified of the time and place of the hearing. 

(5) If the person appealing to the Appeal Tribunal or a person referred to in subsection (4) fails to attend, in person or by 

counsel or agent, the hearing of the appeal after being notified in accordance with this section, unless such failure to 

attend is due to circumstances beyond the person’s control and that person has, by written notice, advised the Appeal 

Tribunal that the person wishes to so attend and sets forth, in the notice, the circumstances that prevent the attendance, 

the Appeal Tribunal may proceed in such absence to examine into the matter of the appeal and to hear the witnesses, if 

any, and adjudicate thereon. 

(6) The Appeal Tribunal shall as soon as possible after hearing a matter, communicate in writing its finding or decision 

with reasons to the Commission and to any person who appeared before it forthwith after such finding or decision is 

made. 

 

26      Turning then for a moment to the operation of the Commission itself, as distinct from the Tribunal, there are a number 

of provisions which should be considered. Of note, under s. 19 of the Act, the decisions of the Commission itself are also 

“final and conclusive”, subject only to a right of appeal to the Tribunal, and to the Court. Again, like the Tribunal, the 

Commission has the power to reconsider any matter already dealt with by it. Also like the Tribunal, the decisions of the 

Commission are to be made on the real merits and justice of the case, and it, too, is excused from following strict legal 

precedent. 

 

27      Section 20 is also relevant as constituting a general equivalent to the statutory “hearing” procedures applicable to 

proceedings of the Tribunal as set out above. It provides: 

20.(1) A person interested in a decision to be made by the Commission is entitled on application to a public hearing 

before the decision is made by the Commission. 

(2) A public hearing held under subsection (1) shall be held in such a manner and within such time as the Commission 

may prescribe. 

(3) Any individual, corporation or body of persons appearing at a hearing shall have a right to appear and be 

represented. 

 

28      Finally, turning back to the Tribunal’s proceedings, a third part of the statutory framework is the regulations made 

under the Act. Those appearing to be most directly relevant to this appeal are some encompassed in regulations styled The 

Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal Regulations, and are as follows: 

5.(1) Where a person wishes to appeal a decision of the Commission to the Appeal Tribunal, a written Notice of Appeal 

shall be served upon the Commission, the Appeal Tribunal, and any other person interested in the decision. 

. . . . . 

(3) Upon receipt of a Notice of Appeal, the Appeal Tribunal shall, as soon as practicable, notify the Commission and 

other interested parties of the appeal and the issue in respect of which the appeal is brought and shall furnish them with 

copies of any written submissions made with respect to the appeal. 

(4) Upon receipt of a notice under this section, the Commission shall forthwith transmit to the Appeal Tribunal copies of 

the Commission’s records relating to the matter under appeal ... 

. . . . . 

7.(1) Where the Appeal Tribunal ascertains, on examining the Notice of Appeal and the decision appealed that the 

Commission failed to decide a question the Act required it to settle, it may of its own motion, issue an order to return the 

case to the Commission for a decision. 

. . . . . 
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10.(2) The Appeal Tribunal may seek legal advice from an adviser independent from the parties and in such case the 

nature of the advice shall be made known to the parties in order that they make [sic] submissions as to the law. 

. . . . . 

12.(1) The Appeal Tribunal may appoint qualified medical practitioners as consultants and may obtain the assistance of 

a panel of any three of these consultants to assist it in determining any matter of fact respecting an appeal or any 

proceeding before the Appeal Tribunal. 

. . . . . 

13.(1) The Tribunal may inquire into matter [sic] under appeal to determine whether the matter involves a decision of 

the Commission upon a medical report or opinion and, if such is the case, may, before the matter is heard by the Appeal 

Tribunal, require that the worker submit to an examination by a panel of three medical practitioners ... 

. . . . . 

(3) Forthwith after a panel of medical consultant examines a person pursuant to subsection (1), the panel shall report in 

writing to the Appeal Tribunal on the examination and the Appeal Tribunal shall, upon receiving the report of the 

medical panel, send a copy thereof to the parties to the appeal. 

 

Analysis 

 

The Interpretation of the Statute 

 

29      It is logical to consider first the issue as to whether the Board erred in law in interpreting the legislation as, within 

itself, granting to the Commission the right to be heard before the Tribunal. As counsel for the Tribunal has submitted in 

argument, if the legislation does indeed mandate such status, it will be unnecessary in this appeal to go on to consider 

whether the Tribunal otherwise has the authority to grant such standing. 

 

30      The provision of the Act most directly and centrally bearing on this issue is s. 21.9(4). For ease of reference, I set out 

that section again: 

(4) Where a person other than a person appealing has an interest in a matter before the Appeal Tribunal, that person has 

the right to appear before the Appeal Tribunal either personally or as represented by counsel or an agent and shall after 

indicating in writing to the Appeal Tribunal of an intention to appear be notified of the time and place of the hearing. 

In my view it cannot be said that the “right to appear” granted under this provision is somehow limited to a non-participatory 

role, or only to that of a witness called by others. In my view, the clear intent of s. 21.9(4) is to allow those persons described 

in the section to participate in the hearing process, encompassing the right to tender relevant evidence themselves, to question 

other witnesses, and to make submissions to the Tribunal as to the appropriate disposition of the matter before it. 

 

31      While this section is the only portion of the legislation brought to the attention of the Court which expressly addresses 

the issue of “standing” before the Tribunal, there are two provisions in the subordinate legislation — The Workers’ 

Compensation Appeal Tribunal Regulations — which arguably also bear on the point. Section 5(1) of these regulations 

requires that the formal notice of appeal prepared by the appellant be served on the Commission, the Tribunal, and on “... any 

other person interested in the decision” (my emphasis). The Tribunal expressly refers to this part of the regulations in its oral 

ruling. 

 

32      Sub-section (3) of the same regulation 5 also bears on the issue. (Although the oral ruling of the Tribunal is not quite 

clear on the point, it appears that this second provision may not have been expressly relied on by the Tribunal in making its 

ruling.) This provision requires the Tribunal itself, once it has received the notice of appeal from the appellant, to then notify 

the Commission “and other interested parties” (again my emphasis). The notification from the Tribunal is to be as to the fact 

of the existence of the appeal, and of the issues raised in it. Also, copies of any written submissions respecting the appeal and 

received by the Tribunal are to be given to the Commission and to other “interested parties”. 

 

33      Thus, through the use of the word “other” in ss. 5(1) and 5(3) of the regulations, expressly linking the Commission to 

the status of an “interested” person, or “party”, respectively, it can be argued that the Commission thus falls within the scope 

of s. 21.9(4) of the Act itself, as a person having ”an interest in a matter before the Appeal Tribunal”. 
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34      Before further considering this issue, it is here appropriate to consider a submission by the appellant as to the proper 

approach to be taken generally in interpreting the legislation. The appellant submits that general principle derived from case 

law related to the review of decisions of inferior tribunals generally, is clearly contrary to a finding that the Commission has 

status to appear before the Tribunal as a party on an “appeal” from its own decision. The appellant then argues that it is a 

central principle of the interpretation of statutes that, except in the face of the clearest language, a provision should not be 

interpreted so as to change the basic principle of the general law which would otherwise apply. 

 

35      In this latter connection, the appellant cites the English case of Nokes v. Doncaster Amalgamated Collieries Ltd., 

[1940] A.C. 1014 (H.L.). In the speech of Lord Atkin as part of the majority, the proposition is addressed in the following 

words at pp. 1031-32 of the report of that case: 

But it has been the duty of the Court on countless occasions to construe general words cutting down the generality to the 

obvious intention of the Legislature. The words of the learned author of Maxwell on Statutes, 8th ed., p. 73, appear to 

me to afford a true canon of construction. After saying that there are certain objects which the Legislature is presumed 

not to intend, and that a construction which would lead to any of them is therefore to be avoided, he continues: “One of 

these presumptions is that the Legislature does not intend to make any substantial alteration in the law beyond what it 

explicitly declares, either in express terms or by clear implication, or, in other words, beyond the immediate scope and 

object of the statute. In all general matters outside those limits the law remains undisturbed. It is in the last degree 

improbable that the Legislature would overthrow fundamental principles, infringe rights, or depart from the general 

system of law, without expressing its intention with irresistible clearness, and to give any such effect to general words, 

simply because they have a meaning that would lead thereto when used in either their widest, their usual or their natural 

sense, would be to give them a meaning other than that which was actually intended. General words and phrases, 

therefore, however wide and comprehensive they may be in their literal sense, must, usually, be construed as being 

limited to the actual objects of the Act. The general words of the Act are not to be so construed as to alter the previous 

policy of the law.” 

 

36      In the case there before it, the House of Lords was dealing with the interpretation of the phrase 

in this section the expression “property” includes property, rights and powers of every description, ... 

These were the “general words” which were argued in that case to effect, by the statutory amalgamation of several employer 

companies, the legal transfer of the benefit of a private contract of employment, made between an employee and one of those 

companies, to the amal gamated group. 

 

37      Considering the words of s. 21.9(4) of The Workers’ Compensation Act by themselves, can it be said that the position 

approved by the House of Lords in Nokes also properly applies to the language under consideration here, namely ”a person 

... [having] an interest in a matter before the Appeal Tribunal ...”? Certainly, these words are not in the same category of 

generality, nor as all-encompassing, as the words under consideration by the House of Lords. However, the phrase “[having] 

an interest” does have aspects of generality sufficient that the concerns recognized in Nokes should also have application 

here, unless otherwise precluded. 

 

38      While not expressly addressed by the parties, the provisions of The Interpretation Act, R.S.N. 1970, c. 182, as 

amended, are relevant in every situation in which this Court is called upon to construe legislation. By virtue of s. 3.(1), that 

Act applies equally to principal legislation, and to regulations enacted thereunder. 

 

39      Section 17 provides: 

17. Every Act and every regulation and every provision of an Act or regulation shall be deemed remedial and shall 

receive such fair, large, and liberal construction and interpretation as best ensures the attainment of the objects of the 

Act, regulation, or provision according to its true intent, meaning, and spirit. 

However, this provision must be read together with s. 3.(3) of the same Act which provides: 
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3.(3) Nothing in this Act excludes the application to any Act of any rule of construction applicable thereto and not 

inconsistent with this Act. 

 

40      In reviewing the decision in Nokes, supra, I cannot see reference to equivalent provisions governing the interpretation 

of the statute in that case. In any event, clearly The Interpretation Act must govern the Court in carrying out its duties here. 

But while this is so, when considering the “objects of the Act” and its “true intent, meaning and spirit” under the mandate of 

s. 3 of The Interpretation Act, I conclude that it is relevant to consider the state of the existing law. 

 

41      Thus, turning to the general law as to the role, if any, of a primary tribunal on the hearing of an appeal from its own 

decision, two authorities from the Supreme Court of Canada have been brought to the Court’s attention. 

 

42      In Canada (Labour Relations Board) v. Transair Ltd., [1977] 1 S.C.R. 722, in considering the role of a tribunal on a 

judicial review application to the court, all of the judges endorsed the concept that it was proper for the tribunal to be made a 

party to the court proceedings and to be heard with respect to defending its statutory jurisdiction. 

 

43      Laskin C.J.C. (in the minority on the point) held that “jurisdiction” in this context included issues pertaining to natural 

justice in the proceedings before the tribunal. The Chief Justice also was of the opinion that the court, in its discretion, could 

properly permit the tribunal to 

... enlarge the range of its submissions to include questions of law that are important to the discharge of its statutory 

functions. [p. 729] 

 

44      However, Spence J., writing for the majority of judges on this issue, held that it was not appropriate for a tribunal to 

appear before the court to argue as to the natural justice of its procedures. Clearly, from the reasons of Spence J. and the 

majority, if indeed the court possessed a further discretion, it should not be exercised to permit the tribunal there to argue 

anything beyond issues pertaining to jurisdiction in the “strict” sense. 

 

45      This position was generally confirmed in the subsequent unanimous decision of the Court in Re Northwestern Utilities, 

[1979] 1 S.C.R. 684. Estey J., writing for the Court there, was considering a situation in which the statutory framework 

clearly specified that the tribunal had a right to be heard on the appeal proceeding. At pp. 708-9 Estey J. dealt with this aspect 

in the following language: 

Section 65 no doubt confers upon the Board the right to participate on appeals from its decisions, but in the absence of a 

clear expression of intention on the part of the Legislature, this right is a limited one. The Board is given locus standi as 

a participant in the nature of an amicus curiae but not as a party. That this is so is made evident by s. 63(2) of The Public 

Utilities Board Act which reads as follows: 

The party appealing shall, within ten days after the appeal has been set down, give to the parties affected by the 

appeal or the respective solicitors by whom the parties were represented before the Board, and to the secretary of 

the Board, notice in writing that the case has been set down to be heard in appeal, and the appeal shall be heard by 

the court of appeal as speedily as practicable. 

Under s. 63(2) a distinction is drawn between “parties” who seek to appeal a decision of the Board or were represented 

before the Board, and the Board itself. The Board has a limited status before the Court, and may not be considered as a 

party, in the full sense of that term, to an appeal from its own decisions. In my view, this limitation is entirely proper. 

This limitation was no doubt consciously imposed by the Legislature in order to avoid placing an unfair burden on an 

appellant who, in the nature of things, must on another day and in another cause again submit itself to the rate fixing 

activities of the Board. It also recognizes the universal human frailties which are revealed when persons or organizations 

are placed in such adversarial positions. 

 

46      The statutory language under consideration in Northwestern Utilities did to some degree differentiate between the role 

of the tribunal there and that of other “interested” parties. In my view, the language of s. 21.9 of the Act here, referring 
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particularly in this connection to the effect of s-ss. (4) and (6), can properly be said also to encompass a differentiation of a 

similar degree as was in part relied on by the court in that case. However, even if this were not the case, I conclude that the 

principles behind the position adopted by the Supreme Court there have equal application in this and other similar cases. 

 

47      At pp. 709-10, the court went on to set out its own practice: 

It has been the policy in this Court to limit the role of an administrativetribunal whose decision is at issue before the 

Court, even where the right to appear is given by statute, to an explanatory role with reference to the record before the 

Board and to the making of representations relating to jurisdiction ... Where the right to appear and present arguments is 

granted, an administrative tribunal would be well advised to adhere to the principles enunciated by Aylesworth J.A. in 

International Association of Machinists v. Genaire Ltd. and Ontario Labour Relations Board, at pp. 589, 590: 

Clearly upon an appeal from the Board, counsel may appear on behalf of the Board and may present argument to 

the appellate tribunal. We think in all propriety, however, such argument should be addressed not to the merits of 

the case as between the parties appearing before the Board, but rather to the jurisdiction or lack of jurisdiction of 

the Board. If argument by counsel for the Board is directed to such matters as we have indicated, the impartiality of 

the Board will be the better emphasized and its dignity and authority the better preserved, while at the same time 

the appellate tribunal will have the advantage of any submissions as to jurisdiction which counsel for the Board 

may see fit to advance. 

Where the parent or authorizing statute is silent as to the role or status of the tribunal in appeal or review proceedings, 

this Court has confined the tribunal strictly to the issue of its jurisdiction to make the order in question. ... 

 

48      Estey J. went on to confirm that “jurisdiction”, in the context there used by him, was limited to jurisdiction in its strict 

sense, and did not extend to 

... the transgression of the authority of a tribunal by its failure to adhere to the rules of natural justice. ... To allow an 

administrative board the opportunity to justify its action and indeed to vindicate itself would produce a spectacle not 

ordinarily contemplated in our judicial traditions. 

The approach adopted in the Northwestern Utilities case substantially supports the appellant’s submission here as to the 

appropriateness of a restrictive interpretation of legislation in this area. 

 

49      The position enunciated by the Supreme Court of Canada has been followed subsequently by lower courts themselves 

dealing with judicial review of the decisions of tribunals: see, for example, Buggie v. Moncton (City of) (1985), 65 N.B.R. 

(2d) 210 (N.B.C.A.); Molson Companies Ltd. v. Moosehead Breweries Ltd. (1985), 63 N.R. 140 (Fed. C.A.); Castel v. 

Manitoba (Criminal Injuries Compensation Board) (1978), 89 D.L.R. (3d) 67 (Man. C.A.); Re Nova Scotia (Workmen’s 

Compensation Board) (1976), 72 D.L.R. (3d) 246 (N.S.S.C., A.D.). (I note that the case of Bordeaux Maintenance Services 

(Maritimes) Ltd. v. White (1987), 86 N.B.R. (2d) 9 (N.B.Q.B.), also cited by the appellant, appears to be an anomaly, in that 

it denies any role for an administrative tribunal before the court, even as to matters of jurisdiction.) 

 

50      The limited role of a tribunal in defending its decision in court proceedings has been expressly recognized in our own 

Court as well: see Re Crosbie Offshore Services Ltd. (1981), 34 Nfld. & P.E.I.R. 456 (Nfld. S.C.,T.D.); Browning Harvey 

Ltd. v. B.F.C.S.D., Local 353, (N.S.C.,T.D. 1980 No. 1304, filed February 4th, 1981, unreported) [now reported 81 C.L.L.C. 

14,133]. 

 

51      Thus, including from the highest judicial authority, it is clear that, in principle, the role of an administrative tribunal on 

the hearing of an appeal or judicial review of its own decision should be limited to questions of jurisdiction in the strict sense, 

coupled with (presumably where necessary) an explanation of the record which was before the tribunal itself. Even where the 

governing statute expressly grants a right to the tribunal to be heard on appeal or review, the courts have interpreted that right 

as being equally so restricted, except in the face of clear language expanding the role. 

 

52      In the circumstances of this case, it is conceded by all parties that there is nothing in the appeal by Mr. Bambrick to the 
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Tribunal which raises any issue as to the jurisdiction of the Commission in the sense contemplated by the authorities as 

properly resulting in a role for the Commission in the appeal process. 

 

53      Beyond this, however, I note that the matters which may be brought on appeal to the Tribunal, enumerated in s. 21.4(1) 

of the Act, do not necessarily raise issues as to the “jurisdiction” of the Commission. Under s. 21.7(1), it is contemplated that 

the Tribunal may interpret “policy and general law”, but that section requires the Tribunal to “consider the matter in light of 

the interpretation or determination of the Board of Directors [of the Commission]” on the point. 

 

54      Further, s. 22.(1) (as amended) provides: 

22.(1) An appeal lies to the Trial Division from any order, ruling or decision of the Commission or Tribunal involving 

(a) a question as to the Commission’s jurisdiction; or 

(b) a question of law. 

Notably, this section provides that an appeal with respect to the jurisdiction of the Commission lies not to the Tribunal but to 

this Court. 

 

55      As a result, it can be said that the issue of jurisdiction, which appears traditionally to constitute the central basis of the 

“standing” of a primary tribunal before a reviewing or appellate court, has little practical significance here with respect to the 

role of the Commission before the Tribunal. 

 

56      In terms of “explaining the record”, again it is not suggested that this aspect actually arose before the Tribunal in this 

case either. Indeed, it is even arguable that such a function does not fall within the role of a “party”, as distinct from that of a 

“witness”, who can of course be called by others to give evidence as to factual matters. 

 

57      Thus, it is not made out, nor indeed suggested, that there arose here either of the “traditional” bases (at least in court 

proceedings) for the Commission’s participation in the appeal to the Tribunal. At the same time, and as noted earlier, the 

question here concerns the ability of the Commission to play an even broader role. 

 

58      The respondents point out that the authorities cited by the appellant as establishing a strictly limited role for the 

primary tribunal before a reviewing tribunal, arose in circumstances of appeal proceedings before courts of law. The 

Tribunal, in particular, submits that since none of the cited decisions deal directly with the role of one tribunal before a 

superior tribunal within the administrative hierarchy, the matter here can properly be approached from the perspective of 

general principle, not bound by pronouncements in these decisions. 

 

59      The only authority brought to the attention of the Court which does expressly consider the position of the original 

tribunal before a superior tribunal within the administrative process appears to be the case of Re Nova Scotia (Workmen’s 

Compensation Board), supra. While the issue before the Court there ultimately concerned the standing of the primary tribunal 

to itself initiate an appeal to Court from a decision of the appellate tribunal, the Nova Scotia Court of Appeal in that case 

(although again dealing with legislation worded differently from that here) appears to have been satisfied that the principles 

militating against the initial tribunal’s full participation, as a “party”, had equal application at both levels of the appeal 

hierarchy. At p. 252 of the decision, the court concludes, although perhaps arguably in obiter, that 

There indeed seems something inherently wrong for a Board such as this, which performs quasi-judicial duties, to act in 

an adversary fashion to defend its decisions on appeal or, as here, to try to reinstate its decision when it has been 

overruled by an intermediate appeal tribunal. Even if such a Board chooses in form not to conduct proceedings before it 

with all the trappings and procedure of adversary proceedings in the ordinary Courts, it still has a general duty to 

conduct them in accordance with the rules of natural justice and to decide matters before it fairly and judicially ... 

For the board then to prosecute or defend an appeal from its own decision seems almost as incongruous as for a trial 

Judge or Magistrate to do so, which, of course, would be unthinkable. I leave aside matters where a board or Magistrate 

is questioned by prerogative writ on purely jurisdictional matters and then must appear or be represented before the 
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reviewing Court. 

 

60      It seems to me that though distinguishable on its facts, the principles enunciated by the court in Re Nova Scotia 

(Workmen’s Compensation Board) also support the thrust of the appellant’s position here as to the general law in this area. 

 

61      It is clear that in dealing with matters of compensation for injury, the Commission, as the primary tribunal, performs 

an adjudicative function: Reference re Sections 32 & 34 of the Workers’ Compensation Act (Nfld.) (1987), 67 Nfld. & 

P.E.I.R. 16 (Nfld. S.C., C.A.). 

 

62      As for the process of reviewing the exercise of that function, it is noted that the Tribunal may itself hear evidence. 

Indeed it is submitted that proceedings before the Tribunal are in essence by way of a hearing de novo, rather than by a more 

restrictive appeal or review process. Other requirements of the legislation and the regulations, for example the giving of 

notice, the holding of hearings, the right to examine and cross-examine witnesses and to adduce evidence in reply, and the 

very right of “interested persons” to be present and represented under s. 21.9(4) itself, illustrate that the Tribunal is itself to 

operate generally under the rules of natural justice. (Indeed it is perhaps difficult to suggest in this day and age that a contrary 

position would be appropriate.) 

 

63      Also, the decisions of the Tribunal are in themselves “final”. The enactment of a “privative clause” in this respect 

supports the stature and importance of the Tribunal. It is not intended to be simply an intermediate step in the 

decision-making chain. Indeed, as noted, its decisions may be attacked in this Court only on the basis of errors of law. 

 

64      At the same time, as noted earlier, under the Act, the Tribunal is effectively bound to decide matters before it in 

accordance with enunciations of policy and law as provided by the Commission through its Board of Directors. This is an 

unusual situation, since it appears to effectively preclude the Tribunal from a full independent review or appellate authority in 

these two areas with respect to matters such as entitlement, classification, and the like coming before the Tribunal on appeal. 

Clearly, in the appeal process mandated by the Act, the Tribunal’s independent decision-making authority is to a degree 

unusually circumscribed. 

 

65      Nevertheless, I am not convinced that the principles behind the position which has so clearly and uniformly been 

adopted by courts in reviewing the decisions of inferior tribunals, are properly restricted only to the process of judicial review 

of appeal before a superior Court, as distinct from a reviewing tribunal within the administrative framework itself. Further, in 

my view, the concept of general improprietylying behind the decisions enunciated in Transair and Northwestern Utilities, 

supra, and in the cases following them, is equally applicable to the appeal process before a tribunal which functions under 

such statutory procedures as does the Tribunal here. The same principles should apply, except in the face of express or clearly 

implied provisions to the contrary. 

 

66      Against this background of the applicable general law in the area, I return to the question as to the interpretation of the 

actual words in s. 21.9(4) of the Act. I conclude that the matter should be considered from the perspective of whether there is 

anything in the legislation, considered from the perspective of the attainment of the objects of the Act, which either expressly 

or by implication, includes the Commission in the category of a “person interested” in the proceedings before the Tribunal, 

beyond such a degree of “interest” as would arise in connection with an explanation of the record before the Commission 

itself. 

 

67      In now considering the legislation from this perspective, I note a submission made at the commencement of argument. 

Counsel for the Tribunal suggests that the practice in cases of appeals under federal immigration and unemployment 

insurance legislation, to bodies in an equivalent position to that of the Tribunal here, is that the initial decision-maker — the 

equivalent to the Commission in this case — participates actively in the appeal proceedings before the appeal tribunal. As 

noted when this submission was advanced, there is no other evidence before the Court here on this issue. It is not possible to 

determine the equivalency, or otherwise, between the statutory procedures and factual practices of the Commission and the 

Tribunal here, compared with those of equivalent bodies under these federal statutes. 

 

68      However, even if such an equivalency were fully established on appropriate evidence, I am not convinced that the 

mere fact of the existence of a practice in other settings can be determinative, or even persuasive, as to the existence of a 

proper legal basis for those practices. In the absence of some cited prior authority dealing with that legal basis, such facts, in 
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themselves, even if established, would appear to me to be of little moment in terms of the legal decision which must be made 

here. 

 

69      Turning then first to the words used in the Act itself, there is nothing within s. 21.9(4) which expressly or by necessary 

implication defines the Commission as an interested party. As to the other provisions of the Act pertaining to proceedings of 

the Tribunal, the appellant firstly points to the fact that the Commission is itself separately identified by the name 

“Commission” in several other places. The appellantsubmits that this separate — and generally uniform — reference to the 

“Commission” throughout indicates that it is not included within the broader and more general category of a “person 

interested” referred to in s. 21.9(4). 

 

70      Further, the appellant says that the reference to “having an interest in the matter” clearly can refer only to a particular 

matter, as distinguished from a particular category of matters, or indeed from all matters coming before the Tribunal. The 

appellant says that if indeed the Commission can be properly considered to have an “interest”, then that interest is by its 

nature identical, and will exist in every matter. Again, the appellant submits that this shows that the concept of an “interested 

person” referred to s. 21.9(4) does not extend to include the Commission. 

 

71      There is also the fact that s. 21.9(4) commences with the words “Where a person other than a person appealing has an 

interest ...”. In terms of the “interest” of the Commission, on the arguments advanced, again it is difficult to see how such 

“interest” would not exist with respect to every appeal. If such were indeed the case, the inclusion of the Commission within 

the intendment of s. 21.9(4) would seem to conflict with the opening words of the provision which seem directed more to 

“interests” arising from case to case, and from time to time, rather than to an interest which might be said to be “constant”. 

 

72      Finally, and still considering at this point only the wording of the Act itself, I consider the provisions of s. 21.9(5) and 

(6) to be of significance in the interpretation of s. 21.9(4). For ease of reference, I again set out these provisions: 

(5) If the person appealing to the Appeal Tribunal or a person referred to in subsection (4) fails to attend, in person or by 

counsel or agent, the hearing of the appeal after being notified in accordance with this section, unless such failure to 

attend is due to circumstances beyond the person’s control and that person has, by written notice, advised the Appeal 

Tribunal that the person wishes to so attend and sets forth, in the notice, the circumstances that prevent the attendance, 

the Appeal Tribunal may proceed in such absence to examine into the matter of the appeal and to hear the witnesses, if 

any, and adjudicate thereon. 

(6) The Appeal Tribunal shall as soon as possible after hearing a matter, communicate in writing its finding or decision 

with reasons to the Commission and to any person who appeared before it forthwith after such finding or decision is 

made. 

 

73      Consideration of the wording of s-s. (5) suggests that the “person referred to in subsection (4)” is not contemplated to 

be the Commission itself, because it is difficult to envisage what “circumstances beyond the [Commission’s] control” could 

arise. Apart from this, the general thrust appears to show that such “persons” are contemplated as being other than officials or 

organizations within the administrative framework. 

 

74      Of even more significance, in my view, is the wording of s. 21.9(6). That provision requires the Tribunal to send 

written reasons “to the Commission and to any person who appeared before [the tribunal] ...”. Clearly, this draws a 

distinction between the Commission on the one hand, and a “person appearing before” the Tribunal on the other (the latter 

having clear reference to the category of persons set out in s. 21.9(4)). Indeed, it can be said that the wording of this section is 

in essence of a nature similar to the wording considered by the Supreme Court of Canada in the Northwestern Utilities case, 

supra, and which the court there found clearly distinguished between the primary tribunal, and other “parties” , for purposes 

of the appellate hearing process. 

 

75      Thus, from the terms of the Act itself, initially without reference to the regulations, the above-noted points, considered 

in light of the absence of any direct reference to the Commission in s. 21.9(4), suggest that the Commission is intended to be 

considered as a distinct entity, rather than being subsumed within the broader category of “interested person”. 

 

76      However, and while all parties agree that the content of regulations, as subordinate legislation, is not determinative of 
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the meaning, intent or scope of the paramount statute, the respondents do point out that references, particularly in ss. 5(1) and 

5(3) of the regulations, as set out above, are such as to support a finding, if not precluded on any other basis, that the 

Commission is in fact included within the category referred to in s. 21.9(4). 

 

77      As earlier noted, on first glance, through the use of the word “other” in both the noted parts of regulation 5, there is an 

implication that the Commission itself is to be considered an “interested party”, at least for purposes of the matters addressed 

in those regulations. 

 

78      At the same time, however, there is nothing in either of these two regulations expressly linking their operation to the 

hearing process addressed in part in s. 21.9(4) of the Act. The regulations are concerned firstly with an appellant making the 

Commission (and indeed the Tribunal) aware that the appellant has taken an appeal from the decision of the Commission, and 

then with requiring the Tribunal to make the Commission aware of the basis of the appeal (arguably in itself a duplication of 

the purpose of regulation 5(1)), and providing to the Commission a copy of the written submissions, if any, to be argued 

before the Tribunal. Section 21.9(4) of the Act, on the other hand, appears to be concerned primarily, if not exclusively, with 

the hearing process before the Tribunal. It is only the Act itself which requires notice of the holding of the hearing, and 

addresses the right to appear. 

 

79      In my view, it can be logically argued that the use of the word “other” in the two regulations does indeed recognize an 

“interest” by the Commission, but not in the sense, or for the purpose, of defining an “interested person” within the scope  of 

s. 21.9(4) of the Act. As to what other purpose there might be in notifying the Commission of the existence and nature of an 

appeal, if not for the purpose of facilitating the Commission’s participation as a party before the Tribunal, that point is surely 

answered by the other provisions of the Act creating what all parties acknowledge to be the unusual role for the Commission 

in providing written policy and legal direction to the Tribunal for application in matters before it. Given this curious, 

statutorily created “supervisory” role for the Commission over the Tribunal’s deliberations, it can surely be concluded that, if 

not arguably the only rationale for the notice provisions to the Commission set out in regulations 5(1) and 5(3), then it is 

certainly a rationale which is at least equally as logical as the argument that such notice is required because of the 

Commission’s right to appear as a “party” at the Tribunal hearings. 

 

80      Adopting the principle from the case law that the statutory granting to a primary tribunal of a role as a party on an 

appeal from its own decision must be expressed in clear and unambiguous language, I conclude that the use of the word 

“other” in the regulations can be acknowledged and given logical scope for operation, and yet be properly limited to the 

concept of “interest” in the context of the limited “supervisory” role for the Commission as set out elsewhere in the statute 

itself. (Of course it can also be argued that the “notice” provisions in the regulations could also serve to alert the Commission 

to the potential need to provide an “explanation of the record”. However, even viewed in that context, it does not appear to 

me that the language of the regulations themselves dictates that the Commission is properly to be considered as expressly 

brought within the concept of “interested person” addressed under s. 21.9(4) of the Act.) 

 

81      A final point in considering the wording of s. 21.9(4) in light of the contents of regulation 5 is that again it is notable 

that while both regulations expressly refer to “the Commission” in terms of the scope of their operation, such a reference is 

conspicuously absent in the only part of the legislation, statutory or subordinate, which deals with the hearing process before 

the Tribunal, namely s. 21.9(4) itself. 

 

82      Overall, therefore, on this aspect of the interpretation of s. 21.9(4), I conclude that the Commission is not directly 

“created” an “interested person”. To the extent that the Tribunal reached a contrary conclusion, as the language of its reasons 

suggests it did, the Tribunal has unfortunately erred in law. 

 

83      It is then necessary to turn to a consideration of whether, even though the language of the Act may not expressly 

constitute or define the Commission as an “interested person”, the Commission nevertheless in fact falls within that category 

by virtue of its function. 

 

84      This aspect of the interpretation of the legislation is equally governed by the principles set out in Transair and 

Northwestern Utilities, and the other cases cited above. However, when approached from this perspective, the question is not 

focused on any ‘definitional’ wording of the legislation itself, but more broadly on the question as to whether, considering the 

Act as a whole, and the roles of the Commission and the Tribunal respectively, and their interrelationship, all as defined 
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under the Act, the Commission properly falls within the scope of an “interested person” for purposes of having standing 

before the Tribunal. 

 

85      Again, it must be kept in mind that in this case the issue concerns the “standing” of the Commission, in the broader 

sense of a “right to be heard”. While as will be referred to in further detail later, both the Commission and the Tribunal 

acknowledge the necessity, and the propriety, of some restriction on the Commission’s participation before the Tribunal, the 

issue here concerns the ability of the Commission, on its own motion, to have audience before the Tribunal. 

 

86      On behalf of the Tribunal it is submitted that the Commission in fact does have an “interest” in appeal proceedings 

before the Tribunal. The Tribunal points to the fact that under s. 21.7(1) of the Act, the Commission may be obliged to 

review the Tribunal’s own decision with respect to compliance with policy and the “general law”. Secondly, the Tribunal 

points out that its decision will necessarily affect what the Commission itself does in other similar cases which may 

subsequently come before the Commission. Finally, the respondents say, the Commission has a financial interest in the 

outcome of the Tribunal’s decision, because it is the Commission which must “fund” any compensation which may be 

ordered. 

 

87      As to these arguments, with respect I am not convinced that they place the Commission factually, or legally, in the 

position of a person with an “interest” in the Tribunal’s proceedings, in the sense of a person entitled thus to participate as a 

party in the Tribunal’s decision-making process. 

 

88      As to the point that the Commission may be called upon to review the Tribunal’s decision, this is undoubtedly so, 

although I am not convinced that the framework established under the Act contemplates that this can only be following that 

decision. I conclude that the intention is that the Commission can provide its direction on the statutorily limited points in 

advance of the Tribunal’s decision, although it clearly retains the authority to review that decision and, effectively,to stay 

implementation should the Tribunal not follow what the Commission considers to be its own policy and the general law. 

 

89      However, even recognizing this peculiar inter-relationship between the Commission and the Tribunal’s 

decision-making process, it seems to me that as the appellant submits, the legislation has itself dealt comprehensively with 

this aspect by specifying in some detail the mechanism by which the Commission is to interact with the Tribunal in this area. 

I refer particularly to the requirement that the direction be provided in writing. Such a process, mandated under the Act itself, 

does not appear to me to create, or to support the concept of, the Commission as a person “interested”, from the perspective 

of then further participating in the deliberations of the Tribunal, as a party before it. 

 

90      Indeed, the fact that decisions of the Tribunal may themselves ultimately come under binding scrutiny by the 

Commission — the very body whose initial decision is itself “appealed from” — makes it even more important that the 

Commission not have a further role as a “party of interest” in the intermediate process. 

 

91      Should the Tribunal find it necessary to seek explanation from the Commission for anything contained in such written 

directions, this could be accomplished by the Tribunal’s calling of evidence from Commission witnesses on the point. 

 

92      There is nothing to suggest that the Commission should be given the broader role of appearing before the Tribunal to 

argue why the Tribunal should adopt the Commission’s direction on these, or any other points. Indeed, I note that both the 

Commission’s written policy, and as well the position adopted by the Tribunal in its submissions to the Court, impliedly, if 

not expressly, acknowledge the improprietyof participation by the Commission before the Tribunal by way of direct 

justification, through argument, of the Commission’s initial determination. However, even beyond this, the scheme of the Act 

contemplates that this will indeed not be the case, since as noted the Commission itself given an overriding role to effectively 

set aside and remit the Tribunal’s own decision, once made, if it does not comply with the policy and legal directives of the 

Commission. Such procedure in itself militates against an earlier role for the Commission in attempting to persuade the 

Tribunal by way of submission or argument, such as would be appropriate to a party of interest. 

 

93      As to the next submission, that the decision of the Tribunal will necessarily affect what the Commission does in other 

similar cases, this of course will depend on the facts in those other cases. However, I do not accept that this position, though 

again logical, constitutes the Commission an interested person for purposes of participating in the Tribunal’s hearings and 

decision-making process. If indeed this were a valid argument, it would apply equally with respect to every subordinate 
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tribunal whose decisions come for review, either within the administrative framework of government, or before the courts. As 

has been clearly established, the concept of a broad, unfettered role for a primary tribunal in an appeal of its decision is 

clearly contrary to basic principles. 

 

94      Finally, as to the fact that the Commission has a financial interest in the outcome, in the sense that it must fund any 

order made by the Tribunal, again this is undoubtedly so. However, it must be remembered that under the scheme of the 

workers’ compensation legislation, in this province as elsewhere, the Commission is intended to derive its funds from levies 

on employers within the province. In that sense, it may be said that it is the employers — either individually, within 

categories, or as a whole — who have the real financial interest. While it is argued that, practically speaking, it is still the 

Commission which ends up representing that financial interest, this is only so as a matter of convenience and practicality. 

Nothing has been brought to the Court’s attention within the legislation which would prohibit an employer, or group of 

employers, from appearing on a particular applicationto the Commission, or before the Tribunal itself. Indeed it is noted that 

both before the Commission and the Tribunal, with respect to Mr. Bambrick’s application and appeal, the particular employer 

there concerned was provided with notice, and indeed was represented at the initial Commission proceedings. 

 

95      Having said this, I do agree that the obligation of the Commission to be directly involved in “creating” the funding 

necessary to meet not only the order of the Tribunal, but the initial order of the Commission itself, does make the position of 

the Workers’ Compensation Commission in that regard different from some other administrative adjudicative tribunals, 

where the decision of the tribunal at first instance may not then involve the tribunal itself in the implementation of its 

decision (other than, of course, in the sense that as an adjunct of government, a tribunal’s decision may involve a necessary 

course of action by some other part of government in implementingthat decision). 

 

96      On this issue of the “financial interest” of the Commission, I further note the decision of the Nova Scotia Court of 

Appeal in the Workmen’s Compensation Board, supra. As previously noted, that case actually involved the issue of the right 

of the Board — the equivalent of the Commission here — to appeal a finding of the Nova Scotia equivalent to the 

Newfoundland Appeal Tribunal, to the court. There are also differences between the wording of the respective statutes, 

particularly in categorizing parties entitled to appeal to the Nova Scotia Tribunal as “persons aggrieved”. 

 

97      However, in that case, as here, it was submitted that the role of the Commission as “custodian” of the compensation 

fund should be held to constitute the Commission a “party” of sufficient interest to ground the commencement of the appeal 

process, both to the Tribunal, and to the court. In the view of the Nova Scotia Court of Appeal, this fact did not constitute the 

Commission there an “aggrieved person” 

... bringing it into the stream of the appellate procedure as an appellant ... [p. 252] 

 

98      While the words “person aggrieved” are different and perhaps more restrictive than “person interested”, I find the 

words of the Court of Appeal in that case generally apt with respect to the position here. At p. 252 of its decision the court 

stated: 

Can it be said that because the Workmen’s Compensation Board is trustee for the funds which I have mentioned, any 

decision of the Appeal Board increasing compensation results in an added burden making the Workmen’s Compensation 

Board an aggrieved person and so bringing it into the stream of the appellate procedure as an appellant? 

In my view that would be stretching the meaning of the case beyond reason. 

 

99      Further with respect to the argument that this aspect of the role of the Commission makes it properly a “person 

interested” in the appeal process before the Tribunal, again I note that under the Act itself, there is an express and detailed 

procedure set out in which the Commission may, in effect, give written direction to the Tribunal, as well before as after the 

Tribunal’s deliberations, with respect not only to matters of “law”, but as to the “policy” of the Commission itself. In my 

view this unusual avenue of supervision provides more than ample scope for the Commission to make the Tribunal aware of 

its concerns, including those with respect to the implications of the decision of the Tribunal on the Commission’s 

responsibilities as “custodian” or “trustee” of the compensation fund. 
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100      Finally, and returning to the general concept of a primary tribunal as a “person interested” before an appellate body, 

as noted, the Transair and Northwestern Utilities cases, supra, and the decisions in lower courts following these, have 

acknowledged an appropriate role for the initial decision-making tribunal, on appeal from or review of its decision, with 

respect primarily to the defence of its jurisdiction, and an explanation of the record which was before the initial tribunal. 

(Here, however, and as earlier noted, the question of the Commission’s jurisdiction appears to have been removed from the 

scope of the Tribunal’s appeal jurisdiction and expressly placed, by the Act itself, in the hands of this Court.) It is interesting 

to note that in the Northwestern Utilities case, although again under somewhat different wording in the governing legislation, 

the Supreme Court of Canada appears to have equated both of these limited roles to the function of an amicus curiae. While 

that aspect will be dealt with in more detail below, in itself it suggests that such limited functions do not properly fall within 

the concept of the role of a “person with an interest in the matter” before the Tribunal, in the words of s. 21.9(4). 

 

101      In summary, therefore with respect to the first issue, that is as to the status of the Commission as a person “interested” 

within the meaning of s. 21.9(4) of the Act, I have concluded that the words of the Act, even considered in light of the 

provisions of the subordinate legislation cited to this Court, do not constitute the Commission an interested person within the 

meaning of s. 21.9(4). Furthermore, considered beyond the language used itself, I conclude that neither the nature nor 

function of the Commission or the Tribunal is such as to create the Commission a person or party of interest within the 

contemplation of the legislation. In so concluding I am satisfied that giving all appropriate weight to the requirements of The 

Interpretation Act, and considering The Workers’ Compensation Act itself as remedial, such a conclusion does not invalidate, 

nor hinder, the attainment of the true intent, meaning and spirit of the legislation. 

 

102      To the extent, therefore, that the Tribunal’s ruling is based, as it clearly appears to be, on a finding contrary to the 

above, I must conclude that the Tribunal has erred in law. 

 

103      However, as earlier noted, apart from the issue of error of law in interpreting the provisions of s. 21.9(4) of the 

legislation, both the appellantand the Tribunal directly, and indirectly the Commission through its general support of and 

reliance on the Tribunal’s arguments,have raised the issue as to the existence or absence of other authority in the Tribunal 

with respect to the granting of standing to the Commission in appeal proceedings. 

 

The General Authority of the Tribunal — “Discretion” 

 

104      With the benefit of having heard and considered the submissions and arguments of counsel in full, together with a 

review of the ruling and reasons of the Tribunal, it appears that the Tribunal’s decision in this particular case was 

substantially based on its interpretation of the legislation, and its conclusion that s. 21.9(4) granted the Commission 

“standing” to appear and have audience before the Tribunal, in the broad sense under consideration here. 

 

105      However, from the evidence before the Court, the background concerns and general “policy” developed and 

enunciated by the Tribunal with respect to the appropriate role of the Commission before it appear to be based on matters 

beyond the confines of s. 21.9(4) itself. To that degree, therefore, it can be said that some broader authoritywith respect to 

standing could arguably form, by implication, at least part of the basis for the Tribunal’s decision, whether or not apparent  on 

the “face” of the ruling itself. The submissions of the parties here raise and address this aspect. 

 

106      In essence, the appellant submits that the Court should find that the Tribunal has no jurisdiction, beyond the 

provisions of s. 21.9(4), to grant standing to the Commission. As earlier noted, the Tribunal points out that the issue of a 

broader authority need not be determined if the Tribunal’s interpretation of the legislation as itself mandating standing for  the 

Commission is upheld. However it goes on to argue at some length that otherwise, the Court should hold that the Tribunal 

does have jurisdiction with respect to the granting of standing. 

 

107      The matter is however further complicated. The Tribunal submits that if it is found to have a general jurisdiction with 

respect to determining standing, and if such a determination is properly discretionary, then the Court here should not review 

the exercise of that function by the Tribunal, since it would not encompass either a jurisdictional question or an error of law 

by the Tribunal, but rather, it is submitted, only the manner of exercise of a discretionary power. 

 

108      On this point the appellant asserts that the granting of standing to the Commission under a discretionary power, if it 

exists, does indeed involve an act reviewable by the Court on this appeal, since it is the appellant’s position that the 
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Tribunal’s discretion with respect to standing, if one exists at all, does not in law extend to the granting of standing to the 

Commission under any circumstances. As noted earlier, counsel for the appellant confirmed that the appellant did not take 

issue with the Tribunal’s ruling based on any factors particular or unique to the circumstances of this appeal. Rather, the 

appellant’s argumentis that the tribunal could not in principle, by discretion or otherwise, grant standing to the Commission. 

 

109      In its response, the Tribunal then stated that based further on this “concession” by the appellant, if the Court 

concludes that the Tribunal does have a discretion with respect to standing, then the Court should not in any event go further 

on the facts of this case, since the appellant is not seeking to challenge the actual exercise of that discretion in the particular 

circumstances here. 

 

110      Having considered the submissions of the parties on this point, I conclude that the appellant has not conceded the 

matter to the degree argued by the Tribunal. As well, and again as earlier noted, the written and oral submissions made on 

behalf of the Tribunal clearly recog nize and assert the propriety of some limitation on the extent and nature of the 

Commission’s participation before the Tribunal. Indeed the Tribunal itself has expressly requested the Court to define and 

confirm such limits. This position in effect supports the appellant’s submission that the Court should consider whether 

discretion in the Tribunal can extend to the granting of standing to the Commission. 

 

111      I am also aware, both from the evidence before the Court, and as well from the submissions by counsel for both 

respondents, that the issue with respect to limits on the proper role of the Commission before the Tribunal has been a vexed 

one to this point. Both respondents are effectively requesting that this aspect be dealt with. 

 

112      Considering these “preliminary” aspects relating to the consideration of this second issue, I conclude that, in the 

particular circumstances of this case, it is appropriate to deal with the matter in the sense in which it has been advanced by 

the appellant. In all of these same circumstances, however, I shall consider the matter only to the extent necessary to deal 

with the role of the Commission before the Tribunal. 

 

113      Unfortunately, while the only authorities cited, as reviewed earlier, deal with the nature and extent of standing, none 

deal directly with the issue as to the existence, and nature, of the Tribunal’s authority,discretionary or otherwise, in this area. 

Rather, the appellant simply submits that as a pure creature of statute (and an “appellate” creature at that), the Tribunal has no 

jurisdiction, and no discretion within that jurisdiction, other than as expressly conferred by the statute. While the respondents 

concede that in an inferior tribunal there is no “inherent” jurisdiction with respect to standing or right of audience, they 

submit that such jurisdiction may arise from express provisions in the legislation, or by necessary implication from those 

provisions. 

 

114      As to this, s. 21.8(1) of the Act grants to the Tribunal, subject to the approval of the Lieutenant Governor-in-Council, 

the right to make rules of procedure and evidence with respect to hearings. I do not think it can be said that the existence of 

this rule-making power mandates, or even implies, that in the absence of a rule on a particular aspect the Tribunal does not 

have the authority to proceed ad hoc with respect to an individual matter before it. It is notable that the Regulations brought 

to the attention of the Court in this proceeding, while styled The Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal Regulations, do 

not expressly refer to being created under the authorityof s. 21.8(1) of the Act, but rather purport to be enacted under the 

broader regulation-making authority contained elsewhere in the Act. Furthermore, these regulations do not appear to be 

primarily related to “hearings”, nor to constitute rules of procedure or evidence per se. 

 

115      It is not shown to the Court that there has been enacted, pursuant to the Act, subordinate legislation expressly 

providing for standing or a right of audience by the Commission before the Tribunal. Nor do the ruling and reasons of the 

Tribunal in this case purport to be so based. 

 

116      Beyond this, the Tribunal points to the fact that under s. 21.8(3) of the Act, the Tribunal is granted all of the powers 

permissible under The Public Enquiries Act, R.S.N. 1970, c. 314. The provisions of The Evidence (Public Investigations) Act, 

R.S.N. 1970, c. 117 are also made expressly applicable to proceedings of the Tribunal. Under s. 3 of the first of these statutes 

the Tribunal is granted 

... the same power to enforce the attendance of witnesses and to compel them to give evidence as is vested in any court 

of law in civil cases ... 
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It is notable, however, that under the second Act, the Tribunal does not have authority itself to punish for non-compliance 

with its orders made in this regard. Rather, the power remains vested in this Court, whose jurisdiction may be invoked by 

application on behalf of the Tribunal itself. 

 

117      If it is argued that the provisions of these statutes constitute the Tribunal the equivalent of a “court of record”, it must 

be noted that such is only the case in the sense of the right to require evidence to be given, and not to punish for failure or 

refusal to comply with such a requirement. It is not shown to me that the granting of this authority to the Tribunal itself 

imports a discretion in the Tribunal with respect to matters of standing or audience. 

 

118      Nevertheless, I conclude that the Tribunal does have the authorityto adopt procedures with respect to the hearings 

before it — on an ad hoc basis — in the absence of “Rules”. However, I also conclude the law requires that those procedures, 

unless and until otherwise mandated by statute or properly enacted subordinate legislation, must themselves comply with the 

basic principles of natural justice and fairness, in the sense that these have been laid down in the authorities. 

 

119      As earlier noted when considering the state of the law generally in this area (although in the cited authorities 

universally related to court proceedings), I have concluded that as a general principle, itself based on principles of natural 

justice it may appropriately be said that the Commission, as the initial decision-maker, should not be entitled to standing or 

right of audience with respect to the appeal of its decision. 

 

120      In addition to the arguments earlier addressed as to why such a general principle should not apply here, I note further 

points made by the Tribunal. The Tribunal argues that it is necessary that the Commission have a role somewhat akin to that 

of a party, in order that the Commission may bring to the Tribunal evidence, the existence of which may not otherwise be 

known to, or even suspected by, the Tribunal, or indeed to or by any of the other “interested persons” appearing. As to this,  

the Tribunal submits that in effect its own role should be limited to the reception of such evidence as others may choose to 

bring before it. Interestingly, the appellant’s contrary position as to this point is here supported by the Commission itself , 

which agreed that there is properly an investigatory role for the Tribunal. This seems supported by the Act, which, for 

example, includes broad powers respecting medical investigations, and also, as noted, invests the Tribunal with the powers of 

a Commission under The Public Inquiries Act. 

 

121      Beyond this argument, related to the necessary receipt of evidence, the Tribunal’s submission before the Court as to 

the “necessity” for participation by the Commission is primarily linked to a broader concern, one clearly identified in the 

Tribunal’s own “policy” position contained in the extract from the Annual Report in evidence. A reading of that document 

strongly suggests that the basis for the Tribunal’s expressed policy that the Commission should have the right to appear and 

participate of its own motion is substantially linked to the Tribunal’s concern that, in the absence of a public advocacysystem 

on behalf of employers and the “public interest” per se, without such representation and participation by the Commission 

before the Tribunal, the Tribunal may be left to decide in an effectively “one-sided” proceeding. 

 

122      This concern has indeed arisen in several of the authorities cited to the court. In the case of Moosehead Breweries 

Ltd. v. Molson Companies Ltd. (1985), 63 N.R. 140 (Fed. C.A.), the Federal Court of Appeal was acting, at the second level 

of the court appeal process, from a decision of the Registrar of Trade Marks. The Registrar requested to be heard on the 

appeal, but the court refused to permit this. Citing the Northwestern Utilities decision of the Supreme Court of Canada, the 

Federal Court of Appeal concluded that except where jurisdiction was raised, the initial tribunal could not be heard on an 

appeal from its own decision. At p. 141 of the reported decision, the court went on to state: 

We recognize that there may be a public interest to be represented in appeals from decisions under s. 44 of the Trade 

Marks Act. Representation of that interest is the proper function of the Attorney General of Canada, not of the Registrar 

of Trade Marks. 

 

123      In a case dealing with a decision of a criminal injuries compensation tribunal, Castel v. Manitoba (Criminal Injuries 

Compensation Board) (1978), 89 D.L.R. (3d) 67, the Manitoba Court of Appeal was considering the propriety of a tribunal 

appearing before the court to respond to an appeal taken from the tribunal by a dissatisfied applicant.At p. 72 of the decision, 

the court stated: 

If an application is successful, the Board may make an order for compensation to be paid out of the consolidated 
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revenue fund or by the wrongdoer. In my opinion, the Attorney-General should be notified in every case and thus be 

made a party to the proceedings before the Board and, where it is contemplated by the Board or by the applicant or by 

the Attorney-General that an order may be given against an alleged wrongdoer, the alleged wrongdoer should also 

receive notice. In the instant case, I think that the notice of appeal should have been directed to the Attorney-General as 

a respondent. He is the person who is appointed to protect the Crown’s interests and the Crown’s interest will certainly 

be affected in the event that an order for compensation is made. 

 

124      Finally, in the Nova Scotia case of Re Nova Scotia (Workmens’ Compensation Board), supra, the issue of 

representation of the public interest in matters of this nature was also addressed, although again apparently in obiter. At p. 

252 of the reported decision, the Nova Scotia Court of Appeal commented as follows: 

I should say that such a conclusion [a finding that the initial “tribunal” there had no right to initiate an appeal of the 

appellate tribunal’s decision to the court] does not, in my opinion, work any hardship on the Workmen’s Compensation 

Board if it feels aggrieved by a decision of the Workmen’s Compensation Appeal Board because there is still the 

inherent right in the Attorney-General to intervene in such cases. As Lord Denning, M.R., said in Attorney General (ex 

rel. McWhirter) v. Independent Broadcasting Authority, [1973] 1 All E.R. 689 at p. 697: 

It is settled in our constitutional law that in matters which concern the public at large the Attorney-General is the 

guardian of the public interest. Although he is a member of the government of the day, it is his duty to represent the 

public interest with complete objectivity and detachment. He must act independently of any external pressure from 

whatever quarter it may come. As the guardian of the public interest, the Attorney-General has a special duty in 

regard to the enforcement of the law. 

. . . . . 

The Board, which, although a separate body corporate, is an agency of the Crown, is in connection with this issue in 

perhaps a different position from the municipal bodies in some of the cases discussed above. The Queen, represented by 

her law officer, the Attorney-General, is, I suggest, always a party in the proceedings before the Board as representative 

of the public interest, even though the Board may not choose to have counsel actually assigned. That party, thus 

sometimes invisible at the first hearing, it also a proper party in all subsequent appeals. Although it was not argued in 

this application, and I need not decide, the Queen thus represented by the Attorney-General could, in my view, appeal to 

this Court, ... 

 

125      From these authorities, it can be seen that an argument based on the necessity of representing the public interest in the 

case of appeals from primary tribunals identical to or having features similar to the Commission here, has been held not 

sufficient to warrant the granting of status or standing to the tribunal itself as a party in the appeal process, at least before the 

courts. As these authorities have identified, if the public interest is involved, the intervention of the Attorney General or his 

designate as a party would allow the appropriaterepresentation. This would include, in my view, the presentation of evidence, 

even though such evidence might be called by the Attorney-General from officers or representatives of the Commission itself 

in some circumstances. 

 

126      It is also interesting to note that the position of the Commission, as reflected in its own “policy” letter of May 10, 

1990, is that it would “... neither advocate for nor against the worker or employer and will not assume the role of defending 

its decision.” It is difficult to conceive, as indeed has been recognized and expressed in several of the cited authorities, how 

the Commission, if granted standing on the basis that it is necessary to “balance” what would otherwise be a one-sided 

submission to the Tribunal, could in fact remain neutral and preclude itself from inadvertently falling into a role which the 

Commission itself identifies to be inappropriate. 

 

127      The Tribunal points out, through its Annual Report in evidence, the fact that in other jurisdictions the position and 

role of a public advocateexists, whether as an express designate of the Attorney General or otherwise. However, I do not see 

that the absence of such an establishedstructure of representation of the public interest before the Tribunal here justifies 

leaving to the Commission itself such a role, “in default” as it were. 

 

128      The position of the Commission as amicus curiae before the Tribunal has also been raised and addressed, at least by 
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the appellant and the Tribunal. It is also directly referred to by the Commission in its “policy” statement of May, 1990. There, 

the Commission, having previously grappled itself with defining its appropriate role before the Tribunal, stated 

The Board of Directors has directed that the Commission attend Tribunal hearings insofar as it is practical to do so. 

Attendance will be on an amicus curiae basis for the primary purpose of providing any information or clarification that 

the Hearing Panel may request. 

 

129      This position is interesting. It is notable that the “primary purpose” identified by the Commission for its participation 

is not by way of adducing evidence on its own motion, such as is suggested in argument by the Tribunal to be the 

Commission’s appropriate primary role, but rather to respond to requests for information directed by the Tribunal (or 

presumably from one of the other interested persons appearing). As earlier noted, the role of the Commission before the 

Tribunal as a witness, if called either by an interested person or by the Tribunal under the powers conferred by the statute,  

appears to me not to be contrary to any of the principles identified in the authorities earlier referred to. 

 

130      However, presuming that the Commission itself does assert that although not a “primary” role, it may still be 

appropriate on occasion for the Commission to itself advance evidence of its own motion — as a “party” so to speak — and 

recognizing that this is a central basis on which the Tribunal supports the propriety of granting standing to the Commission, it 

is indeed interesting to note that while the Commission subsumes this role under the function of “amicus curiae”, both the 

appellant here, and most significantly, the Tribunal itself, argue that any role for the Commission as amicus curiae is 

inappropriate. 

 

131      The concept of the primary tribunal appearing as amicus curiae before the appeal body was referred to by the 

Supreme Court of Canada in the Northwestern Utilities case, supra, in describing the general nature of the position of the 

primary tribunal under the legislation there. At p. 708 of that decision, Estey J. states: 

Section 65 no doubt confers upon the Board the right to participate on appeals from its decisions, but in the absence of a 

clear expression of intention on the part of the Legislature, this right is a limited one. The Board is given locus standi as 

a participant in the nature of an amicus curiae but not as a party. 

 

132      Having made this reference based on the wording of the statute there, it is interesting to note that the detailed 

explanation and elaboration of the role of the primary tribunal which follows in the reasons of the court is limited, as earlier 

noted, to that of explaining the record which was before the Tribunal in the first instance, and where applicable,to 

submissions with respect to the exercise of the initial tribunal’s jurisdiction. No broader function under the umbrella of 

“amicus curiae” appears to have been considered as appropriate by the court there. 

 

133      Here, both the appellant and the Tribunal expressly submit that because it is the very decision of the Commission 

which is itself under review by the Tribunal, it is improper, and indeed antithetical to the concept of amicus curiae, to allow 

the Commission to address the Tribunal with respect to any aspect of the propriety, or otherwise, of its decision. As put by 

the appellant in its written brief of law in this matter: 

How can one be an amicus curiae to a body whose job it is to scrutinize and look critically at the decision of he [sic] 

who claims to be an amicus curiae? 

 

134      The only other authorities referred here to the Court which deal with the nature and functions of an amicus curiae are 

unfortunately not very helpful. In Bank of Montreal v. Pedlar Industries Inc. (1980), 35 C.B.R. (N.S.) 269 (Ont. S.C.), in a 

factual situation completely distinct from that here, the court appears to consider the concept of amicus curiae as 

encompassing a person who is “impartial” and who is “present only to assist the court”. Beyond that, the case does not offer 

assistance. 

 

135      In the case of Re Pehlke (1939), 20 C.B.R. 415 (Ont. S.C.), the court was faced with a situation where, on considering 

an application for the discharge of a bankrupt, a person (apparently a solicitor acting for or otherwise associated in some way 

with the bankrupt) stated that he wished to be heard, as an amicus curiae rather than on behalf of the bankrupt, with respect to 
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certain argued improprieties in procedures connected with the administration of the bankruptcy. 

 

136      Although Urquhart J. first determined that the substance of the matters raised by the purported amicus curiae before it 

were in fact groundless, he did comment briefly on the concept of amicus curiae itself. At p. 421, he states: 

The words “amicus curiae” mean friend of the court; and the term is applied to one who suggests something for the 

information of the court. ... 

Urquhart J. went on to consider the few authorities he had found on the matter. In terms of textual authority, he referred to 

these as follows: 

Halsbury does not deal with the matter at all. He has a heading in volume one and in this heading it says: “See criminal 

law”. The only reference to the subject under criminal law is in Volume 9, p. 148, footnote q: where it says: “Formerly 

counsel were not allowed to appear for defendants on a charge of felony except to argue points of law for them ... A 

point of law in favour of a defendant may be suggested to the Court or argued by counsel who is not interested in the 

case, or by anyone else acting as amicus curiae.” 

In the American and English Encyclopedia of Law 2nd ed., vol.2, p. 307, the term is defined. The term is generally 

applied to a solicitor of the Court who, being present, makes some suggestion to the court in regard to the matter before 

it and it is more rarely applied to counsel arguing the case ... 

Also the term is used of persons who have no right to appear in a suit but are allowed to protect their own interest, and 

finally to a stranger who, being in Court, calls the Court’s attention to some error in the proceedings. 

 

137      In the event, the court in Phelke concluded that in a case “plentifully supplied with counsel ...” the role of amicus 

curiae was inappropriate. 

 

138      Again, I find this authority to be of little direct assistance in considering the point as argued here. 

 

139      As far as I can see on the arguments which were advanced before me, the concept of amicus curiae could only have 

application to the Commission here in terms of the role identified by Estey J. in the Northwestern Utilities case with respect 

to an explanation of the record which was before the Commission. As earlier noted, under the legislation here, defending the 

exercise of the Commission’s jurisdiction appears limited to proceedings in this Court. Even there, the latter role will often, if 

not always, involve the Commission in a “non-neutral” and “non-factual” role. For that reason, the concept of “intervenor” 

would arguably also be an apt description of the position of the Commission in defending its jurisdiction. 

 

140      In light of the submissions advanced by the appellant and the Tribunal here, and in the absence of any compelling 

authority or reasoning advanced on behalf of the Commission to support its earlier expressed “policy” of a role as amicus 

curiae, it seems to me impossible to consider the role of the Commission before the Tribunal as that of an amicus curiae 

beyond the explanation of the record, as noted above. As also noted, this aspect is not shown to have actually arisen in Mr. 

Bambrick’s appeal before the Tribunal. 

 

141      In the result, and in summary on the second issue, I conclude that while the Tribunal has the authority to adopt ad hoc 

procedures (and indeed Rules under the statute), these must conform to the requirementsof natural justice and fairness, in the 

absence of some contrary enactment under the statute or duly authorized subordinate legislation. This being the case, I 

conclude that insofar as the participation of the Commission before the Tribunal is concerned, the Commission’s right to be 

heard does not extend beyond an explanation of the record which was before it. 

 

142      From the submissions before the Court, it appears that it is only the Tribunal’s assertion that the Commission should 

be entitled to give evidence generally, of its own motion, which goes beyond this restriction. Interestingly, such a role as 

envisaged by the Tribunal is itself substantially restricted, and less than the role of “party” or “interested person”, or indeed 

the role of an amicus curiae in the usual sense. The Tribunal’s own submission, in urging confirmation of a role essentially 

restricted to the adducing of evidence, itself lends support to the validity of a concern from principle, which I have found 

properly restricts the role of the Commission even further than that argued by the Tribunal. 
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143      Having reached this conclusion, there is only one other substantive point. Although the Tribunal asserts a standing for 

the Commission, albeit conceded to be a limited one, the Tribunal itself asks the Court to confirm that the physical presence 

of the Commission before the Tribunal in the exercise of that standing cannot properly be through Directors of the 

Commission, but rather must be through its subordinate staff. 

 

144      The Tribunal submits that because the Directors themselves may have a duty to review the decision of the Tribunal 

with respect to policy and general law, it is contrary to the principles of natural justice for them to also represent the 

Commission in appearing before the Tribunal. Thus, the Tribunal submits, to avoid such an acknowledged impropriety, it 

should be only employees or other officers of the Commission who actually appear. 

 

145      The appellant’s position is, of course, that since no appearance whatsoever by the Commission before the Tribunal is 

appropriate, this further issue is academic. However, the appellant argues that the Tribunal’s own rationale is itself flawed, 

since “officers” of the Commission may be directly involved in the hearing and adjudication processes of the Commission’s 

decision at first instance. 

 

146      For its part, the Commission submits that if the Court concludes that the Commission may appear in some capacity 

before the Tribunal, there is no further jurisdiction in the Court to direct the Tribunal, or the Commission, as to by whom it 

may be so represented. 

 

147      In my view, the Tribunal’s own submission as to the improprietyof having Directors of the Commission effectively 

“constitute” the Commission in proceedings before the Tribunal supports the conclusion above that it is generally 

inappropriate that the Commission per se appear at all. It seems to me artificial to attempt to distinguish between a decision 

of the Commission, even if made with the direct involvement of hearing officers, and a decision of the Commission per se. 

Surely the decision of the Commission, however internally processed and arrived at, is in fact and in law a decision of the 

Commission pursuant to the statute. The acknowledgement by the Tribunal of a difficulty in this area, related to a concern for 

the requirementsof natural justice, supports the conclusion that the Commission, whether represented and present through 

officers or Directors, cannot properly participate before the Tribunal beyond the strict limitation identified above. 

 

148      Beyond this, if, as I have found, there is an appropriate role of the Commission before the Tribunal, but at the same 

time a role limited to matters of explanation of the record or, as earlier noted, to the giving of evidence as a witness called by 

the Tribunal or by an interested party, the fact that it is the Board of Directors of the Commission, and not its subordinate 

staff, which have an express supervisoryrole over the Tribunal’s deliberations does suggest that ideally these Directors should 

not represent the Commission even in such limited appearances before the Tribunal. However, unlike the situation dealt with 

above respecting the role of the Commission per se, it is not possible to say that in the circumstances of a particular case, the 

requirement of “best evidence” could not necessitate that with respect to a particular record or part thereof, or a particular 

matter of evidence to be addressed by the Commission, information might properly have to come from a Director, rather than 

from a staff member. It is not possible to contemplate all the various circumstances which might arise, and to encompass 

them within a single requirement in this regard. There could well be a situation in which necessity, or knowledge, or some 

other circumstance may be such that the desirability of avoiding the attendance of Directors out of concerns for natural justice 

may be outweighed in order to produce a just result. 

 

149      Thus, unlike the situation pertaining to the parameters of the role of the Commission per se before the Tribunal, I 

conclude that the issue as to the physical manner of representation of the Commission, in its restricted role, cannot be held to 

be one where the “discretion” of the Commission, (in the “every-day” sense) and the discretion of the Tribunal (in the formal, 

“legal” sense) must be uniformly subject to the limit which the Tribunal here asks the Court to confirm. 

 

Summary and Conclusion 

 

150      Insofar as the decision of the Tribunal granting “standing” to the Commission before it in this particular case is based 

on the Tribunal’s interpretation of the governing legislation, I conclude that its interpretation amounts to an error in law. I 

conclude that the Commission is not a “person with an interest in the proceeding before the Appeal Tribunal” within the 

scope of s.21.9(4) of the Act. 
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151      If, and insofar as, the decision of the Tribunal is based in part on the exercise of a general procedural jurisdiction with 

respect to its hearings, I conclude that the requirements of natural justice and fairness preclude the adoption of a procedure 

granting a “right to be heard” to the Commission, with the exception of the right of the Commission to appear to explain the 

record which was before it. The Commission may of course give evidence as a witness, at the call of the Tribunal or others, 

but not as a “party” on its own motion. 

 

152      Accordingly, the decision of the Tribunal here, consisting of its preliminary ruling granting to the Commission a 

broader “right to be heard”, beyond these restrictions, must be set aside. Mr. Bambrick’s appeal of course still remains before 

the Tribunal for disposition now through a procedure not at variance with the Court’s ruling on this appeal. 

 

153      In the Notice of Appeal the appellant as well requests a remedy by way of declaration. Rule 7 of the Rules of the 

Supreme Court, 1986 contemplates that in any “proceeding” before the Court, declaratory relief may be claimed, with or 

without other relief. The granting of such relief is however a matter for the discretion of the Court. 

 

154      The matter arises here in the course of a statutory appeal of an actual ruling by the Tribunal: the appellant seeks to 

reverse a decision already made. I am satisfied that the disposition made above, in finding an error in law, and which results 

in the setting aside of the existing ruling and the remission of the matter to the Tribunal for consideration in accordance with 

the Court’s decision, provides a full remedy, in practical terms, to the appellant in this case. 

 

155      I recognize that both the appellant and the respondents have, though from different perspectives, requested the 

Court’s interpretation and “direction” with respect to the issue of standing and the authorityof the Tribunal in that respect, 

beyond the simple question as to whether the Commission is or is not an “interested party” under s.21.9(4) of the Act. I am 

equally satisfied that the analysis on which the Court’s decision in this appeal is based provides appropriate guidance in that 

regard. 

 

156      For these reasons, and considering the matter as a whole as it has been presented to the Court in written and oral 

submission, I am not persuaded that this is an appropriate case in which the Court should exercise its discretion to grant the 

additional, discretionary remedy of a declaration. I am not satisfied that it has been shown that this will achieve any 

appropriate purpose beyond that met in the order already granted setting aside the ruling of the Tribunal which forms the 

focus of this appeal. 

 

Costs 

 

157      The awarding of the costs of this appeal was not pleaded or addressedby the parties. In light of the nature of the 

proceeding this is understandable. However, should they be so advised the parties or any of them may apply to be heard in 

that regard. 

 

An Order may be Entered Accordingly. 

 

           

 

Appeal allowed. 
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Headnote 

 

Human Rights --- Practice and procedure — Commissions and boards of inquiry 

Human Rights --- Practice and procedure — Judicial review 

Requirements of natural justice — Bias — Impartiality policy — Application for judicial review being brought on basis that 

tribunal had breached duty of procedural fairness — Tribunal not being allowed to make representations responding to 

allegations raised in application for judicial review. 

The complainants, who alleged that they had been sexually harassed by coworkers, filed complaints with the Human Rights 

Commission against the applicant employer. The employer subsequently brought an application for judicial review on the 

basis that the commission had breached its common law duty of procedural fairness. Prior to the return date of the motion, 

the solicitor for the employer and the solicitor for the commission filed legal briefs. On the hearing date they attended and 

were prepared to make submissions. The solicitor for the commission advised the court that the solicitor for the complainants 

had adopted and in effect joined in the submission of the commission, and that the complainants’ solicitor would accordingly 

not be appearing to make representations on behalf of his clients. At this point, and prior to making any submissions on the 

issues raised in the judicial review application, the solicitor for the employer objected to the commission, on its own behalf, 

responding to allegations raised in the application of breach of the duty of procedural fairness. The employer’s counsel 

submitted that it was inappropriate for a tribunal, whose exercise of its functions was under attack for violating the principles 
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of procedural fairness, to become a protagonist and in effect defend itself before the reviewing court. 

Held: 

The employer’s objection was upheld. 

The right of the commission to appear, and its role in the proceedings, was a limited one, restricted to making representations 

relating to jurisdiction. However, the commission was granted an adjournment to enable it to consider its position respecting 

an appeal and to provide the solicitor for the complainants time within which to appear and to make representations 

respecting the procedural fairness issue. 

Application for judicial review respecting role to be taken by Commission whose own procedure under attack. 

 

Baynton J.: 

 

1      The applicant, Dairy Producers, has applied for a judicial review of the proceedings conducted by the respondent 

Commission respecting two complaints filed with the Commission by two former employees of Dairy Producers. The two 

complainants allege that they were sexually harassed by coworkers. They rely on the absolute liability of the employer for the 

acts of its employees and also allege that Dairy Producers, the employer, did not take sufficient steps to provide a 

non-discriminatory workplace. 

 

2      The ground on which the application for judicial review is brought is that the Commission breached the common law 

duty of procedural fairness owed by it to the applicant. 

 

3      In particular it is alleged that the Commission failed and refused to provide Dairy Producers with the substance of the 

case against it, in the form of reasonable disclosure of the particulars of the complaints, despite receiving formal written 

requests for particulars of the complaints on at least three occasions. 

 

4      The applicant submits that this breach of duty deprived it of the right to make an informed reply to the complaints which 

could and should have been considered by the Commission prior to the conclusion of its investigation of the complaints. 

 

5      Prior to the return date of the judicial review motion, the solicitor for the applicant, Dairy Producers, and the solicitor 

for the Commission filed legal briefs. On the hearing date they attended and were prepared to made submissions. The 

solicitor for the Commission advised the court that the solicitor for the complainants had adopted and in effect joined in the 

submission of the Commission, and that the complainants’ solicitor would accordingly not be appearing to make 

representations on behalf of his clients. 

 

6      At this point, and prior to making any submissions on the issues raised in the judicial review application, the solicitor 

for the applicant objected to the Commission, on its own behalf, responding to the allegations raised in the application of 

breach of the duty of procedural fairness. He submitted that it is inappropriate for a tribunal whose exercise of its functions is 

under attack for violating the principles of procedural fairness, to become a protagonist and in effect defend itself before the 

reviewing court. Such issues should be debated before the reviewing court by the parties themselves and not by the tribunal 

whose actions are under review. 

 

7      The applicant’s solicitor contended that in accordance with long-standing legal tradition and the policy enunciated by 

the Supreme Court of Canada in Re Northwestern Utilities, (sub nom. Northwestern Utilities Ltd. v. Edmonton (City)) [1979] 

1 S.C.R. 684, the right of the Commission to appear, and its role in these proceedings, was a limited one restricted to making 

representations relating to jurisdiction. 

 

8      The respondent was not able to provide me with any authorities on this issue, but made submissions to the effect that the 

Commission’s role and status under its authorizing legislation differs from that of other types of tribunals. Its legislation 

authorizes it to be a party to hearings before the board of inquiry and it has an interest in the outcome of the judicial review 
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application. The Commission’s position was accordingly that it should be permitted to make its own representations 

respecting any issue, including the procedural fairness issue, and that the policy enunciated by the Supreme Court of Canada 

should not be applied to it in these proceedings. 

 

9      In the short time available to me, I have considered the authorities cited by the applicant and the provisions in the 

human rights legislation and regulations that might have a bearing on this issue. I have concluded that I am bound by the 

policy laid down by the Supreme Court of Canada in the Northwestern Utilities case, and that I have no discretion as to 

whether or not it should be applied to the Commission in this application. 

 

10      The policy has been adopted and followed on numerous occasions, including at least two occasions in this court in 

Kennibar Resources Ltd. v. Saskatchewan (Minister of Energy & Mines) (1990), 88 Sask. R. 35 (Q.B.), affirmed at (1991), 92 

Sask. R. 278 (C.A.) and Risdale Transport v. Saskatchewan (Highway Traffic Board) (1983), 25 M.V.R. 184 (Sask. Q.B.), at 

p. 188. The policy has also been applied to the Canadian Human Rights Commission by the Federal Court of Appeal in 

Cashin v. Canadian Broadcasting Corp. (1984), 8 Admin. L.R. 161. 

 

11      One case involving the Ontario Human Rights Commission, F.W.T.A.O. v. Ontario (Human Rights Commission) 

(1988), 10 C.H.R.R. D/5877 (Ont. Div. Ct.), did not follow the policy laid down in the Northwestern Utilities case. The 

rationale for not doing so was that the Ontario Human Rights Commission was a different authority than the Public Utilities 

Board of Alberta. The judge however did not refer to the Cashin case that involved the Canadian Human Rights Commission, 

nor did he deal with the issue in any depth. His conclusion that the reviewing court could not fully appreciate the nature of 

the issues unless the Commission itself explained its behaviour, seems with respect, completely at odds with the very reason 

the policy exits. 

 

12      The Saskatchewan legislation authorizes the Commission to appear as a party before the board of inquiry and to be a 

party to any appeal from a decision of that board. But this is not inconsistent in any way with the rationale behind the policy 

respecting the role of a tribunal under review as enunciated in the Northwestern Utilities case. In matters before the board of 

inquiry, or on an appeal from its decision, the conduct of the Commission is not in issue. Rather it is the conduct of the board 

or its decision that is in issue. 

 

13      The Commission conceded that it would be inappropriate for the board of inquiry itself to appear on an appeal from its 

decision, or to make representations respecting its conduct that was the subject- matter of a judicial review application on the 

ground of procedural fairness. I accordingly fail to see the logic of why the Commission is in a different position when its 

conduct is the subject-matter of an appeal or judicial review application on the ground of procedural fairness. Surely the 

perception of impartiality by the public and the reviewing authority is as important respecting the Commission as it is for any 

other tribunal. The policy enunciated by the Supreme Court of Canada is designed to foster and maintain that perception of 

impartiality. 

 

14      The scope of the common law rules of natural justice including procedural fairness is influenced by the type of 

function performed by the tribunal and as well by the stage of the proceedings at which that function is performed. 

Accordingly there may be room for some flexibility in the application of the policy in a case like the one before me. But the 

rationale for the policy enunciated by the Supreme Court of Canada in the Northwestern Utilities case at pp. 709-711, 

circumscribes the permitted role of an administrative tribunal and applies equally and logically to the tribunal before me: 

It has been the policy in this Court to limit the role of an administrative tribunal whose decision is at issue before the 

Court, even where the right to appear is given by statute, to an explanatory role with reference to the record before the 

Board and to the making of representations relating to jurisdiction. (Vide The Labour Relations Board of the Province of 

New Brunswick v. Eastern Bakeries Limited et al. [[1961] S.C.R. 72]; The Labour Relations Board of Saskatchewan v. 

Dominion Fire Brick and Clay Products Limited et al. [[1947] S.C.R. 336].). Where the right to appear and present 

arguments is granted, an administrative tribunal would be well advised to adhere to the principles enunciated by 

Aylesworth J.A. in International Association of Machinists v. Genaire Ltd. and Ontario Labour Relations Board 

[(1958), 18 D.L.R. (2d) 588], at pp. 589, 590: 

Clearly upon an appeal from the Board, counsel may appear on behalf of the Board and may present argument to 

the appellate tribunal. We think in all propriety, however, such argument should be addressed not to the merits of 

the case as between the parties appearing before the Board, but rather to the jurisdiction or lack of jurisdiction of 
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the Board. If argument by counsel for the Board is directed to such matters as we have indicated, the impartiality of 

the Board will be the better emphasized and its dignity and authority the better preserved, while at the same time 

the appellate tribunal will have the advantage of any submissions as to jurisdiction which counsel for the Board 

may see fit to advance. 

Where the parent or authorizing statute is silent as to the role or status of the tribunal in appeal or review proceedings, 

this Court has confined the tribunal strictly to the issue of its jurisdiction to make the order in question. (Vide Central 

Broadcasting Company Ltd. v. Canada Labour Relations Board and International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, 

Local Union No. 529 [[1977] 2 S.C.R. 112].) 

In the sense the term has been employed by me here, “jurisdiction” does not include the transgression of the authority of 

a tribunal by its failure to adhere to the rules of natural justice. In such an issue, when it is joined by a party to 

proceedings before that tribunal in a review process, it is the tribunal which finds itself under examination. To allow an 

administrative board the opportunity to justify its action and indeed to vindicate itself would produce a spectacle not 

ordinarily contemplated in our judicial traditions. In Canada Labour Relations Board v. Transair Ltd. et al. [[1977] 1 

S.C.R. 722], Spence J. speaking on this point, stated at pp. 746-7: 

... The issue of whether or not a board has acted in accordance with the principles of natural justice is surely not a 

matter upon which the Board, whose exercise of its functions is under attack, should debate, in appeal, as a 

protagonist and that issue should be fought out before the appellate or reviewing Court by the parties and not by the 

tribunal whose actions are under review. 

 

15      I conclude that the role of the respondent Commission in the hearing respecting the judicial review of its conduct, is 

limited to making representations relating to the issue of its jurisdiction. 

 

16      In advance of my ruling on this matter, the respondent Commission requested a short adjournment in the event that I 

decided against it. I am prepared to grant an adjournment for a reasonable period of time to enable the Commission to 

consider its position respecting an appeal and to provide the solicitor for the complainants time within which to appear and to 

make representations respecting the procedural fairness issue. 

 

Order accordingly. 
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M.M.J. Shore J.: 

 

1      The Court fully agrees with the position of the Applicant. The Applicant is a native of Kahnawake, resides on the 

Kahnawake Reserve and is a full-fledged member of the Kahnawake Community. 

 

2      The Applicant was first elected as a Chief of the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake (”MCK”) in July 2000 for a term of 

two (2) years and after was re-elected in July 2002, July 2004 and July 2006 for a term of three (3) years, ending in July 

2009. 

 

3      On February 2006, the “MCK” had passed a motion of non-confidence which was contested before this Court by the 

filing of an Application for judicial review (File T-595-06) which has been settled out-of-court after the re-election of the 

Applicant in July 2006. 
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4      While the Applicant was in his mandate as a duly elected Chief, the “MCK” had again passed a motion of 

non-confidence on October 29, 2007 which was contested by the filing of an Application for judicial review as it appears in 

the present file (T-834-08). 

 

5      The 2009 MCK Elections have been called for July 4, 2009. 

 

6      On May 6, 2009, the mis en cause, Lindsay LeBorgne, acting as the Electoral Officer appointed in accordance with the 

MCK Election Law (Exhibit P-32), announced the following dates for the various activities related to the 2009 Election, as: 

1. Saturday, May 30: Nomination Day   

2. Monday, June 22: Candidates Night   

3. Saturday, June 27: Special Advance Poll (This Special Advance Poll vote was to have 

been set aside by agreement of the parties and 

will have to be redone in accordance with this 

interim and interlocutory injunction.) 

4. Saturday, July 4: Election Day   

 

As appears from a copy of the “News Release”, served and filed as Exhibit P-33. 

 

7      In accordance and in respect of the “MCK” Election Law (Exhibit P-32), the Applicant filed a Declaration of Eligibility 

on May 30, 2009 with the appropriate forms attached as Schedules “B”, “C” and “D” for nomination for Council Grand 

Chief, as it appears from copies of those documents served and filed as Exhibit P-34. 

 

8      Also, on May 30, 2009, a “News Release” issued by the mis en cause, The Electoral Officer announced, notably, the 

Applicant’s nomination for the position of Grand Chief with two others nominees as it appears from a copy of the said 

Release served and filed as Exhibit P-35. 

 

9      However, in a letter dated June 5, 2009 and received by the Applicant on June 8, 2009, signed by the mis en cause, the 

Electoral Officer (Lindsay LeBorgne) and by the Assitant Electoral Officer (Arlene Jacobs), the Applicant was informed that 

his nomination for Grand Chief in the 2009 Election had been refused for the following reasons: 

A) You did not end your previous term of office in good standing this being an essential eligibility requirement under 

section 15.1(g) of the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake Election Law. This information has been confirmed by MCED 

#39/2007-2008 and by the written judgment of the Court of Kahnawake issued on the 1st of Ohiari:ha/June 2009, both 

documents are attached herewith. 

As it appears from a copy of the letter and the attached documents served and filed as Exhibit P-36. 

 

10      As it appears from a document printed from the “MCK” website, served and filed as Exhibit P-37, the only official 

nominees for the position of Grand Chief are Mrs. Mike Delisle Jr. and Mr. Warren Lahache. 

 

11      As it appears from the previous “Notice of Application” and the ”Amended Notice of Application” filed in the present 

file (T-834-08), the Applicant had contested vigorously as ultra vires, illegal, null and void the MCK motion of 

non-confidence and the decision of the Court of Kahnawake, which constituted the motives for the refusal of the Applicant’s 

nomination for Grand Chief in the 2009 Election (See Exhibit P-36). 

 

12      It is obvious that the present file (T-834-08), as it appears from the schedule established by an Order rendered by 

Prothonotary Tabib (April 28, 2009), will not be heard and decided in time by this Court for the 2009 Election fixed for next 

July 4, 2009. 

 

13      It is also obvious, that an appeal before the Court of Kahnawake, will not be heard and decided in time for the 2009 

Election but, particularly, will be moot since the Court has already decided without hearing that the Applicant “did not leave 

his office in good standing as per Section 8.8 of the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake Disciplinary Measures Regulations” 

(See Exhibit P-36), establishing consequently the ineligibility of the Applicant as a nominee for the 2009 Election. 

 

14      In accordance with the jurisprudential tripartite test applicable in the matter, the Applicant has serious issues to be 
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tried, that he will suffer irreparable harm if relief is not granted, and the Court agrees that the balance of convenience does 

favour him. 

 

Serious Issues to Be Tried 

 

15      As it appears from the voluminous Notices of Application filed in the present file, the Applicant has serious issues to 

be tried and to be decided by this Court, as a prima facie analysis demonstrates. 

 

16      The grounds for the judicial Review of the motion of non-confidence of the “MCK” and the proceedings before the 

Court of Kahnawake are as follows: 

16.1. Regarding the non-confidence vote and the removal of the Applicant from his office as an elected Chief of 

Mohawk Council of Kahnawake, acting as a Federal Board, the Respondent, the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake, is 

subject to judicial review by this Court to examine whether the Court of Kahnawake: 

16.1.1 Had no jurisdiction to adopt the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake Disciplinary Measures Regulations 

(Exhibit P-9) and, SUBSIDIARILY, those regulations could not be applied as disciplinary measures against an 

elected Chief; 

16.1.2 Had no jurisdiction and acted ultra vires by removing the Applicant from his office as an elected Chief 

member of the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake while his term was not completed; 

16.1.3 Had no jurisdiction to remove the Applicant from his office as an elected chief in a situation other than those 

provided for by Section 78(2) of the Indian Act; 

16.1.4 Had no jurisdiction to give to the Respondents, the Justices of the Peace or the “Court of Kahnawake”, 

jurisdiction of an Appeal or a review of a vote of non-confidence adopted against a democratically elected chief 

such as the Applicant; 

16.1.5 Had no jurisdiction and acted ultra vires by removing the Applicant from his office of elected Chief in 

contravention. 

IN ADDITION, THE APPLICANT WILL PRESENT IN JUDICIAL REVIEW A REQUEST TO EXAMINE 

WHETHER: 

16.1.6 The process followed by the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake that led to the vote of non-confidence and the 

removal of the Applicant from his office of elected Chief was clearly in violation of its duty to act fairly, the right 

owed by the Applicant for a procedure fairness, his right to have a sufficient and compute notice prior to the vote, 

his right to Counsel, his right to a fair process of investigation and the respect of the natural principles; 

16.1.7 The Mohawk Council of Kahnawake has based its vote of non-confidence arbitrarily, on erroneous findings 

of facts, perceptions and subjective impressions which were made in a perverse and capricious manner, without 

consideration for the exact and objective facts it possessed and without respect for the principles of natural justice 

and procedural fairness that was required by the law; 

16.1.8 The vote of non-confidence was unreasonable in the light of the facts established by Mrs. Cree’s Report to 

the effect that the Applicant had acted in good faith, within his functions and responsibilities of his Portfolio, using 

an appropriate procedure and without causing any prejudice to anyone; 

16.1.9 The vote of non-confidence passed by the Mohawk Council is the direct result of political strategies, conflict 

of interests, based on misrepresentations and is the continuation of the constant harassing and “political saga” 

against the Applicant which began with the first non-confidence motion which was contested before this 

Honourable Court in the file T-595-06; 
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16.1.10 The conduct and the decision of the Mohawk Council in adopting such non-confidence votes clearly shows 

its refusal to respect the democratic choice of the members of the Community in electing the Applicant as a Chief 

on numerous occasions; 

16.2. With respect to the jurisdiction and the “decisions” of the Respondents the Court of Kahnawake and the Justices of 

the Peace, the Applicant will, further, add in judicial review, a request for an examination as to whether: 

16.2.1 The Court and the Justices of the Peace had no jurisdiction, acted ultra vires and/or exceeded their 

jurisdiction by becoming involved in the matter relating to the Applicant in his quality of elected Chief, member of 

the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake; 

16.2.2 The Court and the Justices of the Peace acted ultra vires and have usurped the powers of this Court by 

hearing several motions and rendering decisions “in appeal” and/or “in revision” of decisions of the Mohawk Band 

Council to the effect of removing the Applicant of his functions as an elected Chief member of the Mohawk 

Council of Kahnawake; 

16.2.3 The Court and the Justices of the Peace have no jurisdiction, have acted ultra vires and have exceeded their 

jurisdiction in acting as the Justices of the Peace, sitting on a “bench of three” as a Court in an appeal revising a 

disciplinary measure imposed to the Applicant as an elected Chief, member of the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake; 

16.2.4 The Court and the Justices of the Peace have acted illegally and have disregarded the Applicant’s rights to 

the most elementary rules of natural justice by refusing to hear the Applicant, by refusing to treat him with 

impartiality, by refusing to recuse themselves on the basis of reasonable apprehensions of bias having been alleged 

and established, by illegally rendering a decision jeopardising the Applicant right to a public hearing, before an 

impartial and independent Tribunal under the standard rules of evidence in such a matter; 

16.2.5 The Court and the Justices of the Peace have acted ultra vires and exceeded their jurisdiction by refusing to 

recognize the Applicant’s right to be heard and to submit his very serious questions of law related to their lack of 

jurisdiction “rationae materiae” and by deciding “proprio motu” that they had jurisdiction alleging a declaratory 

decision rendered by a Justice of the Peace (Exhibit P-25) which was irrelevant and had no bearing whatsoever 

with the matter involved in the present; 

16.2.6 The Court and the Justices of the Peace have acted ultra vires, have committed a “déni de justice” and have 

exceeded their jurisdiction by publishing a Press Release (Exhibit P-27) to the effect that they have rendered a 

decision “dismissing the Applicant’s Appeal and upholding the decision of the Mohawk Court of Kahnawake to 

remove Chief Myiow” despite the fact no appeal had been heard on the merits, that the hearing held on March 19th 

2009, had been suspended as so understood by all parties and their respective Councils and that, the Court and 

Justices of the Peace had been notified that their decision ruling they had jurisdiction would be challenged before 

this Court and, finally, that the Applicant could not proceed since his principal witness Mr. Louis Delisle, from 

whom the original complaint originated, was absent and since he was scheduled to be their first witness. (On the 

merits, all the previous proceedings of both parties in regard to the decision of the Court of Kahnawake to remove 

Chief Myiow will be subject to examination). 

 

17      According to the above cited grounds for the Judicial Review, the Applicant will present evidence to examine whether: 

TO DECLARE, that the Respondent, the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake, has acted ultra vires and without 

jurisdiction in enacting the Disciplinary Measures Regulations (Exhibit P-9), OR SUBSIDIARILY TO DECLARE 

the Regulations could not be applied to the Applicant an elected Chief; 

TO DECLARE, that the Respondent, the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake, has acted ultra vires and without 

jurisdiction by giving the “Court of Kahnawake” and The Justices of the Peace jurisdiction to decide on an appeal and/or 

revision of a decision taken by the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake; 
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TO DECLARE, that the Respondent, the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake, has acted ultra vires and without 

jurisdiction in adopting a motion of non-confidence against the Applicant having directly the consequence that he was 

removed from his office and duties as an elected Chief for the rest of his term all in contravention of the democratic 

principles established by the Canadian Bill of Rights, the Charter of Rights and the unwritten constitutional principles; 

TO DECLARE, that the Respondent, the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake, has acted ultra vires and without 

jurisdiction in adopting and acting under other situations than those established by the Indian Act (Section 78(2)) to 

exclude the Applicant of his office, duties and activities as a Chief, member of the Kahnawake Band Council, duly 

elected by the members of Kahnawake Community; 

TO DECLARE, that the Respondents, Josephine Curotte, Sam Kirby and Stephanie Cross, as Justices of the Peace, 

have no jurisdiction and no competence according to the Indian Act, the Criminal Code, the Courts of Justice Act, the 

Code of Penal Procedure and any other laws applicable to the present instance, on a matter such as the removal of an 

elected Chief such as the Applicant; 

TO DECLARE, that the Respondents, Josephine Curotte, Sam Kirby and Stephanie Cross, as Justices of the Peace 

directly paid by their employer the Mohawk of Kahnawake, did not present guarantees of impartiality needed from a 

tribunal; 

ALSO, THE APPLICANT WILL REQUEST ON JUDICIAL REVIEW AN EXAMINATION AS TO 

WHETHER: 

TO DECLARE, that the Respondents, Josephine Curotte, Sam Kirby and Stephanie Cross have acted ultra vires and 

exceeded their jurisdiction in their decision dates on May the 2nd 2008 (Exhibit P-21) establishing that the hearing shall 

be “in camera” and denying the motion for the Recusal of the Justices of the Peace “Josie” (sic) Curotte and Sam Kirby; 

TO DECLARE, that the Respondents, Josephine Curotte, Sam Kirby and Stephanie Cross have acted ultra vires and 

exceeded their jurisdiction in their verbal decision dated on March 19th 2009, and have violated the principles of natural 

justice, especially that of audi alteram partem rule, in refusing to hear the very serious jurisdictional arguments of the 

Applicant, and TO DECLARE void and null that decision; 

TO DECLARE, that the Respondents, Josephine Curotte, Sam Kirby and Stephanie Cross have acted ultra vires and 

exceeded their jurisdiction, and violated the principles of natural justice in their “decision” dated May 2nd (Exhibit 

P-21) and TO DECLARE void and null that decision; 

TO ISSUE, DETERMINE AND GRANT any declatory relief and order for relief in the nature of the Applicant 

against his illegal and unlawful removal from his elected office of Chief of the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake; 

TO DECLARE that the non-confidence Vote (Exhibit P-1) was illegal, ultra vires and abusive, made in bad faith and 

against the principles of natural justice, the procedural fairness and that the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake has acted in 

an arbitrary and discrimination manner in violation of the Applicant’s fundamental rights; 

TO DECLARE unlawful, invalid, null and void and QUASH the non-confidence Vote held on October 2007 and the 

removal of the Applicant as an elected Chief of the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake; 

TO DECLARE that the Respondent, the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake, had no jurisdiction to adopt the Disciplinary 

Measures Regulations (Exhibit P-9) OR SUBSIDIARILY TO DECLARE that the Regulations could not be applied 

to the Applicant as an elected Chief; 

TO DECLARE that the Applicant, Keith Myiow, is still Chief and member of the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake for 

the rest of his term. 

 

18      For all these reasons, the Applicant has demonstrated a prima facie case and the existence of serious issues to be tried 

by this Court. 
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Irreparable Harm 

 

19      The Applicant’s nominee position for Grand Chief is a prestigious honor within the tribe and significant in the 

Community as certain members of the Community have asked him to be such a nominee. 

 

20      The Applicant, in accordance to the MCK Election Act, has filed a Declaration of Eligibility (Exhibit P-32) which 

respects all the prescriptions of the law. 

 

21      The Applicant has submitted his candidature democratically in the universal suffrage of the members of the 

Kahnawake Community, and has let them choose whether he is to be Grand Chief. 

 

22      In respect of the 2009 Election which is scheduled for July 4, 2009, the Applicant has demonstrated an imminent 

irreparable harm. In reality, it is obvious that non-participation of the Applicant to the 2009 Election cannot be quantified in 

monetary terms and cannot be remedied in any other manner. 

 

23      Taking into account that the candidacy to the function of Grand Chief is directly relevant to the Applicant’s personal 

rights, he will be the only one to suffer an irreparable harm if he could not be a nominee in the 2009 Election. 

 

The Balance of Convenience 

 

24      On this issue, the balance of convenience favours the Applicant while the irreparable harm that would be caused to the 

Applicant if the injunction order is not now granted (3 days prior to the election) and should subsequently be considered on 

the merits, outweighs the harm likely to be caused to the Respondents and any other interested person. 

 

25      The Applicant and the voters, members of his Community, will obviously suffer irreparable harm if an injunction order 

is not granted. 

 

26      Consequently, the balance of convenience favours the Applicant and the voters. 

 

27      This Motion is well founded in fact and in law. 

 

Order 

     THIS COURT ORDERS THAT: 

1. AN INTERIM INJUNCTION be granted for the purpose of the forthcoming election on July 4, 2009 ordering to the 

mis en cause, the Electoral(s) Officer(s) of the 2009 Election of the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake and the Mohawk 

Council of Kahnawake: 

TO ACCEPT the nomination of the Applicant, Mr. Keith Myiow for Grand Chief in the 2009 Election scheduled 

for July 4, 2009; 

TO DECLARE the Applicant, Mr. Keith Myiow, eligible for the nomination of Grand Chief in the 2009 Election 

scheduled for July 4, 2009 with all the rights and privileges attached to a nominee by virtue of the Mohawk 

Election Law; 

TO PLACE the name of the Applicant, Mr. Keith Myiow, on the ballot for the Election Day, scheduled for July 4, 

2009, to run for Grand Chief in the Election; 

TO PUBLICIZE widely and in any manner, the Order of this Court granting this interim injunction; 
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2. FURTHERMORE, the interlocutory injunction of this Court orders the mis en cause, the Electoral(s) Officer(s) of the 

2009 Election of the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake and the Mohawk Council of Kahnawake: 

TO ACCEPT the nomination of the Applicant, Mr. Keith Myiow for Grand Chief for the 2009 Election scheduled 

for July 4, 2009; 

TO DECLARE the Applicant, Mr. Keith Myiow, eligible for the nomination of Grand Chief in the 2009 Election, 

scheduled for July 4, 2009 with all the rights and privileges attached to a nominee by virtue of the Mohawk 

Election Law; 

TO PLACE the name of the Applicant, Mr. Keith Myiow, on the ballot papers for the Election Day, scheduled on 

July 4, 2009, to run for Grand Chief in the Election; 

TO PUBLICIZE widely and in any manner, the Order of this Court granting this interlocutory injunction; 

     THE COSTS are in the cause. 

     (All, in this matter, is subject to an eventual proceeding on the merits as soon as is practicable for the parties and the 

Court.) 

  

End of Document Copyright © Thomson Reuters Canada Limited or its licensors (excluding individual court documents). All rights reserved. 
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SCHEDULE 1

(Subsections 2(1) and 45(1), (3) and (4))

Names of First Nations that Have Signed Framework Agree-
ment
Province First Nation

Ontario Alderville
Algonquins of Pikwakanagan
Animbiigoo Zaagi’igan Anishinaabek
Beausoleil
Big Grassy First Nation
Big Island (also known as Anishnaabeg of Naongashiing)
Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek
Brunswick House
Chapleau Cree First Nation
Chippewas of Georgina Island
Chippewas of Kettle and Stony Point
Chippewas of Rama (also known as Chippewas of Mnjikaning)
Chippewas of the Thames First Nation
Dokis
Fort William
Garden River
Henvey Inlet
Hiawatha First Nation
Long Lake No. 58 First Nation
Magnetawan
Mattagami First Nation
M’Chigeeng First Nation
Mississauga
Moose Deer Point
Nipissing Band of Ojibways (also known as Nipissing)
Rainy River First Nations
Saugeen First Nation
Scugog (also known as Mississaugas of Scugog Island)
Serpent River
Shawanaga
Sheshegwaning First Nation
Temagami First Nation
Wasauksing First Nation
Wiikwemkoong Unceded Territory
Whitefish Lake

Quebec Innue Essipit
Listuguj Mi’gmaq Government
Montagnais du Lac St-Jean
Odanak
Première Nation des Abénakis de Wôlinak

Nova Scotia Membertou
Paq’tnkek Mi’kmaw Nation

New Brunswick Kingsclear
Madawaska Maliseet First Nation
Saint Mary’s
Woodstock First Nation

Manitoba Brokenhead Ojibway
Buffalo Point
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Province First Nation
Chemawawin
Fisher River
Fort Alexander
Long Plain
Misipawistik Cree Nation
Nisichawayasihk Cree Nation
Norway House Cree Nation
Swan Lake
The Pas (also known as Opaskwayak Cree)

British Columbia ?Akisq’nuk First Nation
Aitchelitz
Anderson Lake (also known as N’Quatqua)
Beecher Bay
Burrard
Campbell River
Chawathil
Cheam
Cowichan Tribes
Ditidaht First Nation
Fort George (also known as Lheit-Lit’en and Lheidli T’enneh)
Fort Nelson First Nation
Haisla
Homalco
Iskut Band
Katzie
Kitselas
Kitsumkalum
K’ómoks First Nation
Kwantlen
Kwaw-kwaw-Apilt First Nation
Lake Cowichan First Nation
Leq’á:mel (also known as Leqamel)
Lower Nicola
Lytton First Nation
Malahat First Nation
Matsqui
McLeod Lake
Metlakatla
Mount Currie
Musqueam
Nak’azdli
Namgis First Nation
Nanoose
Neskonlith
Okanagan
Osoyoos
Pavilion
Penelakut Tribe
Penticton
Scowlitz
Seabird Island
Shuswap
Shxwhá:y Village (also known as Sqay Village)
Shxw’ow’hamel
Skawahlook
Skeetchestn
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Province First Nation
Skowkale
Songhees
Soowahlie
Splatsin Indian Band
Squamish
Squiala
St. Mary’s
Sts’ailes
Stz’uminus
Sumas
Tahltan
T’it’q’et First Nation
Tsartlip First Nation
Tsawout
T’Sou-ke (also known as Tsouke)
Tzeachten
We Wai Kai (also known as Cape Mudge)
Williams Lake
Yakweakwioose

Prince Edward Island

Saskatchewan Carry The Kettle
Cowessess
English River First Nation
Flying Dust
George Gordon
James Smith Cree Nation
John Smith (also known as Muskoday)
Kahkewistahaw
Kinistin
Lac La Ronge Indian Band
Mistawasis
Muskeg Lake
One Arrow
Pasqua
Sakimay First Nations
Wahpeton Dakota Nation
Whitecap No. 94
Yellow Quill

Alberta Alexis Nakota Sioux
Enoch Cree Nation
Fort McKay First Nation
Fort McMurray #468 First Nation
Loon River First Nation
Siksika Nation
Tsuu T’ina

Newfoundland and Labrador Miawpukek

Yukon

Northwest Territories K’at’l’Odeeche First Nation

Nunavut
1999, c. 24, Sch.; SOR/2003-178; SOR/2006-216; 2008, c. 32, s. 27; SOR/2008-51, 267; 2012, c. 19, ss. 637 to 651; SOR/2012-217, 291; 2014, c. 11, s. 25; SOR/2014-89, 268; SOR/2016-27,
67; SOR/2017-46; 2018, c. 27, s. 383.
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SCHEDULE 2

(Subsections 45(2), (3) and (4))

Names of First Nations and Coming-into-force Dates of Land
Codes
Province First Nation Land Code Coming-into-force Date

Ontario Big Island (also known as Anishnaabeg of Naongashiing) August 1, 2011
Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek April 1, 2015
Chippewas of Georgina Island January 1, 2000
Chippewas of Rama (also known as Chippewas of Mnjikaning) May 1, 2018
Dokis April 1, 2014
Henvey Inlet January 1, 2010
Long Lake No. 58 First Nation April 1, 2017
Magnetawan September 1, 2015
Mississauga August 1, 2009
Nipissing Band of Ojibways (also known as Nipissing) July 1, 2003
Scugog (also known as Mississaugas of Scugog Island) January 1, 2000
Shawanaga July 1, 2015
Temagami First Nation September 1, 2017
Wasauksing First Nation June 1, 2017
Whitefish Lake March 1, 2009

Quebec Première Nation des Abénakis de Wôlinak April 1, 2017

Nova Scotia

New Brunswick Madawaska Maliseet First Nation January 1, 2018

Manitoba Brokenhead Ojibway April 1, 2015
Chemawawin September 6, 2010
Long Plain April 1, 2018
Misipawistik Cree Nation June 1, 2017
Nisichawayasihk Cree Nation October 23, 2017
Swan Lake October 1, 2010
The Pas (also known as Opaskwayak Cree) August 1, 2002

British Colombia Aitchelitz May 1, 2014
Beecher Bay August 1, 2003
Burrard June 6, 2007
Campbell River January 31, 2013
Chawathil November 25, 2016
Cheam September 1, 2016
Fort George (also known as Lheit-Lit’en and Lheidli T’enneh) November 1, 2000
Haisla November 6, 2015
Katzie December 1, 2017
Kitselas November 25, 2005
K’ómoks First Nation November 30, 2016
Kwantlen November 1, 2015
Kwaw-kwaw-Apilt First Nation June 1, 2018
Lake Cowichan First Nation June 9, 2017
Leq’á:mel (also known as Leqamel) February 1, 2010
Lower Nicola December 1, 2016
Malahat First Nation March 31, 2015
Matsqui February 26, 2009
McLeod Lake May 20, 2003
Metlakatla December 1, 2016
Musqueam June 5, 2017
Nak’azdli December 1, 2016
Nanoose March 1, 2015
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Province First Nation Land Code Coming-into-force Date
Pavilion May 1, 2004
Scowlitz September 1, 2016
Seabird Island September 1, 2009
Shuswap February 1, 2015
Shxwhá:y Village (also known as Sqay Village) January 8, 2007
Shxw’ow’hamel March 25, 2015
Skawahlook August 5, 2010
Skowkale May 1, 2014
Songhees October 1, 2011
Soowahlie June 1, 2016
Squiala July 29, 2008
St. Mary’s July 1, 2014
Sts’ailes October 23, 2018
Stz’uminus August 30, 2014
Sumas November 11, 2011
Tsawout May 29, 2007
T’Sou-ke (also known as Tsouke) February 1, 2007
Tzeachten August 21, 2008
We Wai Kai (also known as Cape Mudge) December 7, 2009
Williams Lake July 1, 2014
Yakweakwioose May 1, 2014

Prince Edward Island

Saskatchewan Flying Dust October 6, 2013
John Smith (also known as Muskoday) January 1, 2000
Kahkewistahaw December 22, 2011
Kinistin February 1, 2005
Mistawasis April 1, 2017
Muskeg Lake September 1, 2005
One Arrow September 1, 2014
Whitecap No. 94 January 1, 2004
Yellow Quill March 22, 2017

Alberta

Newfoundland and Labrador Miawpukek December 1, 2017

Yukon

Northwest Territories

Nunavut
2018, c. 27, s. 383.
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Headnote 

 

Aboriginal and indigenous law --- Practice and procedure — Parties — Miscellaneous 

Standing — Election appeal tribunal overturned results of First Nation election with respect to three elected councillors — 

Tribunal found that successful candidates L and D had been ineligible to run for office because they were not in good 

standing as result of costs awarded in prior Federal Court of Appeal decision, and that successful candidate C had been 

ineligible to run for office because he had failed to provide current criminal record check — Tribunal ordered that three 

councillor positions would instead go to next three eligible candidates by vote count — First Nation applied for judicial 

review — Application granted — First Nation had standing to bring application pursuant to s. 18.1(1) of Federal Courts Act, 

as it was directly affected by tribunal’s decision, which imposed legal obligations on it — First Nation was directly affected 

because it was responsible for enforcing tribunal’s decision, and it had direct standing to bring judicial review application  — 

There was no reason why First Nation could not be applicant, as it had capacity to sue and be sued. 

Aboriginal and indigenous law --- Self-government of Indigenous people — Elections — Validity 

Election appeal tribunal overturned results of First Nation election with respect to three elected councillors — Tribunal found 

that successful candidates L and D had been ineligible to run for office because they were not in good standing as result of 

costs awarded in prior Federal Court of Appeal decision, and that successful candidate C had been ineligible to run for office 

because he had failed to provide current criminal record check — Tribunal ordered that three councillor positions would 

instead go to next three eligible candidates by vote count — First Nation applied for judicial review — Application granted 

— Jurisdiction of tribunal was limited to grounds raised in notice — Tribunal’s job was to determine whether appellant had 

proven grounds of appeal set out in notice of appeal, and it could not seize itself of new matters — Impugned candidates had 

to be given sufficient notice to understand basis on which their successful election was being challenged in order to give them 

opportunity to prepare full and informed response — Issue of C’s criminal record check was not raised in notice of appeal, 

tribunal improperly considered it and acted outside its jurisdiction in doing so — Tribunal’s decision was procedurally unfair 

to C — Significant submissions with respect to the Federal Court of Appeal decision were placed before tribunal, including 

legal opinions with respect to purported debt and resulting ineligibility of L and D — Tribunal had to consider all evidence 

put forward that, in its opinion, was reliable and relevant to determining appeal — Legal opinions were important documents 
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before tribunal that warranted comment, even if it was brief explanation as to why they were being disregarded or given little 

weight — If legal submissions were not reliable or relevant then tribunal needed to state so and at least briefly explain why 

that was case, and failure do so rendered decision unreasonable due to lack of transparency, intelligibility and justification — 

Court was not in position to order new election, and appropriate remedy was for tribunal to re-determine issues in accordance 

with reasons. 

APPLICATION by First Nation for judicial review of decision of appeal tribunal overturning results of election of 

councillors. 

 

Alan S. Diner J.: 

 

I. Background 

 

1      This is an application for judicial review pursuant to section 18.1 of the Federal Courts Act, RSC 1985, c F-7 which 

challenges a June 27, 2016 decision [the Decision] of the Cowessess First Nation Election Appeal Tribunal [Tribunal]. 

 

2      For the reasons that follow, the judicial review will be granted. 

 

3      The Decision overturned the results of the April 27, 2016 Cowessess First Nation election [the Election] with respect to 

three elected councillors. 

 

4      Specifically, the Tribunal found that successful candidates Carol Lavallee and Malcolm Delorme had been ineligible to 

run for office because they were not in good standing as a result of the costs awarded in a prior Federal Court of Appeal 

[FCA] decision. It also found that successful candidate Curtis Lerat had been ineligible to run for office as he had failed to 

provide a current criminal record check. 

 

5      As a result of these findings, the Tribunal found that because the grounds of appeal set out in the notice of appeal 

[Notice] had been proven and had affected the outcome of the Election, the three councillor positions would instead go to the 

next three eligible candidates by vote count. The Tribunal ordered Cowessess First Nation No. 73 [Cowessess] to effect these 

changes. 

 

6      Cowessess comes to this Court seeking an Order overturning the Tribunal’s Decision, and confirming the original 

Election results, so that Carol Lavallee, Malcolm Delorme, and Curtis Lerat can sit on Council. Terrence Lavallee is the only 

Respondent who opposes this application. All other named Respondents, including those who stand to become councillors if 

this application is dismissed, have sworn affidavits stating that they either support or do not oppose this application. 

 

7      In terms of legal arguments, Cowessess challenges the Tribunal’s Decision on two grounds, namely that the Tribunal’s 

Decision was flawed in its (a) procedural unfairness to Curtis Lerat, and (b) unreasonable findings with respect to Carol 

Lavallee and Malcolm Delorme. 

 

8      In addition to these two substantive issues which lie at the heart of this dispute, Terrence Lavallee [Mr. Lavallee or the 

Respondent] raised a preliminary procedural argument which, if valid, would put an end to the matter: he argues that 

Cowessess lacks standing, and therefore the First Nation is not in a position to advance this application before the Court. 

 

II. Analysis 

 

9      Both parties agree that the applicable standard of review is reasonableness, except for questions of procedural fairness, 

which are to be assessed on a correctness basis. This is consistent with the case law (Lavallee v. Ferguson, 2016 FCA 11 

(F.C.A.) at para 19; Johnny v. Adams Lake Indian Band, 2017 FC 156 (F.C.)at para 23). 
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III. Analysis 

 

A. Procedural Issue: Standing of the First Nation 

 

10      As the procedural issue that Mr. Lavallee raises — that this application should fail for lack of standing — would be 

determinative of the judicial review if found in his favour, I will address it first. I conclude that Cowessess indeed has proper 

standing to bring this application. 

 

11      Mr. Lavallee submits that, since only a candidate can appeal an election under the Cowessess First Nation #73 Custom 

Election Act [the Act], Cowessess, as a First Nation, does not have standing to bring this application. Mr. Lavallee contends 

there is no mechanism for Cowessess to properly bring this application for judicial review under the relevant legislation, 

relying on Alberta Liquor Store Assn. v. Alberta (Gaming & Liquor Commission), 2006 ABQB 904 (Alta. Q.B.) at para 11 

[Alberta], which cited T.A. Cromwell (as he then was) in Locus Standi: A Commentary on the Law of Standing in Canada 

(Toronto: Carswell, 1986) at 107-108: 

The nature of the regulatory scheme is relevant to standing decisions in at least two ways. First, provisions dealing with 

who is entitled to notice of proceedings and to be heard may be considered an indication that those persons are 

“interested” in the proceedings. Second, where the challenged decision is from a body with standing rules of its own, 

those rules may guide the Court as to who is “interested” in the proceedings. 

 

12      Looking at the regulatory scheme in this case, Mr. Lavallee notes that subsection 11.05(a) of the Act only permits a 

candidate in an election (defined as a duly nominated person seeking election under subsection 2.01(e) of the Act) to appeal 

an election, assuming certain requirements are met. 

 

13      Mr. Lavallee argues that as a result of the restriction contained in section 11.05, neither an elector (defined as a 

registered member of Cowessess under subsection 2.01(n) of the Act), nor Cowessess itself as the First Nation government, 

can bring a judicial review of an election appeal. In other words, the ability to challenge that appeal should not be broader 

than the originating right of appeal contained in section 11.05 of the Act. 

 

14      Mr. Lavallee refers specifically to subsection 11.05(n) of the Act, which states that “upon being notified of the 

decision, the Council shall enforce the decision and put the terms thereof into effect.” Accordingly, in Mr. Lavallee’s view, 

providing standing to Cowessess would disregard this section in its entirety. Mr. Lavallee further asserts that Cowessess has 

neither a direct interest, nor a broader public interest in the proceedings. 

 

15      On the latter point of public interest, Mr. Lavallee argues that it would be odd and offensive for Cowessess to argue 

that some of its members cannot sit as councillors, when a First Nation, as an entity through its Chief and Council, has no 

standing to contest an election on the basis of who should be its elected members. By extension Mr. Lavallee contends that 

Cowessess cannot have standing to challenge the outcome of an appeal of an election when it has not been a party to the 

appeal proceedings. 

 

16      For this reason, according to Mr. Lavallee, Bands respond to First Nations election disputes in the Federal Court; they 

do not bring them as applicants. This would be akin to a federal or provincial government contesting the results of election in 

which members of legislatures are democratically elected to their positions. In this regard, Mr. Lavallee maintains that 

Cowessess only has an indirect (rather than a direct) interest in the Election, which is insufficient to imbue it with standing, 

relying on Sandy Bay Ojibway First Nation v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship & Immigration), 2006 FC 903 (F.C.) [Sandy 

Bay]. 

 

17      Cowessess counters all above arguments, arguing that it has standing due to its direct interest in the matter. Cowessess 

contends that even if it does not fit within a technical reading of reading of the Act, it nonetheless has a direct interest in the 

Election outcome, as described in Alberta at paras 8 and 10-13. 

 

18      To assist in answering this preliminary issue — namely whether a First Nation can indeed have standing to launch an 

application for judicial review to challenge the decision of the Tribunal under the Federal Courts Act — the jurisprudence 
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establishes that there are two bases upon which standing can be established: (i) direct standing, for those “directly affected”, 

and (ii) public interest standing (Forest Ethics Advocacy Assn. v. National Energy Board, 2014 FCA 245 (F.C.A.) [Forest 

Ethics] at paras 29-36; League for Human Rights of B’Nai Brith Canada v. R., 2010 FCA 307 (F.C.A.) [B’Nai Brith] at paras 

57-62). 

 

19      The FCA recently summarized the law in this area: “[t]o have direct standing in a proceeding challenging an 

administrative decision, a party must show that the decision affects its legal rights, imposes legal obligations upon it, or 

prejudicially affects it in some way” (Gitxaala Nation v. R., 2016 FCA 187 (F.C.A.) [Gitxaala] at para 83). 

 

20      Being “directly affected” is specifically outlined in section 18.1(1) of the Federal Courts Act: 

18.1 (1) An application for judicial review may be made by the Attorney General of Canada or by anyone directly 

affected by the matter in respect of which relief is sought. 

[Emphasis added.] 

18.1 (1) Une demande de contrôle judiciaire peut être présentée par le procureur général du Canada ou par quiconque est 

directement touché par l’objet de la demande. 

[Mon soulignement.] 

 

21      Turning back to the jurisprudential interpretation of this provision, in order for a party to be “directly affected” , the 

decision must have impacted the party in one of three ways, by having (i) affected its legal rights, (ii) imposed “legal 

obligations” upon it, or (iii) prejudicially affected it in some way (Gitxaala at para 83; Forest Ethics at para 30; B’Nai Brith 

at para 58). Here, there is no question that the First Nation (Cowessess) is directly affected by the Tribunal’s Decision, which 

imposes legal obligations on it. 

 

22      In this case, subsection 11.05(n) of the Act states that “upon being notified of the decision, the Council shall enforce 

the decision and put the terms thereof into effect.” In other words the Tribunal’s Decision imposes legal obligations on 

Cowessess, even though it neither appealed the Election nor was a named respondent before the Tribunal. Cowessess is 

directly affected precisely because it is responsible for enforcing the Tribunal’s Decision, which thus imposes legal 

obligations on Cowessess. I find that the First Nation therefore has direct standing to bring this judicial review. 

 

23      As to the Respondent’s argument that a First Nation cannot bring an application of this nature (judicial review) before 

the Court to challenge an election matter, a couple of further observations may be instructive as to why I see no reason that 

Cowesses cannot be the Applicant in the present matter. 

 

24      First, I disagree with the Respondent in its argument that there is no precedent for a First Nation to bring an application 

to challenge the composition of its own government, i.e. Chief and Council. 

 

25      In Dene Tha’ First Nation v. Didzena, 2005 FC 1292 (F.C.) [Dene], the First Nation brought an application for a 

permanent injunction to ban the respondent from calling himself Chief. The respondent had won the election as Chief but 

later, during his term, questions arose regarding his conduct, and a Band Council resolution [BCR] purportedly terminated 

him. The respondent took the position that the BCR was not properly passed, and thus that he was never effectively removed 

from office, and instead continued to be Chief. 

 

26      Justice Layden-Stevenson agreed and dismissed the application of the First Nation, deeming the BCR to have been a 

nullity. At no time did Justice Layden-Stevenson question the ability of the First Nation to bring the application against its 

elected Chief. 

 

27      Second, and on a related note, case law has clearly established that First Nations have the capacity to sue and be sued 

(Horseman v. Horse Lake First Nation, 2005 ABCA 15 (Alta. C.A.); Jack Woodward, Native Law, (Toronto: Carswell, 2006) 

(loose-leaf revision 2017-1), ch 1 at para 490). 
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28      More recently, this principle was the subject of Federal Court commentary in Kwicksutaineuk Ah-Kwa-Mish First 

Nation v. Canada (Attorney General), 2012 FC 517 (F.C.) [Kwicksutaineuk]. There, the applicant brought an application for 

judicial review of the Department of Fisheries and Oceans’ decision to issue aquaculture (fish farming) licences to two 

corporate respondents. The First Nation was not a party to the initial decisions being challenged by way of judicial review. 

 

29      The respondents argued, on the standing issue, that the matter should have been brought to the Federal Court through a 

representative proceeding under Rule 114 of the Federal Courts Rules, SOR98/106 [Rules], i.e. brought by a person acting as 

a representative on behalf of one or more other persons, rather than by the First Nation itself. Justice de Montigny disagreed, 

deciding that the First Nation indeed had the ability to initiate and bring the application for judicial review. Justice de 

Montigny wrote at para 88 of Kwicksutaineuk: 

I recognize that in many cases involving claimed Aboriginal rights and the duty to consult, the applicant is an individual 

member of the First Nation or its chief on behalf of the First Nation (see, for example, Haida Nation v British Columbia 

(Minister of Forests), 2004 SCC 73, [2004] 3 SCR 511 [Haida]; Taku River Tlingit First Nation v British Columbia 

(Project Assessment Director), 2004 SCC 74, [2004] 3 SCR 550; Ka’a’Gee Tu First Nation v Canada (Attorney 

General), 2007 FC 763, 315 FTR 178). That does not detract from the fact, however, that Indian Bands are a legal and 

political entity that can themselves be sued and become the subject of a legal pronouncement (see Wewayakum Indian 

Band v Wewayakai Indian Band, [1991] 3 FC 420 (available on CanLII). While it is true that this case related to a right 

of occupancy and use of a reserve and did not involve Aboriginal rights, as submitted by the Respondent Attorney 

General, it does not detract from the fact that the Band itself was the applicant, as opposed to a representative acting on 

its behalf. Similarly, a number of Indian Bands brought an application for judicial review of a decision of the Minister of 

Fisheries and Oceans, on the basis that the Minister had failed to uphold the honour of the Crown and to meet his 

constitutional duty to consult and accommodate; nowhere did the Court object to the standing of these bands because no 

representative was involved (Ahousaht First Nation v Canada (Fisheries and Oceans), 2008 FCA 212, 379 NR 297). 

[Emphasis added.] 

 

30      Similar to the scenario in Kwicksutaineuk, there is no question that the Applicant in this judicial review was not a party 

to the proceedings below: Cowessess was neither named nor appeared in the election appeal before the Tribunal. 

 

31      I will conclude on this first issue of standing by commenting on Sandy Bay, which was cited by the Respondent. I 

disagree that Sandy Bay supports his position that Cowessess has no standing in this matter. In Sandy Bay, the First Nation 

had sought the judicial review of decisions of the Minister regarding the immigration status of a purported band member, a 

Roman Catholic nun from Nigeria. The First Nation’s interest was far removed from the personal immigration matters at 

stake. The Nigerian national had no status under the Indian Act, RSC 1985, c I-5. The Court concluded that while the nun 

was directly affected by the pending deportation order from Canada, the First Nation was only indirectly affected by the 

matter in respect of which relief was sought. 

 

32      Here, in contrast with Sandy Bay, Cowessess has a direct interest in ensuring that its elections are conducted in 

accordance with the Act, and that any decision to remove an elected member from the Band Council is made in a fair and 

proper way. 

 

33      Before leaving the issue of standing, I would be remiss in failing to make it abundantly clear that standing has been 

granted to Cowessess in light of the very particular circumstances of this case, due to the following factors and factual 

backdrop. 

 

34      First, it is clear from the evidence presented that the effects of the Tribunal ruling and the status quo are impacting the 

governance of the First Nation as a whole. In other contexts, one might imagine situations where challenging an election 

outcome appeal, led by the Band and paid with Band funds, would result in a conflict of interest due to personal issues that 

the Chief and/or members of Council may have. 

 

35      The evidence here, however, shows that this is not a situation where personal grievances are being addressed through 

the First Nation funding. Rather, the evidence shows that it is a matter of the Band’s interest as a whole to get the matter 

resolved. 
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36      Second, there was evidence of significant consultation that took place before Cowessess decided to pursue this judicial 

review. That includes the following steps, according to the affidavits of Chief Delorme (Tab 3, Applicant’s Record [AR]), 

Patrick Craig Redwood (Tab 4, AR), Gary Pelletier (Tab 5, AR) and Stanley Delorme (Tab 6, AR): 

• On June 29, 2016, an emergency Chief and Council meeting was held where it was decided that Curtis Lerat, 

Malcolm Delorme and Carol Lavallee would step back while the other members of Council [the Uncontested 

Members] decided how to proceed in view of the Decision. 

• During the following week, the Uncontested Members met with indigenous governance professionals, had a 

community meeting, met with legal counsel and regularly met to discuss the issue. 

• On June 30, 2016, there was a meeting with Stan Delorme, Gary Pelletier and Patrick Redwood where it was 

explained to them that the Tribunal concluded that they should be members of Council. 

• On July 3, 2016, Cowessess held a Band meeting, inviting all members of the First Nation. 

• The Uncontested Members then all met two days later, on July 5, 2016, and made a preliminary decision to 

launch an application for judicial review. 

• The Uncontested Members met again on July 6, 2016, and confirmed their intention. They held a unanimous vote 

on the issue. 

• On the afternoon of July 6, 2016, the Uncontested Members announced their decision to the contested members. 

Stan Delorme was later advised over the phone. 

 

37      Finally, six of the named Respondents, including all three affected negatively by the Decision (Curtis Lerat, Carol 

Lavallee and Malcolm Delorme), either supported or took no position in the judicial review. This provides further evidence 

that this was truly a community decision rather than anything motivated by personal gain. 

 

B. Was the Decision Procedurally Unfair to Mr. Lerat? 

 

38      Cowessess challenges the Tribunal’s Decision on the basis of procedural unfairness to Mr. Lerat. The Tribunal stated 

that it reviewed each candidate’s eligibility documents related to criminal record checks, as provided by the Chief Electoral 

Officer [CEO], who had deemed Mr. Lerat eligible. The Tribunal noted that Mr. Lerat’s criminal record check was dated 

February 2015, which was not “current” as required by the eligibility criteria pursuant to subsection 7.04(d) of the Act. As a 

result, the Tribunal found that Mr. Lerat failed to meet the eligibility requirements for nomination, and thus was ineligible for 

candidacy as a councillor. 

 

39      Cowessess makes two arguments with respect to Mr. Lerat. The first is that the Tribunal only has jurisdiction to 

consider the grounds of appeal stated in Mr. Lavallee’s Notice, which did not raise the issue of Mr. Lerat’s criminal record 

check. 

 

40      Related to this first issue is the second — whether the Tribunal breached its duty of procedural fairness because Mr. 

Lerat did not have the opportunity to properly respond to the criminal record check issue. 

 

41      When the Tribunal gave notice that it would hear the appeal and set down a date for a hearing, Mr. Lerat was not listed 

as one of the designated respondents, was not provided with a copy of the Notice, and was not given the opportunity to 

address the issue of his criminal record check. 

 

42      Cowessess contends that, if provided with a fair opportunity to address the Tribunal’s concerns, first by way of notice, 

and then at the hearing, Mr. Lerat could have presented evidence to the Tribunal which would have affected its Decision. In 

particular, Cowessess claims that Mr. Lerat’s criminal record check was obtained from the RCMP on February 11, 2016, but 
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due to a clerical error the report was erroneously dated February 11, 2015. That error went unnoticed, and could have been 

easily corrected with fair warning. 

 

43      Mr. Lavallee denies the assertion that the Tribunal violated Mr. Lerat’s right to procedural fairness in that he was given 

the opportunity to be heard before the Tribunal, which cured any defect with respect to notice. Furthermore, Mr. Lavallee 

asserts that if Mr. Lerat had concerns about the Notice and its fairness, he should have raised his objections at the hearing; 

issues of procedural fairness must be raised at the earliest opportunity (Kamara v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship & 

Immigration), 2007 FC 448 (F.C.)). 

 

44      Mr. Lavallee further takes issue with Cowessess’ argument that the Tribunal erred in considering the criminal record 

check because it was not a ground of appeal. Mr. Lavallee says it is inaccurate because the Notice states: “candidates that are 

not in good standing [...] have taken votes away from the candidates that are in good standing.” 

 

45      Mr. Lavallee elaborates that while the criminal record check was not specifically named, the wording of the Notice and 

the Act allowed the Tribunal to consider matters beyond those specifically listed in the Notice. Mr. Lavallee points in this 

regard to Meeches v. Assiniboine, 2016 FC 427 (F.C.) [Meeches], aff’d in part 2017 FCA 123 (F.C.A.). Meeches concluded 

that candidate eligibility falls within the concept of “election practices” as contemplated by an election act that Mr. Lavallee 

contends was very similar to Cowessess’ Act. Given these observations, Mr. Lavallee concludes that the criminal record 

check being more than a year old, it was entirely reasonable for the Tribunal to conclude that it was not current. 

 

46      I agree with Cowessess on the issue of procedural fairness for the following reasons. The Tribunal’s jurisdiction, 

pursuant to section 11.05 of the Act, does not extend to grounds outside the appeal notice: 

11.05 (l) upon conclusion of the appeal hearing, the Election Appeal Tribunal shall endeavour to reach a decision on the 

appeal as soon as practical and in its decision shall: 

(i) determine whether the appellant(s) have proven the grounds for appeal set out in the notice of appeal; 

(ii) determine whether the evidence as presented may reasonably have affected the outcome of the Election or 

By-Election appealed from; 

 

47      The appellant has the burden of proving the grounds raised in the Notice. The Tribunal is not thereafter at liberty to 

seize itself of new matters. I do not agree with Mr. Lavallee that Mr. Lerat’s criminal record check was raised by implication 

in the Notice. Grounds raised in originating documents, whether a statement of claim, application for judicial review, or 

appeal thereof, need to be clear and not leave the responding party to have to guess. Without knowing the case, the 

responding party cannot mount a proper defence. The onus is on the moving party to clearly articulate the claim or ground of 

review. 

 

48      The wording of the Act is also clear. It states that the Tribunal’s job is to determine whether the appellant has proven 

the grounds of appeal set out in the notice of appeal. The Act does not say that the respondent has to prove he or she satisfied 

every eligibility criterion. That would, of course, be impractical, beyond running counter to a common sense or efficient 

approach to an appellate process. 

 

49      Here, the Tribunal should not have considered eligibility relating to the criminal record check because it was not raised 

as a ground of appeal. Procedural fairness requires an adequate opportunity to respond to allegations, which was not provided 

in this case. This fairness principle has been upheld in Sparvier v. Cowessess Indian Band No. 73, 1993 CarswellNat 808 

(Fed. T.D.) [Sparvier], a case which should be familiar to some of the parties involved, since that 1993 judicial review also 

involved some of them. In Sparvier at paras 55-57, Justice Rothstein held: 

Respondents’ counsel takes the position that because the procedure of the Appeal Tribunal was in accordance with Band 

custom, the degree of natural justice or procedural fairness owed to the applicant is minimal. To hold otherwise, it was 

said, would render nugatory the procedures followed by all other bands in Canada who elect their officials according to 

their own custom, because the Court would simply be imposing its rules of procedure in place of customary band 
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procedures. 

No authority was cited by counsel for the respondents to the effect that the principles of natural justice or procedural 

fairness are not to be applied in situations where band custom dictates procedures to be followed by band tribunals. 

While I accept the importance of an autonomous process for electing band governments, in my opinion, minimum 

standards of natural justice or procedural fairness must be met. I fully recognize that the political movement of 

Aboriginal People taking more control over their lives should not be quickly interfered with by the courts. However, 

members of bands are individuals who, in my opinion, are entitled to due process and procedural fairness in procedures 

of tribunals that affect them. To the extent that this Court has jurisdiction, the principles of natural justice and procedural 

fairness are to be applied. 

[Emphasis added.] 

 

50      In coming to this conclusion, Justice Rothstein considered leading Supreme Court jurisprudence on the contents of 

procedural fairness, including Lakeside Colony of Hutterian Brethren v. Hofer, [1992] 3 S.C.R. 165 (S.C.C.), Nicholson v. 

Haldimand-Norfolk (Regional Municipality) Commissioners of Police (1978), [1979] 1 S.C.R. 311 (S.C.C.), and Martineau 

v. Matsqui Institution (1979), [1980] 1 S.C.R. 602 (S.C.C.). Justice Rothstein concluded that the basic requirements of 

procedural fairness are applicable to the Election Appeal Tribunal of Cowessess — namely those of notice, an unbiased 

tribunal, and the opportunity to make representations. Specifically on the notice component of procedural fairness, Justice 

Rothstein found as follows at paras 82-83 of Sparvier: 

The Cowessess Indian Reserve Elections Act is silent on the issue of notice, nor do the authorities set out, in terms of 

hours or days, guidelines as to what does or does not constitute adequate notice. What is adequate notice must be 

determined on the circumstances of each case. Clearly, a notice period of less than twelve hours is very short. Such a 

short notice period raises a number of concerns: (a) relevant persons may not be available; (b) there is practically no 

time to investigate the facts relating to the subject matter of the appeal; (c) it is unreasonable to expect the participants to 

adequately organize and prepare their representations. No evidence was led to indicate any compelling reason for the 

Tribunal commencing its proceedings upon such short notice. 

It is true that the applicant had actual notice and attended the Appeal Tribunal proceedings. However, his attendance 

does not detract from the disadvantageous conditions of having to proceed without an adequate opportunity to 

investigate the matter and prepare representations. I think it is reasonable for me to infer that the applicant’s 

participation did not represent genuine consent to the proceedings of the Appeal Tribunal and that he did not waive his 

right to adequate notice. 

 

51      Here, Mr. Lerat did not know the case he had to meet for his criminal record check, and could not properly respond to 

the allegations since there was no mention of the issue in the Notice. 

 

52      Furthermore, in his affidavit, Mr. Lerat attests that the issue of his criminal record check was never addressed at the 

hearing. Rather, he states that he first learned of the clerical mistake when he received the Tribunal’s Decision. Thus, he 

could not have waived his right to notice as he still was not aware of the issue during the hearing. 

 

53      In Sparvier, Justice Rothstein concluded that the mere fact of the applicant’s participation in the hearing did not 

constitute consent to the proceedings, nor waiver of his right to adequate notice. On the present facts, the same reasoning 

applies even more forcefully: even if Mr. Lerat had been notified at the hearing, notice would have been clearly insufficient 

to meet the Tribunal’s duty of fairness. Just as 12-hour notice was inadequate in Sparvier due to an inadequate opportunity to 

prepare, so too was the complete lack of notice in this instance. A fundamental tenet of fairness is that one must know the 

case to be met, and the duty to provide such notice cannot be evaded through vague or unclear notification: the notice must 

be clear on its face. 

 

54      Mr. Lavallee argues that the Notice, in referring to “good standing” and “election practices”, refers to the eligibility of 

all the candidates. 
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55      I disagree: the simple mention of “good standing” in the Notice is not sufficiently clear to refer to a challenge to the 

validity of evidence brought with respect to criminality — which is simply one of the criteria underlying eligibility. For 

instance, “good standing” in the Act refers to repaying a debt owed to Cowessess (subsection 2.01(o)). It cannot reasonably 

be construed as requiring all the candidates listed in the Notice to prove, for a second time (the first being to the Chief 

Electoral Officer at the time of the Election), that they met all eligibility criteria to run in the Election, absent a specific 

challenge. 

 

56      While Mr. Lavallee is correct that in Meeches Justice McDonald found that “election practices” encompassed 

candidate eligibility, Meeches’ context was entirely different: there, the context was the jurisdiction of the Appeal 

Committee, rather than procedural fairness, as in this matter. While a broad interpretation of election practices makes sense in 

Meeches, I do not find that in our situation, the mere mention of election practices would put all the candidates on notice that 

they may be required to provide proof that they meet every single criterion for eligibility under the Act. The issues of 

jurisdiction and of proper notification to parties are distinct. 

 

57      In short, impugned candidates must be given sufficient notice to understand the basis on which their erstwhile 

successful election is being challenged, to provide them with the opportunity to mount a full and informed response. Here, 

that didn’t occur for Mr. Lerat, and, for the reasons explained above, I find his rights to procedural fairness were violated . 

 

C. Was the Decision Unreasonable in Relation to Ms. Lavallee and Mr. Delorme’s Ineligibility on Account of “Debts”? 

 

58      The Tribunal held that Ms. Lavallee and Mr. Delorme were ineligible due to debts that were found to have accrued as a 

result of a FCA cost award against them as part of the unsuccessful party in another case. Specifically, the Tribunal held that 

since the First Nation had funded the legal costs of the FCA litigation, Cowessess had the authority to issue a BCR 

establishing (1) that Carol Lavallee and Malcolm Delorme, as two of the respondents in that FCA litigation, were jointly and 

severally indebted to Cowessess in the amount of $27,010.66 calculated pursuant to column III of the table to Tariff B of the 

Federal Courts Rules; (2) a repayment plan from Ms. Lavallee and Mr. Delorme to Cowessess; and (3) that until that plan 

was complied with, Ms. Lavallee and Mr. Delorme would not be in “good standing.” 

 

59      Cowessess argues that the Tribunal made unreasonable errors in its finding that this award constituted a “debt” owed 

by each of Ms. Lavallee and Mr. Delorme, because: 

a. The Tribunal obtained letters of the two candidates’ “good standing” from Cowessess’ senior accountant and opinion 

letters from their legal counsel confirming that costs awarded had yet to be assessed, and were thus not yet determined 

by the FCA, and anyway only the Court could assess costs - not the winning party or the Applicant (Cowessess). Thus, 

Ms. Lavallee and Mr. Delorme did not owe any outstanding debts to Cowessess. Cowessess claims that these letters 

were errantly overlooked or disregarded, because the unassessed costs had not crystallized as debts; 

b. Cowessess itself was not a party to the FCA decision and the Tribunal overlooked evidence that the Applicant had 

been improperly assigned the cost award by the members of Chief and Council who voted on that BCR. 

 

60      Mr. Lavallee responds that the Tribunal was aware of the evidence in question and adequately addressed it. With 

respect to the accountant’s opinion, Mr. Lavallee notes that the Tribunal addressed it. Furthermore, he argues that the letters 

from legal counsel were only opinions: the Tribunal was free not to address them; there is no obligation on the Tribunal to 

address every piece of evidence and it wrote a comprehensive decision citing the key evidence. As counsel for Mr. Lavallee 

stated during the hearing, referring to the legal opinions: “They’re not evidence. They’re not case law. They’re not even from 

a textbook. They’re not something that should be considered by a Court, nor should they be considered by a tribunal.” 

 

61      I find, however, that these legal opinions were important documents before the Tribunal that merited comment, even if 

that was a brief explanation as to why they were being disregarded or given little weight. Indeed, the Tribunal wrote at the 

outset of its Decision that it “must consider all evidence put forth which in its opinion is reliable and relevant to the 

determination of an Order with respect to this appeal.” 
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62      These opinions formed a central part of Ms. Lavallee’s and Mr. Delorme’s submissions. If they were not reliable or 

relevant, the Tribunal needed to state so, and at a minimum briefly explain why that was the case. Failing to do so rendered 

the Decision unreasonable due to a lack of transparency, intelligibility and justification on this particular issue. 

 

63      In Square v. David, 2012 FC 624 (F.C.) at para 23, Justice Rennie held: 

In addition, the substance of the applicant’s concerns were set forth, in detail, in a February 26, 2003, letter from their 

counsel. Neither this letter, nor the substance of the arguments contained in the letter, are considered in the Minister’s 

decision. The decision fails to consider the relevant factual and legal submissions in issue, and thus violates the principle 

that the reasons must address the key factual legal issues: Cepeda-Gutierrez v Canada (Minister of Citizenship and 

Immigration), [1998] FCJ No 1425. 

[Emphasis added.] 

 

64      I find the same principles apply to this Decision. The submissions were important, amongst other reasons, because 

they addressed the notion of costs and debt within the context of a Court order and in relation to the Act. These were central 

issues to candidate eligibility, forming the basis on which the Tribunal overturned the CEO’s prior finding that the candidates 

were indeed eligible. If those opinions were neither reliable nor relevant, the Tribunal owed an explanation why. From all 

appearances, the letters (contained at Tabs 3K, M, N, 7A and 8A of the Applicant’s Record) merited some comment because 

they addressed the crystallization of Court costs, and whether they were properly considered “debts.” 

 

65      There is jurisprudence which holds that costs can only be deemed to be a debt once quantified by the Court. In 

Condominium Plan No. 7510189 v. Jones, 1997 CarswellAlta 66 (Alta. C.A.), the Alberta Court of Appeal held at para 36: 

[t] he object of taxation is to ensure that an account for the costs of legal services is reasonable. Until that determination 

is made, the amount of the payment to be made by the Appellants is not known with certainty. It cannot therefore be said 

to be a ‘debt’ because a debt is ‘a sum payable in respect of a liquidated money demand, recoverable by action’.” 

[Emphasis added.] 

 

66      Indeed, until the amount of costs has been fixed, there is no ability to make a payment. No party can unilaterally 

determine and set the figure. Rather, the payment of costs is an area over which the Court has full discretionary power 

(Armada Lines Ltd. v. Chaleur Fertilizers Ltd., [1997] 2 S.C.R. 617 (S.C.C.) at para 18). As Justice Mosley of this Court later 

held in Shotclose v. Stoney First Nation, 2011 FC 1051 (F.C.) at para 8: 

The Court may fix costs in a lump sum or leave costs to be assessed: Rules 400 (4) (5); Dimplex North America Ltd. v. 

CFM Corp, 2006 FC 1403aff’d 2007 FCA 278. While the Court has full discretion over the amount of costs to be 

awarded, the relevant factors in the non-exhaustive list delineated in Rule 400(3) must be considered in deciding, not 

only the quantum of costs, but also their allocation and the determination of by whom such costs should be paid: 

Francosteel Can. Inc. v. “African Cape” (The), [2003] 4 F.C. 284, 301 N.R. 313, 2003 FCA 119at para 20. 

 

67      Certainly, any party may propose costs for any proceeding, or both parties may consent to them, and the Court may 

agree to those costs. However, if such a cost quantum is not proposed and agreed to or otherwise ordered by the Court, then 

costs must be taxed considering an accounting of their various components - usually provided in a bill of costs. A full regime 

for the awarding and assessment of costs is set out in Part 11 of the Rules. As succinctly stated by this Court in Bégin c. 

Séguin, 2008 FC 948 (F.C.) at para 3, “only the Court has the power to award costs.” 

 

68      Therefore, turning back to the facts at hand, while costs have been awarded by the FCA, they have not been assessed, 

and that function clearly falls within the domain of the Court, not the parties (Rule 405). 
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D. The Issue of the Band Council Resolution 

 

69      Finally, Mr. Lavallee maintains that in coming to its decision on Ms. Lavallee’s and Mr. Delorme’s eligibility, the 

Tribunal had no jurisdiction to consider the BCR. There is no need for me to address the issue of the BCR’s validity, given 

my conclusion on the evidentiary point above. 

 

IV. Conclusion 

 

70      First, as a procedural matter, Cowessess has standing to bring this application pursuant to subsection 18.1(1) of the 

Federal Courts Act, being directly affected by the proceedings below. 

 

71      Second, it is clear that the jurisdiction of the Tribunal is limited to grounds raised in the Notice, and the appellant has 

the burden of proving those grounds. The Tribunal cannot seize itself of new matters. As the issue of Mr. Lerat’s criminal 

record check was not raised in the Notice, the Tribunal improperly considered it and acted outside its jurisdiction in doing so. 

 

72      Third, significant submissions with respect to the FCA decision were placed before the Tribunal — namely legal 

opinions with respect to the purported debt and resulting ineligibility of Ms. Lavallee and Mr. Delorme. The Tribunal itself 

set out that it had to consider all evidence put forth, which in its opinion was reliable and relevant to the determination of an 

Order with respect to the appeal. If these legal submissions were not reliable or relevant, the Tribunal needed to state so, and 

explain (even briefly) why that was the case. Failing to do so rendered the Decision unreasonable due to a lack of 

transparency, intelligibility and justification. 

 

73      Accordingly, the judicial review is granted. Although this outcome is not that sought by Mr. Lavallee, I commend his 

counsel, Ms. Troup, for her very able oral and written presentations to the Court. 

 

A. Remedy 

 

74      Cowessess requests that this Court 

a) quash the aspects of the Decision which concluded that Carol Lavallee, Malcolm Delorme, and Curtis Lerat were 

ineligible to run for the office of Resident Councillor; 

b) set aside the Appeal Tribunal’s direction to remove Carol Lavallee, Malcolm Delorme, and Curtis Lerat from elected 

office and to award Gary Pelletier, Stan Delorme, and Patrick Redwood positions on the Band Council of the First 

Nation; and 

c) reinstate and affirm the results of the April 27, 2016 Election as originally declared by the Chief Electoral Officer. 

 

75      I disagree that these are appropriate remedies in this case. The role of this Court in a typical judicial review is to assess 

the Tribunal’s Decision, and if it erred, point out those errors and have the Tribunal decide anew, rather than to step into the 

Tribunal’s shoes and make the decision for it (even though this Court has the jurisdiction to quash the Decision pursuant to 

section 18 of the Federal Courts Act). 

 

76      Mr. Lavallee, on the other hand, suggests that the appropriate remedy in this matter is for the Court to order a new 

election for the councillor seats. 

 

77      I do not find this to be an appropriate remedy either. The Tribunal has limited powers in the event that it grants an 

appeal. It can only do one of the following: 

11.05 (l) upon conclusion of the appeal hearing, the Election Appeal Tribunal shall endeavour to reach a decision on the 

appeal as soon as practical and in its decision shall: 
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(i) determine whether the appellant(s) have proven the grounds for appeal set out in the notice of appeal; 

(ii) determine whether the evidence as presented may reasonably have affected the outcome of the Election or 

By-Election appealed from; 

(iii) order, in the case the position under appeal is that of Chief’s position, a By-Election where the Election Appeal 

Tribunal is satisfied that the grounds for appeal have been proven and such grounds may reasonably have effected 

[sic] the outcome of the Election or By-Election appealed from, or, uphold the Election or By-Election where the 

grounds of appeal have not been proven or, if proven, could not reasonably have effected [sic] the outcome of the 

Election or By-Election appealed from; or 

(iv) order, in the case the position under appeal is that of a Resident Councillor or Non-Resident Councillor, that 

the individual receiving the next number of highest votes in the Election or By-Election under appeal be awarded 

the Councillor position where the Election Appeal Tribunal is satisfied that the grounds of appeal have been proven 

and such grounds may reasonably have effected [sic] the outcome of the Election or By-Election appealed from, or, 

uphold the Election or By-Election, where the grounds of appeal have not been proven or, if proven, could not 

reasonably have effected [sic] the outcome of the Election or By-Election appealed from; 

[emphasis added.] 

 

78      As the Tribunal itself cannot order a new election in the case of councillors’ positions, this Court cannot do so in its 

place. In Felix v. Sturgeon Lake First Nation, 2011 FC 1139 (F.C.), Justice Bédard stated: 

[56] The Court does not have jurisdiction to set aside the election results and order a new election. Rules 3 and 4 of the 

Rules do not allow the Court to go as far as creating a substantive relief that is not provided for in the Election Act. Rule 

3 is an interpretation rule and Rule 4, often called the “Gap Rule”, is procedural in nature and does not allow the Court 

to invent relief not contemplated in the applicable legislation. The responsibility of deciding whether the election results 

should be set aside and if a new election is warranted rests with the Appeal Tribunal and the Court must not usurp that 

role. 

(See also Felix v Sturgeon Lake First Nation, 2014 FC 911 at paras 120-128). 

 

79      As calling a new election is not relief that is contemplated by the applicable legislation, this Court is not in a position 

to grant it. 

 

80      I will instead ask that the Tribunal redetermine the issues addressed in this judicial review in accordance with these 

Reasons. 

 

81      Costs will be ordered in favour of Cowessess. 

 

JUDGMENT in T-1254-16 

THIS COURT’S JUDGMENT is that this judicial review is granted. The matter is to be reconsidered by the Tribunal in 

accordance with these Reasons. Costs are awarded to Cowessess. 

 

Application granted. 
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